Public Document Pack

Forward Plan Select Committee

Thursday, 26 August 2010 at 7.30 pm
Committee Room 4, Brent Town Hall, Forty Lane,
Wembley, HA9 9HD

Membership:

Members first alternates second alternates
Councillors: Councillors: Councillors:
Allie (Chair) Beck Matthews
Hirani (Vice-Chair) Aden Adeyeye
Mrs Bacchus Oladapo Sheth
Lorber Brown Matthews
Naheerathan Al-Ebadi Beckman
Ogunro Chohan A Choudry
BM Patel HM Patel Steel

Van Kalwala A Choudry Daly

For further information contact: Toby Howes, Senior Democratic Services Officer

toby.howes@brent.gov.uk, 020 8937 1307

For electronic copies of minutes, reports and agendas, and to be alerted when the

minutes of this meeting have been published visit:
www.brent.gov.uk/committees

The press and public are welcome to attend this meeting

(vrecycle

for Brent




Agenda

Introductions, if appropriate.

Apologies for absence and clarification of alternate members

Item

1

Declarations of Personal and Prejudicial interests

Members are invited to declare, at this stage of the meeting, any relevant
financial or other interest in the items on this agenda.

Deputations (if any)

Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 11 August 2010
To follow.

Matters Arising (if any)

Call-in of Executive Decisions from the Meeting of the Executive on
Wednesday, 11 August 2010

Decisions made by the Executive on 11 August 2010 in respect of the
reports below were called-in for consideration by the Forward Plan Select
Committee in accordance with Standing Order 18.

Educational Use of Coniston Gardens

The reason for the call-in is:-

e To explore further the implications of the loss of much needed
capital receipts and housing and the financing of demolition and
clear up of the site.

The Executive report is attached. The Lead Member and Lead Officer are
invited to the meeting to respond to Members’ questions.

Waste Strategy Review

The reasons for the call-in are:-

e To explore further the implications of the bulky waste charge
decision and its financial impact on other services/projects
e To discuss consultation proposals regarding changes to collection

2

Page

5-148



patterns for refuse.

The Executive report is attached. The Lead Member and Lead Officer are
invited to the meeting to respond to Members’ questions.

Introduction of a Vehicle Emission-Based Charging Regime for Residents'
Parking Permits

The reasons for the call-in are:-

e Controlled Parking Zones were originally introduced to protect
residents, not produce revenue for the Council. Call-in should
explore further the possibility of a cost neutral scheme and the
implications for residents of the proposed scheme.

The Executive report is attached. The Lead Member and Lead Officer are
invited to the meeting to respond to Members’ questions.

The Executive List of Decisions for the Meeting that took place on
Wednesday, 11 August 2010

The List of Decisions from the meeting that took place on Wednesday, 11
August 2010 are attached.

Briefing Notes/Information Updates requested by the Select
Committee following consideration of Issue 4 (2010/11) of the Forward
Plan

Annual Complaints Report 2009/10

The Select Committee requested a briefing note to provide details of the
patterns and trends of the complaints made and a profile of the
complainants.

Briefing note to follow.

Lead Member and lead officer have also been invited to the meeting to
respond to Members’ questions.

The Forward Plan - Issue 4
Issue 4 (01.08.2010 to 30.11.2010) is attached for information.

Items considered by the Executive that were not included in the
Forward Plan (if any)

None.

149 - 166

167 - 172

173 - 182



10 Date of Next Meeting

11

To be confirmed.

Any Other Urgent Business

Notice of items to be raised under this heading must be given in writing to

the Democratic Services Manager or his representative before the meeting
in accordance with Standing Order 64.

Please remember to SWITCH OFF your mobile phone during the meeting.

The meeting room is accessible by lift and seats will be provided for
members of the public.

Toilets are available on the second floor.

Catering facilities can be found on the first floor near The Paul Daisley
Hall.

A public telephone is located in the foyer on the ground floor, opposite the
Porters’ Lodge




Agenda ltem 5a

Executive
11 August 2010

Report from the Director of
Children and Families

Ward affected:

Fryent
Former Scouts Hall Site, Coniston Gardens, Kingsbury
NW9
1.0 SUMMARY
1.1 At their meeting of January 2010 the Executive were presented with

1.2

2.0

2.1

2.2

3.0

3.1

two options in respect of the former scouts’ hut site on 2 Coniston
Gardens, NW9 OBB (adjacent to Oliver Goldsmith Primary School): to
dispose of the site to a Housing Association for the provision of two
large family homes or to retain the land within the council’s portfolio
and develop Extended Services from the site. The Executive agreed at
that meeting to dispose of the site to a Housing Association.

This report provides the Executive with an update on that decision and
recommends that the decision be revoked and the site be retained
within the council’s portfolio for educational and community use.

RECOMMENDATIONS
The Executive is recommended to:

Revoke the decision made by the January 2010 Executive meeting to
dispose of the site to a Housing Association and instead to retain the
site within the Council’s portfolio for educational and community use;

Instruct officers to re-engage with Oliver Goldsmith Primary School and
various Council service areas to establish the potential service options
and appropriate funding streams available to support the development
and sustainable use of the site for the local community and/or
educational purposes;

DETAIL

The site is situated at the junction of Coniston Gardens and Kingsbury
Road and is shown on the attached location plan edged red. Itis
adjacent to Oliver Goldsmith Primary School. The site is currently
occupied by a hut that was formerly used by the Scouts Association.

The Association vacated thisPsite in12007. The hut is in a derelict state,
age



3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

beyond repair and presents Health and Safety risks in its current
condition. The remainder of the site is overgrown with brambles,
sycamore trees and weeds.

The Executive’s earlier decision to dispose of the site to a Housing
Association allowed for a proposed scheme comprising 2 five
bedroomed houses that could accommodate up to 9 persons each.
Since that decision in January 2010, the funding and financial regime
supporting social housing and Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) has
tightened with less funding available for schemes. It is therefore
unlikely that a housing scheme on this site will be sustainably funded.
The Housing Association identified for the sale of the site has
withdrawn interest due to the passage of time and changes to the grant
funding regime and property market.

As the original decision to dispose of the site can no longer be
implemented, officers have reviewed the potential future use of the site
with Councillors, Oliver Goldsmith Primary School and the local
Residents Association. A recommendation is now made to this
Executive to revoke the previous decision to dispose of the site and
instead to retain the site within the Council’s portfolio for education and
community use. The use of the site for housing or educational/
community is one for members to determine and either use is
consistent with the Council’s corporate aims. The change in the
housing funding position tilts the balance in favour of retaining the site
for educational and community use.

In the short term, the proposal is to demolish the existing scout hut and
to secure the site. Officers in Property and Asset Management are
currently commissioning this work under the Head of Service’s estate
management responsibilities in order to ensure health and safety risks
are addressed. It is expected that this work will take place during
October. Once the site is cleared the short term proposal is to
incorporate it as part of the Oliver Goldsmith Primary School grounds
and for the school to use it as a wildlife garden or similar until such time
as alternative proposals for education/community use can be agreed.
The school would manage the site at during this period.

In the longer term, the school with officers, the local community and
Councillors will draw up proposals for how the site could be used more
effectively for education and community use. These proposals would
include a review of available capital funding to invest in new facilities as
well as revenue funding for the ongoing and sustainable operation of
services. A further report will be brought to the Executive to approve
these proposals once developed.

Oliver Goldsmith Primary School supports these recommendations and
welcomes the retention of this land for education and community use.
The school is committed to identifying available funds to support any
development and to manage the site at least in the short term. The
local Residents Association also supports both the short and long term
plans.

Page 2



3.7

3.8

3.9

3.10

3.11

4.0

4.1

For information, it is unlikely at this time that the site could be used for
the purposes of statutory education. The school currently has two
forms of entry and there are no plans to expand pupil numbers. The
current pressure for additional school places is not in the Kingsbury
area. It is appropriate and in line with the recommendations in this
report that the site should be used to enhance education and
community use activities. This is in line with the Government’s
Extended Services for schools programme. The needs of children and
young people related to the Extended Services core offer are identified
by the Kingsbury Locality Partnership Board and at the time of the last
report in January 2010, the Board had identified leisure opportunities
for young people and support for parents to raise young people’s
attainment as priorities for the locality.

A feasibility study of the site was carried out in January 2010with the
school to look at the option of providing a new extended services
building and the estimated total cost was £725,000. There are
currently insufficient resources available to make this investment hence
the two staged approach to the proposal.

It is likely that any new building on the school site would have to be
managed by the school. This would require the school having the
significant operational resources required to ensure that the facility was
available before, during and after school, during the evenings, at
weekends and through school holidays. A full business case would be
prepared.

Risks

There are risks associated with the recommendations made in this
report, these will be managed by officers and are outlined below:

e Inability to reach stakeholder agreement on services/activities
that meet local need for the longer term proposal

¢ [nsufficient capital funds to construct a new building on the site

¢ [nsufficient revenue funds to ensure sustainable operation of
any new building

The risks outlined above are partially addressed by the two staged
approach which secures the site and retains it under school site
management and use while viable options for more effective and wide
ranging education/community use are explored.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Terms for the disposal of this site to a Housing Association were
agreed earlier this year in principle which would have resulted in a
capital receipt of around £150,000 plus s106 contributions of
approximately £74,000 together with the creation of two large family
sized units. Should the site be retained by the council the capital
receipt, section 106 contributions and the residential nomination rights
would not then be available from this site.

Page 3



4.2

4.3

5.0

5.1

6.0

6.1

7.0

7.1

8.0

8.1

In respect of funding for any longer term proposal for use of the site for
education/community uses there are currently no identified capital
funding streams available.

The costs of the demolition of the scout hut and the incorporation of the
land into the school site will be met from existing maintenance budgets

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

The Council has the power under Section 123 of the Local Government
Act 1972 to dispose of land in its ownership. However, when it disposes
of a freehold interest, it must do so for the best consideration reasonably
obtainable unless it obtains the consent of the Secretary of State to a
disposal at a lesser value. However, in this case the Head of Property
and Asset Management was satisfied that a disposal to a registered
social landlord for the construction of affordable housing, would have
achieved the best consideration reasonably obtainable, since in current
market conditions, a disposal for open market housing would not
generate a higher receipt. A decision not to proceed with a disposal to a
RSL will obviously mean that the Council will not obtain the anticipated
receipt. It will also forego the affordable housing units which would have
been built on the site and would have been available for tenants
nominated by the Council.

DIVERSITY IMPLICATIONS

None for the immediate purposes of this report.
STAFFING/ACCOMMODATION IMPLICATIONS
None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Location Plan attached at appendix 1.

Contact Officers

Mustafa Salih, Assistant Director, Children and Families, Chesterfield House,
9 Park Lane, Wembley Middlesex HA9 7RW. Tel: 020 8937 3061. Fax: 020
8937 3093, Email: mustafah.salih@brent.gov.uk

Cheryl Painting, Children’s Centre Capital Project Manager, Chesterfield
House, 9 Park Lane, Wembley Middlesex HA9 7RW. Tel: 020 8937 3227.
Fax: 020 8937 3093, Email: cheryl.painting@brent.gov.uk

John Christie
Director of Children and Families

Page 4



Agenda ltem 5b

Executive
11 August 2010

Wards affected:
All

Waste Strategy Review

1.0 Summary

1.1 Central to the policy programme of the new administration is an increased
focus on sustainability and environmental improvement. That programme
includes a number of specific goals relating to waste including increasing the
recycling rate to 60% and restoring the free collection of bulky waste items for
householders.

1.2  This report presents the outcome of a review of the Council's waste strategy
undertaken as part of the Council’s Improvement & Efficiency Programme

which:

. Offers radical improvements in the waste collection and recycling
services provided to all Brent residents

. Will deliver a step change in the recycling rate towards the goal of 60%

. Will deliver long term efficiency savings in excess of £1 million each
year

1.3  The report also proposes the elimination of the charges presently made to
households for bulky waste collection

1.4  Finally, the report proposes a programme of public consultation on the draft
waste strategy and the revised collection and recycling arrangements.

2.0 Recommendations

2.1 That Members note the detailed outcomes from the Waste Strategy Review
as described in this report.

2.2 That Members approve consultation on the preferred scenario for waste
collection as set out in Sections 4.0 — 5.3 of this report.

2.3 That Members approve consultation on the revised Waste Strategy for Brent
as set out in Appendices A and B.

Executive Version 5.1

11.08.10 03.08.10
Page 5



2.4

2.5

2.6

3.0

3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6

4.0

41

That Members note the financial implications of repealing the £25 charge for
bulky household waste collections, as set out in paragraph 6.14.

That Members agree to the introduction of a free bulky waste collection
service and that this should be introduced from 1% October 2010.

That Members instruct the Director of Environment & Culture to develop
proposals for the street cleansing service in discussion with the Council’s
service provider — Veolia ES (UK) Limited, and that these proposals are
reported back to the Executive.

Detail

A central theme of the policy programme of the new administration is around
sustainability and environmental improvement. A key commitment is to the
development of a Green Charter and within that to seek to improve recycling
rates to 60%, and to eliminate charges for special collections of bulky waste
from households.

As part of the Council’s Improvement & Efficiency Programme a review has
been undertaken of the Council’s waste strategy. The Review aimed to
promote reuse and recycling, improve resident satisfaction, reduce the carbon
footprint of the waste collection service, help reduce the amount of waste in
landfill and meet national performance indicators. It was agreed that the best
method for delivering this Review, particularly with respect to waste collection,
was through a revision of the council’s Waste Strategy, consistent with the
waste hierarchy (Reduce, Reuse, Recycle).

In addition to this focus on improvement of the service and its outcomes, the
review sought to identify and implement options for generating efficiency
savings. It was intended the Review should deliver £1.2million savings and
that these should be notionally split as follows;

Street Cleansing - £700K, Waste Collection - £500K

This report presents the Review outcomes for waste collection and disposal.
The options for street cleansing will be set out in a subsequent report.

The proposed changes to the service will help to address the administration’s
green commitment to increasing recycling rates across Brent to 60%.

This report also proposes a timeframe for repealing the £25 charge for bulky
household waste collections.

Waste Collection and Disposal — The Review

Background

The Review’s objectives with respect to waste collection were as follows:

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 6



Develop a revised waste collection strategy to identify service objectives and
new policies to:

o Promote and encourage the production of less waste.

o Increase recycling rate to 40% by 2011, to 45% by 2015 and to 50% by 2020
to ensure future National Indicators for waste are met.

J Reduce reliance on landfill.

. Reduce the carbon footprint of waste collection operations.

. Improve residents’ satisfaction with waste collection services.

o Deliver a more inclusive and accessible range of services.

Generate around £500k annual efficiency savings in waste collection and
disposal, and;

4.2  Current Situation
The Council offers the following waste collection systems at present:

o Residual (i.e. landfilled) waste — wheeled bin system collected weekly from
80,000 households, and bulk bin collections from around 25,000 flats;

. Organics - wheeled bin for food waste, garden waste and cardboard collected
weekly from around 60,000 households.

J Dry Recyclables — weekly kerbside green box system from around 80,000
households, plus bring site collections from some flats.

4.3  Brent has invested heavily in its recycling service in recent years, with the
result that the recycling rate has improved from 6% in 2003 to 22% in
2006/07. Progress since then has been slower and now seems to have stalled
under the existing system at around 28% in 2009/10.

4.4  Brent has a statutory obligation to achieve a 40% recycling rate by 2011. The
current contract was devised to deliver a 30% recycling rate by 2009/10. It is
clear that radical change in the current arrangements will be needed to meet
the Council’s obligations and the administrations ambitions.

4.5 In order to reduce landfill costs further, Brent has made recycling compulsory
for those households served by the green box scheme.

4.6 Despite increased diversion rates and significantly improved customer
satisfaction, the council’s waste collection service is still considered to be high
cost. Reducing collection costs per tonne and ensuring further expansion is
financially sustainable is, consequently, a significant consideration in
developing new service options. It is clear that any one system alone will not
achieve the required savings and achieve the improved recycling rate
required. A mix of options needs to be considered. Fundamental changes to

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 7



the methods currently used to collect waste are required for the new
Administration to meet its goal.

4.7  As well as the recycling target, the objectives need to be aligned to the
requirements of National Waste Strategy 2007, West London Waste
Authority’s Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) and the
Mayor of London’s MWMS.

4.8 Officers researched a full range of options and combinations of options. This
work included engagement with partners and stakeholders and the
commissioning of consultants to undertake a technical appraisal of shortlisted
options, and officers are now able to recommend one preferred option.

5.0 Waste Collection and Disposal Recommendation

5.1  As an outcome from this process, officers recommend the following scenario
as the most advantageous option for implementation in Brent.

In essence, it is a 3-bin collection system for the majority of households.

It generates no saving in 2011/12 but a £766k saving in Year 2 of
implementation and a 53% recycling rate in Year 4.

This saving is based on a comparison with the current method which requires
an additional cost of £255k per annum from year 2 onwards for the
replacement of 10 organic waste vehicles not provided for in the current
contract. The replacement of these vehicles is still required in the proposed
method and therefore will be met from the forecast savings.

It comprises the following:

An expanded service to all low-rise properties, collecting a wider range of
items including mixed plastics and tetrapaks, and the introduction of a
recycling collection service for the first time to some 15,000 high rise
properties.

For low rise properties:

Overall a weekly collection will be maintained, however different streams
would be collected each week.

These would be;

- Residual stream: Alternate weekly collection using existing wheeled bin.” No
side waste’ policy introduced.

- Dry recycling: New bin to collect recyclable materials co-mingled (mixed) on
an alternate weekly schedule — to include cardboard.

- Organic streams: Green bins retained for 60,000 properties. Extension of the
weekly scheme to cover the remaining 28,000 properties. New properties to

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 8



receive food waste collection only. All 88,000 households will receive a
kitchen caddy. Cardboard removed.

- Communications: Increase on communications spend to £120k in year 1 and
then down to £60k/pa.

For high rise properties:

- Extension of the scheme to cover all flatted properties. Move to co-mingled
collections.

- Delivery of some refuse to dirty MRF

- Organic waste collections from suitable properties only.

- Increase on communications spend to £78k in year 1 and then down to
£26k/pa.

Other elements

- Targeted work to remove trade waste from household stream

- Targeted work to maintain high participation and capture rates

- Targeted work to minimise contamination of kerbside containers
- Retention of compulsory recycling.

5.2 A specialist waste model has been used to analyse the likely outcome taking
all the factors into account. The model shows that it is still unlikely that Brent
will be able to achieve a 60% recycling rate by introducing the above elements
alone. However, by working with the West London Waste Authority (WLWA)
further progress can be made through the development of alternative
treatment facilities.

5.3 A number of variables exist that will impact on recycling rates (e.g. waste
arisings, levels of public engagement, the availability of alternative treatment
facilities) Further progress may be made if a recycling incentive scheme is
introduced. The draft Strategy pledges that officers will investigate suitable
systems for future application in Brent.

54 Factors to be considered.

In considering this Waste Collection and Disposal recommendation, it is
important that Members are mindful of the following:

o All households will see an increase in the range of materials collected which
will provide an improved and expanded service that will improve the council’s
recycling rates overall and make savings.

o Residents will receive a weekly waste collection with refuse and dry recycling
collections scheduled on an ‘alternate weekly’ basis. It is clear this policy must
be embraced if recycling rates are to be improved.

J Organic waste collections will remain weekly.
Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 9



Weekly collections of both waste streams are not feasible if we are to reduce
the amount of waste going to landfill. Weekly collections of both streams
would double the collection resource and would not incentivise residents to
make maximum use of the dry recycling bin. This would increase collection
costs, stall recycling performance and may subject the council to increased
disposal costs, whilst running against the waste hierarchy.

A limit on side waste is also needed. This means that only waste that fits into
the bin will be collected. This is a policy that has been proved to work in
authorities achieving high recycling rates.

A 3-bin system is an increase on the current container provision. The existing
green box offers inadequate capacity and is unsuitable if progress is to be
made. Additional capacity is to be welcomed. The only households that will
need to accommodate 3 bins are those currently served by the organic waste
service, i.e. those properties already deemed to be of a suitable size and to
have large gardens. Smaller and more tightly packed properties will simply
need to accommodate a new dry recycling bin to replace the box (similar
footprint) and a food waste container, and variations in arrangements may be
needed in special circumstances.

Cardboard transfers from the organic service to the dry recycling service and
thus coverage increases to include 80,000 properties. This will be welcomed
by residents as a service enhancement.

Implementation will require the procurement and distribution of a large number
of containers, a process which must underpinned by a sustained period of
promotional activity. This will be a complex and lengthy operation.

The timetable for the procurement and distribution of bins is dependent on
waiting times and ‘slots’. These are influenced by levels of demand and may
lead to delay.

The timetable is also dependent on the procurement of new vehicles. This
may similarly be affected by levels of demand.

Increasing the amount of organic waste that is composted is dependent on
officers procuring additional reprocessing capacity.

Collecting dry recycling waste co-mingled (mixed) is dependent on officers
procuring the appropriate reprocessing capacity.

Delivering refuse to a dirty MRF is dependent on officers securing that sorting
capacity.

Maintaining high levels of participation and material capture will require a
reprioritisation of the work of the council’s StreetCare Officers and the
StreetCare Waste Policy Team.

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 10



5.5

6.0

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

Monitoring and eliminating contamination of recycling containers will similarly
require a reprioritisation of work.

Removing trade waste from the household stream will require a reprioritisation
of the work of StreetCare’s enforcement team.

In essence, the ongoing work of StreetCare’s waste management function will
be to support the development and implementation of the new Waste
Strategy.

Other Policies

The recommended option will be incorporated into the Draft Waste Strategy.
This document is available in full at Appendix A and should be read in
conjunction with this report. The Draft Waste Strategy and its constituent
policies will be consulted upon as part of the Review process.

Bulky Waste Charges

At the time the Waste Services Contract was tendered and approved by Full
Council (2005/06), the Bulky Waste Service was not a chargeable service.

After the change in the Council’s political administration at the 2006 Local
Elections, a £25 charge was introduced alongside a concession scheme for
vulnerable residents.

The implementation of the charge coincided with a reduction in demand for
the Bulky Waste Service. The reduction in demand has resulted in the budget
income target not being achieved, year on year.

Waste collected under the Bulky Waste Service is separated and sorted for
reuse and recycling. The anticipated increase in the volume of bulky waste
collected is expected to see greater volumes of waste reused and recycled.

Implications for the Waste Services Contract

When charging was introduced, the demand for the service reduced and a
Contract Variation was negotiated with Veolia that resulted in an annual
reduction of contract payments of £191,534 (at 2007/08 prices). This
significant variation demonstrated the flexibility of the Waste Services
Contract in enabling service changes to be introduced during its term.

The re-introduction of a free service essentially returns the service to that
which was originally tendered for. If the Executive approves the decision to
repeal the £25 charge, the Contract Variation referred to at paragraph 6.5
above would need to be reversed.

Whilst the contractor payments are able to be estimated with some certainty,
this is not the case for the disposal costs.

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 11



6.8 Any waste that is not reused, recycled or composted will need to be disposed
of and thus incur a payment under the s52(9) payment mechanism, currently
around £89 per tonne.

Financial Implications — Bulky Waste repeal of charges

6.9 The costs of introducing a free service are made up by the following
components:

a. Additional collection capacity;

b. Paying for the disposal of the additional waste expected to be
collected;

C. Adjusting the revenue budget to remove the current income target.

6.10 In terms of components a. to c. above, the estimated costs have been
calculated and are shown in the table at paragraph 6.14 below.

6.11 The methods of calculating these costs are as follows:

a. A simple reversal of the contract variation that was negotiated when the
bulky waste charge was introduced;

b. An assumption of the additional tonnage likely to be generated and the
costs of this using the current disposal cost per tonne;

C. Adjusting the current £81,300 income target to zero.

6.12 With regards to 6.11b above, the bulky waste tonnages are not separately
recorded and thus there is no definitive data to base an estimate of additional
tonnages on.

6.13 Itis proposed that ground rules for the new ‘free’ service are similar to those
that existed prior to charging being introduced. These include that:

J We will only collect items that are classified as household waste. For example
we will not collect fixtures and fittings (from house and grounds refurbishment
waste), soil and rubble, and clinical and hazardous waste. We will collect
items that can be safely carried on a trolley, or safely by two people (up to
around 40kg in weight)

. Up to three collections per financial year will be provided without charge

o There will be a concession scheme, as with the existing scheme, for those on
certain benefits etc., should a fourth collection be required within the financial
year

6.14 The estimated costs of repealing the £25 charge for bulky waste collections
are itemised in the following table:

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 12



6.15

6.16

7.0

71

7.2

8.0

8.1

Executive
11.08.10

ITEM DESCRIPTION COST
Reversal of This returns the resource levels
previous contract to those tendered, before £205,004
variation, re- charging was introduced
calculated at 2010-
11 prices
Disposal costs for | An estimated 1,200 tonnes per
additional waste annum at the current rate of £89 £106,800
collected per tonne
Current income This will need to revert to ‘zero’
target as the repeal of charges will £81,300
mean that no income is
generated
TOTAL COST £393,104

The total cost of repealing the £25 Bulky Waste Charge, therefore, in a full
year (at 2010-11 prices) is estimated at £393,104 (£196,552 in 2010-11).

A decision to repeal the charge on 1% October 2010 will incur additional costs
in the financial year 2010-11. Early indications on waste tonnage arisings
suggest that there will be some capacity to fund these costs from reduced
tonnages through s52(9) waste disposal budgets and composting credits
(estimated at £90,000), although waste tonnages can be volatile. Whilst every
effort will be made to contain the remaining costs of around £100k within other
existing budgets, there is a risk associated with this.

Conclusions

In conclusion, the Waste Strategy Review is potentially able to deliver the
required Waste Collection and Disposal savings fully in Year 2 of
implementation, to a value of £1.02m compared with the overall waste /
cleansing savings target of £1.2m.

The cost of repealing the £25 Bulky Waste Collection Charge is estimated at
£393k in a full year, and can be implemented from 1 October 2010.

Next steps

The following actions must now be undertaken:

ACTION TIMEFRAME

Development of street cleansing savings
options in discussion with Veolia and full
and open consideration of the conclusions
of the “independent” Veolia Contract Review
commissioned by PRU

July & August 2010

Executive approval to consult on the
Council’s revised Waste Strategy and

Executive — August 2010

changes to the waste collection systems

version 5.1
03.08.10

Page 13




9.0

9.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

9.5

9.6

ACTION TIMEFRAME
Waste Collection Implementation Plan August 2010
devised
Consultation programme delivered August 2010 — October 2010
Approval to procure bins, vehicles and Executive - November 2010
treatment capacity
Procurement and delivery period August 2010 — June 2011
Implementation of waste collection changes August 2010 — July 2011
Bulky Waste Collection Charge repealed 1% October 2010
from
New Waste Collection Services July 2011
commence

Financial Implications

The financial implications of implementing the recommended waste collection
options have been developed through discussion with Veolia but can only be
considered as indicative at this time. An officer from Finance and Corporate
Resources was a member of the project team and verified that the Veolia cost
model was a reasonable estimation of the likely costs of each option. The final
costs will be the subject of further negotiations with Veolia or retendering of the
contract as outlined in the legal comments below.

The cost of new vehicles is based on Veolia making this investment and
depreciating the value of these vehicles over 7 years. The vehicles would
transfer to either Brent or any incoming contractor at the end of the current
contract. However, this may not be the best option and Brent Finance will
consider options for funding the estimated £1.4m capital cost of new vehicles
and the estimated financing costs of these vehicles have been built into the
cost model.

The cost of new containers has also been calculated . It is possible that these
should be financed through a leasing arrangement over 7 years to avoid a
significant ‘up front’ capital outlay. Again, however Brent Finance will consider
options for funding the estimated £1.7m capital cost of new containers and the
estimated financing costs of these containers have been built into the cost
model.

Whilst the costs have been developed through discussion with Veolia they
remain indicative only. A number of issues remain unresolved and will need to
be explored further as the project progresses and the operational requirements
become better understood.

There will be minimal other costs in 2010-11 (printing, publicity, etc), and these
will be contained within existing budgets.

The summary of comparative costs between the existing service (i.e. no
change) and the preferred scenario is as follows:

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 14



Year 0 Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Year 7 Year 8
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

No change
% Diversion 28.0% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1% 28.1%
Collection KE PA 5,870 5,870 5,870 5,870 5,870 5,870 5,870 5,870
Other Costs K£ 80 335 335 335 335 335 335 335
PA
Treatment KE PA 7,963 8,567 9,184 9,800 10,416 11,033 11,649 12,266
Total k€ PA 13,913 14,773 15,390 16,006 16,622 17,239 17,855 18,472
Proposed Change
% Diversion 43.2% 50.9% 52.0% 53.0% 53.0% 53.0% 53.0% 53.0%
Collection KE PA 5,694 5,694 5,694 5,694 5,694 5,694 5,694 5,694
Other Costs K£ 906 800 800 800 800 824 800 471
PA
Treatment KE PA 7,301 7,256 7,593 7,915 8,306 8,698 9,090 9,481
Total kg PA 13,901 13,750 14,087 14,409 14,800 15,217 15,584 15,646
Saving 12 1,022 1,302 1,596 1,821 2,022 2,270 2,826

NB There may be one-off costs associated with the disposal of obsolete vehicles, but
these are not possible to estimate at this stage. It is not expected that there will be any
redundancy costs.

10.0 Legal Implications

10.1 Section 357 of the Greater London Authority Act 1999 (‘the Act’) requires the
Council to notify the Mayor of London when it proposes to make amendments
to an existing waste contract. Officers will need to ensure that they comply
with the requirements of the Act when undertaking consultation on proposals
for the waste collection.

10.2 Further legal implications are contained in Appendix C of this report.
11.0 Staffing/Accommodation Implications

11.1 Maintaining high levels of participation and material capture will require a
reprioritisation of the work of the Council’s StreetCare Officers.

11.2 Monitoring and eliminating contamination of recycling containers will similarly
require a reprioritisation of work.

11.3 Removing trade waste from the household stream will require a reprioritisation
of the work of StreetCare’s Enforcement Team.

Appendices

Appendix A Draft Brent Waste Strategy 2010 — 2015

Appendix B Draft Waste Strategy Consultation Plan

Appendix C [not for publication]] Legal Implications — ‘Below the Line’ Appendix
Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 15



Background Papers

1. SLR Consulting Report

2. Draft Waste Strategy — Policy Summary
3. Waste Collection — Options Development

Contact Officers

Keith Balmer David Pietropaoli

Head of Service (StreetCare) x 5066 Waste Policy Manager x5291

Chris Whyte Richard Saunders

Head of Environmental Management Director of Environment & Culture
x5342. x5006

RICHARD SAUNDERS
Director of Environment and Culture

Executive version 5.1
11.08.10 03.08.10

Page 16



Brent Draft Municipal Waste
Management Strategy

Page 17



FOREWORD......ceteieetteee ettt ettt ettt e sttt e s ettt e s et e e s st e s s s e et e s e ne e e e s sme e e e e s mn et e s aas e e e e samsaeeesmneeeeaannenesannnnreeesannnneas 7

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt ettt e sbeesbeesheesatesae e sme e sate s bt sabe e bt e b e e bt enbeesbeesbeesseesmnesmeesnnnenas 8
1. WHERE ARE WE TODAY? ..eiiiiiittteeeitttee st tee e ssettteesttteessabaeeesaaseeessssteessasaaeesesansaeeesasseeessasseeesanssaeesansenessnsenesan 9
1.1, Brentin CONtEXT......uiiiiiiiiiiiiii ittt e s ara s 9
1.1.1. DAY= Y1 4V PP PP P PP PP PPPPPPPPPPPUPPTPPPTNE 9
1.1.2. [DI=T o141V | 1 o] o O O PSP PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPTPTRt 10
1.1.3. Density aNd HOUSENOIA SIZ@ ........eeeeiiieeeeee et e e e e e e e e e e e e et are e e e e e e e nnnreaeeeas 10
1.1.4. [ o1 VT =] aTo] (o I =T o [V ] ¢ TS U PR UPT PRI 10
1.1.5. [ (o TU L] T= a0 I o T T O P OO P PP PPPPPPPPPPPPPPPPTNt 11
1.1.6. Population Change and MigratioN.........coocciieiiiiiie e et e e e ratee e e e rre e e s enbaee e eneeas 12
1.1.7. Income and UNemMPIOYMENt...........uiiiiiiiee et e e et e e e e e e e re e e e e e e e s ntaaaeeeeesennnreaneeas 12
0 R B oY Yo a1 o d o W o) AT =T Vi [ SRR 13
1.2.1. Current Waste Management iN BreNt.. ... ittt eeee e eeeebebebabeseseseseeererassesssesesesee 13
1.2.2. Residual Waste Collection (known as general household rubbish) .........ccccceeeiiiiiiiiieiin e, 14
1.2.3. Kerbside RECYCING SCREMES........uiii e e e e e e e s te e e e e ate e e e e beee e s enbaeeeeaneeas 14
1.2.3.1. DTV Y= YotV 7ol 11 o V- SUUR Ot 14
1.2.3.2. (@15 ==Y o Toll 2 Y=Y orY ol [T o =SSR 15
1.2.4. FIats RECYCING SCREME ... . .viiii et e e te e e e et e e e e eata e e e ebtee e e eataeeesntaeeeennenas 15
1.2.5. Recycling Bins in Public PIaces Or Bring SIteS .......cciiiciieiiiiiiie ettt etee e e ree e e e e 15
1.2.6. ReUSE aNd RECYCIHNG CONTIE coovee ettt e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e eeteb e e e e e e e e e e nntaaeeeeeeeesnnreaneeas 15
1.3, Waste GOVErnanCe iN LONGON ....coueiiiiiiiiiieiiiectee ettt ettt et esbe e e smee e sareesbeesneeesaneesaneean 16
1.4. Waste Performance in LONGON .......cooiiiiiiieiieciee ettt ettt e s e s b e snee e saneesaree s 17
1.5, Waste AriSiNgS IN Brent oo e e e e e s e e e e e s e e e s s s e 19
1.6, Brent Residents SatiSfaCtion ........cocuiieiiiiiiieiienie ittt e e st 20
1.6.1. 2008/ 2009 Brent Place SUIVEY RESUILS.........eiecuie ettt ettt ettt eeteeeeareeenreeenns 20
1.6.1.1. Satisfaction with Residual Waste COllECTION .......c.coeuiiiiiieiii e 20
1.6.1.2. Satisfaction with Kerbside RECYCIING SEIVICE.......ccoccuiiii ittt arae e e 20
1.6.1.3. Satisfaction with the Reuse and Recycling CENLIE ......cccccuiieiiiiiiei i 21
1.6.2. Brent Customer Satisfaction SUrveY 2009 ...........uiiiiiiiee e eeee e etee e e e ebae e e e eatee e e sbaee e enees 21
2. WHERE DO WE WANT TO GET TO7? ...tiiiiiiiieeeiiiieee e eiieeeseieee s ssate e s ssiee e s ssateeessntaesaessaseeesssssessssnssesssssseesssnssens 23
D N - 7= Yol ¢ 01U o Vo SRS PRPPRRNE 23
2.2.  Principal Waste Management Strat@Ies ......cuuiiiiciiie ettt e e ere e e e etae e s e rae e e e sbae e e eaees 24
2.2.1. Waste Strategy for ENland (2007)......cccueiieeoiiee ettt ettt e ettt e e ettt e e e e esaaeeeesabseeeseaseeaeensaeesnanreeans 24
2.2.2. The Mayor of London’s Draft Municipal Waste Management Strategy ......cccccceeeveciiieeeeeecececcciieeeeen, 25
2.2.3. West London Waste Authority Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy ........cccceecvveeeeciveeeennen. 27
2.2.3.1. Addendum to the JIMWIMIS .....o..oiiiee ettt st sie e st st s e e st eeeeneens 28
2.2.3.2. ANEW ViSiON FOr WLWA ..ottt ettt ettt e st sbe e s e st e s e smeesaeeeaneenneeas 28



2.3.  Brent’s Improvement and Efficiency Action Plan 2010 — 2014 ........ccoooieeiiiiieeecciee e eciiree e e 29

2.4.  Scope of the Waste Collection STrategY .....ccocueiiiiie e e e e e e e e s e e nrra e e e e e e ean 29
2.5.  Overarching Vision for Waste Management in Brent ........ccccceooeeeiiiie ettt 29
D S T 1 =Y £ =14 VA 0] o =T 1 VYRS 30
D B 1 - 1 K= 1A VA - [ 4= K PP PP P POPPPPPPPPPPPPPTPPIRt 30
2.8.  How will the Council keep the waste collection strategy ontrack?......ccccoooiiiiiiiiicciiiii e, 31
2.9.  Structure of the waste collection STrategY .....ccuviiiii i e e e e 31
3. HoUSENOId Waste PreVeNTION....c..coiiiiieiie ettt sttt st ettt e sb e b e sbeesneesaeesns 33
N N = 7= Vol ¢={ oYU o Yo H R 33
3.2.  The Council’s Vision for Waste Prevention ...........ceoeieiieiiiieiieesiee et 34
e T o o o o T VA T T o T o 31 a1 s SRR 34
3.3.1. (oo 1oL OO U PR U RSP SORON 34
K N o 0 0T o] [ ol o 1Yot o Yo RO P 34
3.4.1. What Needs t0 DB DONE .....eeiiiieieece ettt et st e st e e sab e e sabe e sbeeesneeesabeeeneeenns 34
3.4.1.1. [ o] 0 a LI @0 T4 o] oo 1) A 1o V- 0SSR 35
3.4.1.2. Proposal 1 — HOME COMPOSTING......uuuiiieiiiicciiiieee ettt e e e e e e e e e raae e e e e e e e eanaraeeeeeeesnnsraeeeas 36
3.4.1.3. CoOMMUNITY COMPOSTING .. s e s s s s s s ssnansnnnn 37
3.4.1.4. Proposal 2 — ComMmMUNILY COMPOSTING....cciiiiuiiieiiiiieeeiieee e e e e et e e e sre e e e eraaeeeesasaeesssreeeeennaeeean 37
3.4.1.5. [ oTeTo IV AT 1 T T U PV UUUR O RPTOPRP 37
3.4.1.6. oY To L | e Tl HoTo Lo IV 1y TR SR 38
3.4.1.7. Actions against UNWanted Mail..........cooi it e e e eare e e st e e e erra e e eaes 38
3.4.1.8. Proposal 4 — Actions against unwanted Mail.........cccccvviiiiiiiiiiiii e 39
3.4.1.9. L R el AT Y ] g Yo o] o 11 =SSPt 40
3.4.1.10. Proposal 5 —Waste aware SNOPPING ...cccceeicciiiiiee ettt e et rrre e e e e e e nare e e e e e e e eaneraeeeas 40
3.4.1.11. ReuUSable NaPPY SCREMES...ccii ittt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e e e abeaeeeeeesesnsateseeeeeesnnnreaneeas 41
3.4.1.12. Proposal 6 —Reusable NapPpy SChEMES.........ccoc i e etre e e et e e e saaeeeeeaes 41
R 0t 1 R (=¥ [T PP TOPPTON 41
3.4.1.13.1. FUINITUPE REUSE ...ttt et e st e e s s e e s e e e s s e e e e s neees 42
3.4.1.13.2. Proposal 7 — FUMNITUIE MBUSE ........uuiiiiieie e ettt e e ettt e e e e e et e e e e e e e e e s e baraeeeaeeesssnsssaeeeaessnnnnnns 43
3.4.1.13.3. TEXEIES REUSE ..ottt ettt ettt ettt et e s bt e s e bee e s bt e s abe e e beeesmteesabeesneeeanneesnreesanes 43
3.4.1.13.4. Proposal 8 — TeXLIE FBUSE.....ccciiiiiee ettt ettt e e e e e e e e bte e e e s ba e e e eata e e e ebaeeeennsaeesenneeas 43
4. Recycling: STreet LEVEl PrOPeItiES .....uuiii i cciiieee ettt e e e e et ee e e e e e s satrae s e e e e e e s nnseaaeeeaseennnnns 45
g N 2 - Tl = 01U Vo SRR 45
4.2. Kerbside RECYCING SCNEMES........uviiiiiiiii ettt e e e et e e s ste e e et ta e e e e abaeesssaeeesnsaeeessraeeaan 45
4.2.1. Kerbside Dry RECYCHNG SCREMIES ...ccc.eeiiee ettt e et e e e rate e e e e rre e e s eabae e e enaeas 45
4.2.1.1. Current SItUation IN LONAON .....oi ittt st e b e ar e s e e saree e sareesans 46
4.2.1.2. VLo [T Tol T 1T PO T S U PRUURRPTOPRPN 46
4.2.2. Kerbside Organic RECYCING SChEMIES ....ccco e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e aaees 47
4.2.2.1. CUrrent SitUation iN LONTON ..c.eiiiiiiiiieeeee ettt ettt s s saeeeare e 47



4.2.2.2. VAo LY (o=l = T LY RSSO 48

4.2.3. Limiting the Growth of Residual Waste...........uuuviiiiii it e e et e e e e e raa e 48
4.2.3.1. VLo [T Tol T 1T PO T S U PUURORPTOPRRN 48
4.2.3.2. CUrrent SitUation iN LONTON ..c...iiiiiiieeieeeee ettt ettt b e s s s eaeeeane e 49
4.3.  The Council’s Vision for Waste Collections from street level properties.........cccocceeevvveeeeiciieecccieeescneenn, 49
S oY 0 VAT (oY TR (o TN 2] ox YRR 50
4.4.1. 0] 1TV S 50
4.4.2. oY 0T LY | I USSP 50
4.4.3. Y] o] oo o T V= 2o 1ol T= 3RS 51
4.4.3.1. Supporting policy 1 — Closed lid and no side waste for the residual waste collection service ......... 51
4.4.3.2. Supporting Policy 2 — CompulSOry re€CYCHNEG..........uviiiiiee et e e rarre e e e e 51
4.4.3.3. Supporting Policy 3 — Assisted COIECTIONS......cccoieiiiieiee e e e e 52
4.4.3.4. Supporting Policy 4 — Assessing the needs of difficult to serve housing types........cccccvvveeeiveeenne. 52
4.4.3.5. Supporting Policy 5 — HOUSENOIA SIZe.......ccooeuiiiiiiiiee et e 53
4.4.3.6. Supporting Policy 6 — ContaminNation .........ceeeiiiiicciiiiiiee e e e e e e r e e e s e e aerreeeeeeeean 53
4.4.3.7. Supporting Policy 7 — ENfOrCEMENT .........eviiiiee et e e e e s e e rrre e e e e e e 53
4.4.3.8. Supporting Policy 8 — Rewarding residents for recycling .........ccoouveeveeiiiccciiieeeee e 53
T oY1 o I o] [ ot VR o 3 Yo o T ISP 53
45.1. What THhisS Will ACRIEVE ..ottt esre e saeesane e 53
4.5.2. What NEeds t0 DB DONE .....eeiiieiee ettt e st e st e e sab e e sabe e sbeeesneeesabeeeneeenns 54
4.6. Difficult to serve properties (i.e. properties along the North Circular Road)........ccccccoeeeeiciiieiciieeecneen. 54
4.6.1. Proposal 10 — Properties along the North Circular ROad .........ccceeeeiiiiiiiiiie e 54
LR ¥=Yor ol 110 Y =30 =] Fo ol ol o = 1 £ RSP 55
L0 B - 7= Vol 4= o 11 [ o T S RSUR N 55
5.2.  Introducing Recycling Facilities in Existing BlOcks Of FIQts ........ccceiieiiiiiiieei i, 59
5.3.  Introducing Recycling Facilities in New Developments.......cccccveeiiciieeiiiiiee ettt et 59
5.4, WhY WE NEEA CHaANGE......uiiiiiciiiie ettt e ettt e e e e tte e e s et b e e e s atataeeesabteeeesnsaeeesastaeeessteeeesnseneannnes 60
5.5.  The Council’s ViSiON fOr FIAtS......eiiiiiiiiieie ettt et s e e s 60
Lo T o o o o T4 TS T o1 o 2N oo 1 or SRR 60
5.6.1. 0] 1oV S 60
LT N o o1 0 o o] [ o1V o 1 Yot £ o Yo RO PP 60
5.7.1. oo oY 1-7 1 I PSR PUPPRNt 60
5.7.2. What ThiS Will ACRIEVE ...ttt e st e s e s be e s meeesabeesneeeans 61
5.7.2.1. (o Tor 1dTe] g 1 o) i =1 o T PO T S U UUUPORTTPRRN 61
5.7.2.2. oY o] F= T @] | 1=l e R 61
5.7.2.3. Introducing New Materials for RECYCHNE .....vevieuiiii it e 61
5.7.2.4. Experience from other Local Authorities in London and Good Practice.......ccccceeeeciiiieeieeee e, 61
5.7.3. What Needs t0 DB DONE .....eeiiiieiiiee ettt et ste e st e e sab e e s b e s beeesmeeesabeeeneeenns 61
5.7.3.1. Assessing Suitability of Existing Blocks of FIats ......cccuvviiiiiiii e 62
5.7.3.2. Introducing Recycling Facilities in New Developments......ccccoocvieeeciieec et 62

Page 20



5.7.3.3. Exploring Opportunities to Introduce other Types of Collection Schemes.........ccccoeevveeiiiciieeecnnnn. 62

5.7.3.4. INternal CoNtaiNer ProVISION .......uii ittt ettt ettt e s ettt e e s b e e s bt e e sane e sareesareeenneeenns 62
6. Brent’s Reuse and RECYCHNE CONIIE ......uiii ittt e e et e e e eette e e e sbae e e seatae e e sntaeeesnbaeeaennes 63
L N = 7= Vol 4= o YU o Yo F R 63
6.2. The Council’s Vision for the Reuse and Recycling Centre ........ccceeeeeciiiiiee e 64
(S T o o o o T VA 1S T o1 o 2N oo s SRR 64
6.3.1. 0] 1TV S ST 64
[ o 0 o o] [ ol o 1Yot o Yo RO TP 64
6.4.1. oo oTo 171 USSR UUPPRt 64
6.4.2. What ThiS Will ACNIEVE ...ttt sttt et e s e s be e s me e e sabeesneeenns 64
6.4.3. What NEeds t0 DB DONE .....eeiiiiieieee ettt et s st e st e e sar e sab e sbeeesmeeesabeeeneeenns 65
7. Recycling Bins iN PUDBIIC PIACES.......uiiiiiiiee ettt ettt e e ettt e e e s et e e e s sata e e e sateeeesnsaeeesntseeesssaeaennen 66
2% O - 7= Yol <=4 o 11 [ o T FS SRR 66
7.2.  The Council’s Vision for Recycling Bins in PUbIiC Places ..........ueeiiiiiicciiiiiec ettt 66
/2% T VA T o i o 3N 2o 1 xSRI 67
7.3.1. (o] 1oL TP PRSPPSO 67
S o o 0 o o] [ o1V o 1Yot o Yo RO PP 67
7.4.1. oY oo LY 1 I 5 TS 67
7.4.2. What ThiS Will ACNIEVE ...ttt ettt e st e s e s be e s nee e sabeesneeenns 67
7.4.3. What NEEAS t0 D8 DONE ...ttt sttt et b e e b e b e beesmeesaeesaeesnneeas 67
7.5.  Difficult to Serve Properties (i.e. flats in commercial properties).......ccccoeeeeecieeeiiciiiee e e 68
7.5.1. Proposal 14 — Flats in commercial Properties ........cccceeeieciieeieciee et eree e eevee e eree e s srae e e e 68
T Oo 0. 0410 a1 oF= o T o F- 3PP PRI 69
8.1.  The Council’s Vision for COMMUNICATIONS ......ccueeirieiiirienie ettt s s s e 69
L o o]0 IV A Ty oY o 1 o ot TP 69
8.2.1. 01TV S 69
<0 T o oY o 0 T o1 ToAV A o 1 Vot [ o SRR 70
8.3.1. What ThiS Will ACNRIEVE ...ttt st e st e s e s be e s meeesabeesneeeans 70
8.3.2. What NEEdS t0 D8 DONE ...ttt sttt et e b e bt et esbeesmeesmeesmeesaneeas 70
8.3.2.1. Joined up Approach to COMMUNICATIONS .....ueiiiiiiiiicciiee et eerre e e e e e e are e e e e eaeee s 70
8.3.2.2. oY o LY | I YU SUUR Ot 71
8.4. Communications Plan Deliverables ... e s 71
8.4.1. 2 0<To1Y o 1o Y- PSPPI 71
8.4.1.1. o oTo 1Y | XSSP 71
8.4.2. Waste RedUCtion and REUSE........c.uiiiieieiiie ettt ettt et s e e bee e sme e e sbeeeneeens 71
8.4.2.1. o oY o LY | I U SUUR Ot 71
8.4.3. The Waste Collection COMMITMENT .....ooiiiiiiiiii et esne e e snneeas 72
8.4.3.1. o oTo 1Y | 2SR 72



9.  Community ENgagement @and EVENES .......uuiiiiiiii ittt e e e e e e s e abra e e e e e e s e nnata e e e e e e e ennrraaees 73

1 20 I = 7= Yol 4= o 11 [ o T SRR 73
9.2, WHEIrE WE Ar€ TOUAY ..eeiiviiiieeiiii ettt e e ettt e e ettt e e e sttt e e e ettt e e e ebteeesaabaeeesasastaeeesaseeseeansasessastaeessasseaessseneesnnes 73
9.3. The Council’s Vision for Community Engagement and EVENTS........cccceeecvieeiiiiieeiciiiee e 73
1 2 S o o o o TV A S T o1 o 2N oo or SRR 74
9.4.1. 0] 1TV S 74
1S 25 T o o] o 0 T o1 ToAV A o 1 Vot [ o SRR 74
9.5.1. What ThisS Will ACRIEVE ..ottt et sme e sreesaeesane e 74
9.5.2. What NEEdS 10 D8 UONE ... ettt be e e esseesaeesane e 74
9.5.3. oY 0T LY I K S 74
10. Waste EAUCAtION iN BrENT......cocuiiiieiieee ettt st sttt e b e b e bt e s beesmeesmeesanesanenas 75
10.1. 2T o =4 o U Vo [N P USUPURP 75
10.1.1. SUSTAINADIE SCROOIS ... s e e s b e e saee e sanes 76
10.1.2. [ olo BT o [oTo ] - OO T SRR RPTOPRP 76
10.2. The Council’s Vision for Waste Education in SChOOIS..........c.ooiieiiiiiiiiiinicceeee e 76
10.3. oY oIV Ty To] g1 o T e Yo [ or YA SRR 76
10.3.1. POLICY 8.ttt sttt bbbt b et bt s ae e san e st s bbbt e b e e e enes 76
10.4. [ geT 0 T 2] [ otV Lo o1 o o J SR 77
10.4.1. What ThisS Will ACRIEVE ...ttt ettt e s sme e e sneeenee e 77
10.4.2. o] oTo 1Y 1 I O PSS 77
10.4.3. What Needs t0 D8 DONE ....cocueiiiiiiiieiieereere ettt sttt e sbe e st e s e smeesaeesaeeeaneeaneeas 77
11. oY [ To T T Yo I o o] oo LY | Ky SRR 78
12. CONSUITAtION QUESTIONS «..conitiiiiiiie ittt ettt et e b e bt e s bt e sbe e e sat e st e st e st e et e et e e b e e beesbeenneenneennes 79
13. APPENDICES. ...ttt ettt ettt e e e e e sttt e e e e s e s bt et e e e eeeeee e s unbbbteeeeeeeaanb b e teeeeeeeaarrreeeeeeeea eanan 80
Appendix A — Legislation BaCKBIrOUNT ..........cooi ittt e e e e e ettt e e e s e e e senbaaeeeeeeeesnnreaaeeaeseennsnns 81
Appendix B —Waste ColleCtion OPtioNS......uiie ittt e e e e e et reee e e e e e ssnbsaeseeeesesannseaseeaeseenansens 97
Appendix C— Comparing Kerbside Dry Recycling SChEMES .......coocuiiieiiiiieccee et 101
Appendix D — Top 20 Performing Local Authorities in England in 2008/09..........ccceevveeveeereieeecereee e ereenveenns 103
Appendix E— Waste and Recycling Storage and Collection Guidance for Residential Properties.........ccc......... 106
Appendix F — Outline of Activities Offered to SChooIs iN BreNt.........c.uuviiieei it 119
Appendix G. Equalities Impact AssessSmMeNnt (EQUA) ......ccuveeeeiiiieeeiiie et s e ervre e e e e e e s e e e e sareee e enreas 123
14. LG Lo XY Y= oY USRIt 124

Page 22



Page 23



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Page 24



The London borough of Brent (Brent) is situated in north-west London, covering an area of approximately 43
km?, and is divided into 21 wards, as shown in map 1. The current population is over 254,500 living in
approximately 111,000 properties.

Mapesbury

N g
Brondesbury Park
Harlesden

© Crown copyright.All rights reserved.
London Borough of Brent. DBRE201 2005

The Audit Commission identifies Brent as an outer London borough that faces inner London issues.

Brent is one of only two local authorities serving a population where the majority of people are from ethnic
minorities. In fact, Brent has the largest proportion of ethnic minorities in London. In particular:
54.7 per cent of the population are from black and minority ethnic groups (BME), this is double the
outer London average
the largest minority group is Indian (18 per cent), followed by Black Caribbean (ten per cent) and Black
African (nine per cent)
71 per cent of the population are from an ethnic group other than white British
48 per cent of the population were born outside of the UK
34 per cent of local residents say that English is not their main language
130 different languages are spoken in Brent schools with Gujarati, Hindi, Punjabi, Somali and Urdu
being the most widely spoken.

Brent is defined and enriched by the diversity of its population and this unique quality is celebrated locally.
The waste collection strategy is developed within this context and aims to meet the needs of a diverse
population. The Council is committed to work with local communities in delivering waste collection services
and communications campaigns which recognise and value the diversity of local residents to enable them to
participate in the new services effectively.

1 Mid-Year Estimates released by the Office of National Statistics in 2010

Page 25



Many residents in Brent still experience high levels of deprivation. Brent is ranked 53rd out of 354 boroughs
in the Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD)? 2007, which represents a drop of 28 places since 2004. This moves
Brent from being within the 25% most deprived local authorities in the country to be within the 15% most
deprived. Changes in Brent’s deprivation level can be seen across the area, where the majority of
neighbourhoods have become more deprived. In particular:

only two of Brent’s 21 wards have become less deprived compared with their deprivation levels in IMD

2004 (Harlesden and Queens Park)

deprivation levels in the south of the borough have worsened

new pockets of deprivation have also appeared in the north of the Borough in historically affluent

areas.

Brent is one of the most densely populated outer London boroughs with an average density of 61 people per
hectare (pph), with the highest densities in the south east of the borough, as can been in map 2.

Brent has one of the largest average household size in the country and overcrowding is a problem. According
to the 2001 census Brent has 2.62 persons per household. This is the third highest in England and Wales.

At 23.9 per cent, Brent has the highest percentage of houses across all outer London boroughs with an
occupancy rating of -1 or less®.

Paapls per hectars

The 2008/09 Place Survey5 concluded that household tenure in Brent is consistent with the 2001 Census, small
increases can be seen regarding households which rent from private landlords. Conversely there has been a
slight drop in the percentage of people renting from the Council, as shown in table 1.

Place Survey (%) 2001 Census (%)
Owned outright 25 23
Buying on mortgage 31 31
Rent from council 9 11
2 1 = Most Deprived, 354 = Least Deprived
3 The Department for Communities and Local Government (CLG) publishes the Index of Multiple Deprivation. The Index of

Multiple Deprivation (IMD 2007) is a “lower layer super output area” (LSOA) level measure of multiple deprivation. The IMD
2007 is made up of seven LSOA level domain indices, each of which has several component indicators. The domains are:
Income, Employment, Health Deprivation and Disability, Education, Skills and Training, Barriers to Housing and Services,
Crime, Living Environment.
4 -1 implies that there is one room too few for the occupants of the household
5 The National Indicator Set launched by the government in April 2008 contains a number of indicators which are informed by
citizens' views and perspectives. A number of these indicators are collected through a single Place Survey administered by each local
authority. The survey is carried out every two years.
! ! ey Page 26



Place Survey (%) 2001 Census (%)
Rent from Housing Association/Trust 12 13
Rented from private landlord 20 18

In addition, map 3 shows the distribution of social rented accommodation in Brent. The map highlights that
the majority of social rented accommodation is in the south of the borough.

Rate per 1000 housshalds.
oks man 38

[ 45 o s s 148

I 145 to s than 275

[ s v s man 51

Map 4 shows the distribution of different housing types in Brent and table 2 shows how the Houses in Multiple
Occupation (HMO) housing type (shown in yellow in the map) is proportioned in Brent.

4

W | [T

19000

A0

SIR 2 ™

-

LONDCN BORCUGH
OF BRENT
WASTE STRATEGY REVISION

PROPERTY TYPES

o

B | | L
| e @ AHCH 2010

Page 27



Households per HMO Property Households in Brent Proportion of H“:g:c;:f overall housing
2 20,004 55%
3 4,812 13%
4 3,384 9%
5 1,635 4%
6 3,144 9%
7 868 2%
8 2,504 7%

Brent is affected by high levels of population change and migration. Map 5 shows that residents who live in
the south-east of the borough have a higher likelihood of having only lived in Brent for less than one year.

Residents who have not lived in the borough for a long period of time may feel less attached to the local area
and are also likely to be less aware of the services they are entitled to receive.

The Council will aim to deliver regular communications with residents so that their awareness about waste
services is enhanced.

Brent has the 4th lowest average income levels in London (only Barking & Dagenham, Newham, and Hackney
have lower levels than Brent). There is a £17,000 difference in mean annual income between the wealthiest
and least well-off wards within Brent (Queen's Park and Stonebridge respectively). Map 6 shows the 2008
mean annual income across the borough.

Brent has high rates of unemployment compared to Great Britain and London averages. One in four residents
is long-term unemployed.

Page 28



Household waste collection is the responsibility of the Council. It includes the following services:
residual waste collections
recycling and composting collections
bulky waste collections
street cleansing.

Brent is a Waste Collection Authority (WCA). Household waste collected in Brent is delivered to the Waste
Disposal Authority (WDA), West London Waste Authority (WLWA).

WLWA is the waste disposal authority for the six London boroughs of Brent, Ealing, Harrow, Hillingdon,
Hounslow and Richmond upon Thames, as shown in Map 7.

W?J?ﬂ?:’" Redbridge

Havering

Barking &
Dagenham

River Thames

}emyinos

River Thames

Bromley

As a waste disposal authority, WLWA is responsible for the treatment and disposal of household and municipal
waste arisings from the boroughs’ activities.

Page 29



Residual waste and recycling collections are undertaken by the waste and recycling collection contractor,
Veolia Environmental Services (VES). The current contract started in April 2007 and is a seven year contract,
due for renewal in 2014.

The following sections give an outline of the current waste and recycling services provided by the Council.

The Council collects residual waste for disposal from all 111,000 properties in Brent. Most street level
properties have a 240 litre grey wheeled bin and receive a weekly collection. Residual waste from blocks of
flats is usually contained in communal bins and the collection can be more frequent than weekly, sometimes
up to three times per week, depending on the requirements at each site. There are also some properties in
Brent not suitable for bin collections. These properties (e.g. properties along the North Circular Road, flats
above shops) are provided with single use sacks.

The Council currently provides a weekly kerbside sort® recycling service to nearly 88,000 households.
Residents are provided with a 44 litre green box. Collection operatives sort these materials by depositing
them into the various compartments of the collection vehicle.

The following materials are collected for recycling: plastic bottles, glass bottles and jars, paper, metal tins and
cans, aerosols, aluminium foil, household and car batteries, engine oil, shoes, textiles and yellow pages.

Table 3 shows what happens to the materials which are collected and the reprocessing facilities they are sent
to.

Material Processing facility Product

Q W8 Aylesford Newsprint, Kent  |More paper products

v.;" ~ " . Day Aggregates, Brentford [Road Building

u O
&
Ay DO . N L
% Various processing facilities [More tins and cans
o o
Closed Loop Recyclinig,
.‘ PIastic bottie pRecyclinig More plastic products
<) Dagenham

Wilcox Industrial Supply
Company, West Midlands

More textiles

G & P Batteries, West .
batterie More batteries
Midlands

&
20
anaine Q Eco-0il, Newport Industrial Fuel Oil

In August 2008, the Council introduced a compulsory recycling policy for all households served by the green
box scheme. This saw participation rate’ rising to over 80 per cent in most areas.

6 Kerbside dry recycling collection schemes are usually grouped as follows:

e  kerbside sort —involves the sorting of materials at kerbside into different compartments of a specialist collection vehicle

e single stream co-mingled (mixed) or fully co-mingled (mixed) — involves the collection of materials in a single compartment
vehicle with the sorting of these materials occurring at a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF)

e twin stream (e.g. using multiple containers for different materials) — residents are provided with multiple recycling containers
and are asked to place different materials in each container, typically paper/card in one and all other materials in the other
container(s).

7 Participation rate is calculated as the proportion of households that take part in the waste collection service at least once in a
defined period of monitoring (usually three consecutive weeks).
P B (usuall Pge 30



The Council also collects garden waste, food waste and cardboard from over 60,000 properties weekly.
Residents are provided with a 240 litre wheeled bin. All households in Brent are also eligible to have their
garden waste collected for composting by ordering biodegradable sacks which can then be collected by
arrangement. Table 4 shows what happens to the materials once they are collected and the destination they
are taken to.

Material |Processing facility Product

West London Composting |Compost

West London Composting |Compost

West London Composting |Compost

The majority of blocks of flats in Brent are not suitable for a kerbside collection service®. A dedicated recycling
service for flats was introduced in 2004. The recycling scheme is a weekly separated bring scheme®. There are
currently over 430 site locations serving blocks of flats. The Council provides either 1,100 litre euro bins or 240
litre wheeled bins depending on the capacity needs of the block served and space available.

The following materials are collected for recycling: paper, glass bottles and jars, metal tins and cans, plastic
bottles, aluminium foil and aerosols.

Residents living in blocks of flats currently do not receive a collection service for food waste.

Recycling bins in public places, also known as bring sites or “on-the go” facilities were first introduced in Brent
in 1993 and there are currently 145 bring sites. The following materials are collected at most bring sites
separately: paper, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, metal tins and cans, aluminium foil and aerosols.
Beverage and food cartons, books, textiles, shoes and ink cartridges are also collected for recycling at some
sites.

Brent’s Reuse and Recycling Centre (RRC)' provides a drop-off facility for a range of household waste
materials which can then be prepared for reuse, recycling, composting or responsible disposal.

Recycling containers or storage areas for 31 different materials are provided at the site. .

Brent’s RRC is currently the best performing site in London with an overall recycling rate of over 80 per cent
and is already achieving the highest diversion from landfill in West London.

Table 5 shows the full list of materials collected together with the destinations where they are taken to.

Material Name of company(-ies) that receives material

Aluminium (mixed) EMR

Batteries (household and car) G & P Batteries

Books TRAID

Cans ONYX

Cardboard Total Waste

8 The Council’s procedure is that purpose built blocks or HMO with eight or less properties have access to the same service as
street level properties

9 This involves locating communal recycling bins near the residual bin or another convenient location, with at least one bin for

each material stream collected

10 The RRC is at Abbey Road in Park Royal and is open 7 days a week from 8am until 4pm (closed on Christmas Day, Boxing Day

and New Year's Day). Page 31




Material Name of company(-ies) that receives material
Cartridges Environmental Business Products
Chipboard Eco-Dorset

Clear glass ONYX

Clothes TRAID and LMB

Fire extinguisher CHUBB

Florescent tubes Wiser Recycling

Fridge EMR

Gas bottles FLO Gas for FLO bottles, CALOR for CALOR bottles
General Waste West London Waste Authority
Green Waste Country Gas

Mattress West London Waste Authority
Metal EMR

Oil (engine) Brent Qil Contractors

Oil (cooking) Edible Qil Services

Paper Total Waste

Plasterboard Powerday

Rubble/Hardcore Powerday

Shoes European Recycling Limited

Soil McGovern

TV/Monitors SWEEP

Tetra pak BYWATERS

Textiles/Shoes TRAID and LMB

Tyres Powerday

WEEE (large) EMR

WEEE (small) ASM

Wood Eco-Dorset

The responsibility for collecting waste in London lies with boroughs. Since the abolition of the Greater
London Council (GLC) in 1986, the responsibility for disposing of waste has been dispersed. The current
waste governance in London is shown in map 8 and is as follows:
there are 33 waste collection authorities (which are also waste planning authorities)
there are 12 boroughs that are responsible for both collection and disposal of waste (known as unitary
authorities)
the remaining 21 London boroughs are two-tier authorities (the boroughs are responsible for the
collection of waste, but waste disposal operations are arranged across four statutory waste disposal
authorities).

Waltham

Forest Redbridge

Havering

Barking &
Dagenham

River Thames

}iemynos

Lewisham
River Thames

Bromley



West London Waste Authority (WLWA)
North London Waste Authority (NLWA)

East London Waste Authority (ELWA)
Western Riverside Waste Authority (WRWA)
Unitary Authorities

In April 2008 Government introduced a set of 198 National Indicators'’ (NIs) to reflect national priority
outcomes for local authorities. This is the only set of indicators on which central government manages the
performance of local government. The Nls replace Best Value Performance Indicators (BVPIs) previously set
for local authorities. There are three Nls directly relating to waste:
NI 191 — Number of kilograms of residual waste (waste not reused, recycled or composted) collected
per household
NI 192 — Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling, composting or anaerobic digestion
NI 193 — Percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill

Table 6 shows the national indicator NI1192 performance for all waste authorities in London™.
The table also shows the NI192 targets that local authorities in London agreed for inclusion in their Local Area
Agreements®™ with Government Office for London™.

Authority NI192 applies from 2008/09 onwards. Earlier years for broad comparison only Defra returns
2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09
Barking and Dagenham LB 2.18 6.67 14.00 16.60 21.08 20.41 24.91
Barnet LB 12.12 16.71 19.87 27.94 29.96 30.76 31.18
Brent LB 6.64 8.50 13.95 20.01 21.52 20.98 28.20
Bromley LB 15.38 20.07 23.26 27.25 31.85 34.44 36.36
Camden LB 16.06 19.10 25.21 27.14 28.05 27.09 28.27
City of London LB 14.50 20.00 14.30 18.08 28.19 33.39 34.19
City of Westminster LB 11.50 13.50 15.30 18.29 20.38 22.73 23.04
Croydon LB 13.10 14.05 13.00 16.17 20.11 22.72 27.71
Ealing LB 10.63 12.16 15.21 19.35 24.98 28.97 35.09
Enfield LB 11.70 15.60 23.63 27.29 29.65 27.31 27.16
Greenwich LB 9.37 12.00 19.01 21.66 23.61 29.35 42.09
Hackney LB 2.60 6.93 12.20 16.21 19.81 22.64 22.71
Hammersmith & Fulham LB | 8.46 15.28 19.59 21.49 23.63 - 27.84
Haringey LB 4.44 8.74 14.34 19.24 24.96 21.96 22.13
Harrow LB 9.40 13.20 18.80 26.70 27.70 39.55 43.11
Havering LB 6.71 9.85 15.51 17.91 20.56 24.06 27.40
Hillingdon LB 19.50 23.85 27.20 27.70 30.64 33.76 35.32
Hounslow LB 15.10 15.80 17.40 19.25 19.62 21.75 23.60
Islington LB 5.81 8.11 11.04 18.35 23.54 26.24 28.26
Kensington & Chelsea RB 7.88 16.47 18.08 19.94 24.28 - 30.21
Kingston upon Thames RB 19.06 18.54 8.25 23.97 23.91 25.63 35.36
Lambeth LB 10.93 10.51 16.46 22.15 23.10 - 25.51
Lewisham LB 7.30 8.40 10.20 12.47 15.86 22.26 20.55
Merton LB 15.01 14.81 20.29 22.59 25.05 27.10 30.37
11 The single set of National Indicators (NI) was announced by CLG in October 2007, following the Government's Comprehensive

Spending Review 2007. Effective from 1 April 2008, the NIS is the only set of indicators on which central government will performance
manage local government. It covers services delivered by local authorities alone and in partnership with other organisations like health
services and the police. The NI Set replaces all other existing sets of indicators including the BVPIs and the Performance Assessment
Framework (PAF). Performance against each of the national indicators will be published annually by the Audit Commission, as part of
Comprehensive Area Assessment (CAA)

12 Municipal waste management statistics for England and Government Office Regions are published as an annual (financial
year) National Statistic by the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). In 2004/5 data collection changed from
an annual spreadsheet survey to a quarterly web-based system (www.wastedataflow.org).

13 Local Area Agreements (LAAs) set out the priorities for a local area agreed between central government and a local area (the
local authority and Local Strategic Partnership) and other key partners at the local level.
14 www.gos.gov.uk/gol/

Page 33




Authority NI192 applies from 2008/09 onwards. Earlier years for broad comparison only Defra returns
2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09
Newham LB 4.16 5.51 6.23 10.13 13.58 14.40 15.40
Redbridge LB 9.97 12.26 15.54 17.37 18.60 22.38 26.25
Richmond LB 20.50 22.04 23.80 28.75 31.80 37.56 41.73
Southwark LB 4.66 7.08 10.84 15.07 18.61 20.01 20.89
Sutton LB 19.31 25.42 27.86 29.07 30.26 31.99 32.00
Tower Hamlets LB 3.36 5.09 7.35 9.06 11.87 13.15 19.33
Waltham Forest LB 10.16 11.71 18.14 21.85 27.73 29.21 27.84
Wandsworth LB 10.51 17.48 17.15 20.96 22.87 - 26.57

* National Indicators have been used by local authorities from 2008/09 onwards. The performance for the year 2002/03 to 2007/08
derives from estimates produced by the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs’ (Defra) waste statistics team and

provides an indication of what local authority performance would have been against the NI1192 if this indicator had been in operation
during the previous years.

Table 7 shows Brent’s performance compared to other local authorities in London for the following BVPIs for

2008/09:

e BVPI 82a — percentage of household waste arisings sent for recycling
® BVPI 82b — percentage of household waste arisings sent for composting or anaerobic digestion

Authority BVPI 82a (%) BVPI82b (%)
Barking and Dagenham LB 17.00 7.91
Barnet LB 17.86 13.28
Bexley LB 27.74 22.96
Brent LB 15.70 12.50
Bromley LB 28.64 7.73
Camden LB 22.37 5.87
City of London 33.88 0.62
Croydon LB 18.53 9.17
Ealing LB 22.69 12.37
East London Waste Authority 16.73 6.42
Enfield LB 16.18 10.94
Greenwich LB 22.39 19.38
Hackney LB 16.68 5.69
Hammersmith and Fulham LB 26.09 1.75
Haringey LB 16.47 5.98
Harrow LB 21.50 21.61
Havering LB 17.19 10.11
Hillingdon LB 21.59 13.73
Hounslow LB 17.82 5.70
Islington LB 22.91 5.29
Kensington and Chelsea RB 28.95 1.29
Kingston upon Thames RB 24.01 11.17
Lambeth LB 22.75 2.76
Lewisham LB 19.96 0.52
Merton LB 25.40 4.96
Newham LB 13.99 1.41
North London Waste Authority 17.88 8.85
Redbridge LB 19.11 7.14
Richmond upon Thames LB 27.87 12.77
Southwark LB 16.18 4.56
Sutton LB 25.52 6.86
Tower Hamlets LB 17.75 131
Waltham Forest LB 17.34 10.43
Wandsworth LB 26.06 0.50

Page 34




Authority BVPI 82a (%) BVPI82b (%)
West London Waste Authority 20.77 12.50
Western Riverside Waste Authority 25.22 2.37
Westminster City Council 21.80 1.24

Brent has invested heavily in its recycling service in recent years. The recycling rate has risen from 6 per cent
in 2002/03 to 28.20 per cent in 2008/09. The chart in figure 1 shows the total tonnage of household waste
collected in Brent over the period 2004/05 to 2008/09, indicating the tonnage recycled, composted, and

disposed of during each year.

The results show that between 2004/05 and 2008/09:
the total tonnage of household waste collected decreased from 117,410t to 106,619t
the total tonnage of household waste collected for recycling increased from 10,658 to 16,744
the total tonnage of household waste collected for composting increased from 6,108 to 13,330
the total tonnage of household waste sent to landfill decreased from 100,644t to 76,545t.

120000

100000

80000

60000

40000

20000

2004-05 2005-06 2006-07 2007-08 2008-09 2009-10

i Tonnes Landfilled
H Tonnes Composted

M Tonnes Recycled

The recycling rate has increased in Brent from 14.3 per cent in 2004/05 to 28.20 per cent in 2008/09, as shown
in table 8. With the introduction of the compulsory recycling policy in August 2008 recycling in the borough
increased from 22.20 per cent in 2007/08 to 28.20 per cent in 2008/09.

% Recycled % Composted Total %
2004-05 9.1 5.2 14.3
2005-06 10.9 9.1 20.0
2006-07 11.5 10.4 21.9
2007-08 13.4 8.8 22.2
2008-09 15.7 12.5 28.2

Page 35




The National Indicator Set launched in April 2008 contains a number of indicators which are informed by
citizens' views and perspectives. A number of these indicators are collected through a single Place Survey

administered by each local authority. The survey is carried out every two years and replaces the BVPI user
satisfaction surveys.

This section summarises residents’ satisfaction with the following services provided by the Council:
® residual waste collection

® kerbside recycling collection
® Reuse and Recycling Centre.

Satisfaction with residual waste collection has fallen by 3 per cent to 78 per cent in 2008/09. However, this is
still above the London average of 76 per cent. There is a 23 per cent gap in satisfaction across wards with the
highest satisfaction levels in Fryent at 88 per cent and the lowest in Stonebridge at 65 per cent.

Figure 2 provides additional information on trends in satisfaction with residual waste collection.

‘ W % Sdlished HW % Dissalislied

Trend data | Comparative data for 2008/09

l BEBE
o

B
. _ = = 3

Rrent Rrent Rrent I andon Inner Chiter  IM average
2003/04  2006/07  2008/09

Satisfaction with kerbside recycling has increased by 2 per cent to 72 per cent in 2008/09, which is above

London average of 68 per cent. There is a 29 per cent gap in satisfaction across wards with Tokyngton at 86
per cent and Barnhill at 57 per cent.

Figure 3 provides additional information on trends in satisfaction with kerbside recycling.

Page 36



‘ W % Sdlisiied M % Disszlishied

Trend data ' Comparative data for 2008/09

oo [l BHEAB

B
-

bGrent Crent Crent London Inner Quter  IM average
2003/04  2008/07 2008/09

Satisfaction with the Reuse and Recycling Centre has decreased by 6 per cent to 58 per cent, which is below
London average of 62 per cent. There is a 28 per cent gap in satisfaction across wards with the highest
satisfaction level in Tokyngton at 75 per cent and the lowest in Barnhill at 47 per cent.

Figure 4 provides additional information on trends in satisfaction with the local reuse and recycling centre.

m % Satisfied m % Dissatisfied

Trend data Comparative data for 2008/09

2003/04  2006/07  2008/09

Brent Brent Brent London Inner Outer M a\.reragel

Figure 5 shows the difference in satisfaction level with the local Reuse and Recycling Centre reported by Brent
residents and users of the Reuse and Recycling Centre.

B % residents satisfied m % service users satisfied

Local tips/ household waste _ 78
recycling centres _65

In addition to the results of the Place Survey, the Council has conducted a Residents’ Attitude Survey (RAS) at
least once every three years since 1990 and this is regarded as Brent’s key mechanism for measuring residents’
perception of the Council.

The last RAS was carried out in Brent in 2009 and the results showed significant differences recorded in
answers to the same or similar questions asked in both the Place Survey and RAS. In many cases the RAS
demonstrates respondents are more positive about the services the Council provides than seen in the Place
Survey results. Reasons for this difference are likely to be two-fold:

Page 37



the Place Survey is carried out by postal returns, while Brent’s RAS is carried out through face to face
interviews

the focus of the Place Survey is much more on the local area and how partner agencies are working
together to improve outcomes for local people rather than the local authority.

Table 9 shows some of the key differences reported by the Place Survey and Brent’s RAS together with a
comparison of past trends.

Overall satisfaction with the council RAS RAS Place BVPI
2009 2005 Survey Survey
2009 200617
Q15 Taking everything into account, how satisfied 65% 48% 45% 52%
or dissatisfied are you with the way Brent Council
runs things?
Satisfaction with the local area RAS RAS Place BVPI
2009 2005 survey Survey
2009 2006/7
Q1 Thinking about your local area how satisfied / 83% 75% 68% 59%
dissatisfied are you with this area as a place to
live

Q12 How satisfied or dissatisfied are you with Difference in

the quality of each of the following services in Satisfaction

your local area? 2009 2005 2005 to 09
% Satisfied

Refuse collection 86 30 16

Recycling facilities 81 65 +16

Street sweeping 79 63 +16

Page 38



As a society, we are living beyond our environmental means and consuming natural resources at an
unsustainable rate. If every country consumed natural resources at the rate the UK does, we would need
three planets to support us. Everyone in the UK needs to make the transition towards the goal of “One Planet
Living”™>.

The most crucial threat from exceeding environmental limits is from climate change. What we do about waste
is a significant part of how we treat our environment.

Climate change has recently become a key driver for the development of waste management policy. Waste
sent to landfill degrades slowly without oxygen, producing methane, which is 25 times more potent as a
greenhouse gas than carbon dioxide. Emissions from landfill contribute to 3 per cent of the national carbon
emissions or 17,328,000 MtCO,e, (2008)*°.

The waste hierarchy lies at the heart of sustainable waste management and is the guiding principle of waste
policy. Each stage of the waste hierarchy provides the optimal method of waste management and has varying
degrees of impact on climate change. The waste hierarchy is shown in figure 6.

( B _

Reduction
\. J
' A

Reuse
\. J

—— Greater carbon savings
\

Recycling or composting (including anaerobic digestion)
\. J
' A

Treatment of waste through energy recovery

technologies generating electricity and using waste
\_heat y, -
' \ —

Treatment of waste through energy recovery
technologies generating electricity only
\ / ~— Higher carbon emissions
~
Landfill
—

. J

Source: Mayor of London’s draft municipal waste management strategy (2010)

Reduction and reuse options should be considered first as they minimise the demand for new resources and
energy, reducing the need (both in terms of costs and environmental impact) for waste treatment and disposal
facilities.

15 One Planet Living is a global initiative based on ten principles of sustainability developed by BioRegional and WWF. The
guiding ten principles are: zero carbon, zero waste, sustainable transport, local and sustainable materials, local and sustainable food,
sustainable water, natural habits and wildlife, culture and heritage, equity and fair trade, health and happiness

16 DECC statistical release.
Page 39



Preference should then be given to recycling or composting at source, which avoids emissions that would
otherwise have been produced from manufacturing virgin materials.

Any waste remaining (residual waste) should be treated to recover as much additional recyclable material as
possible. This can be done by giving preference to technologies that treat residual waste to generate both
heat and power.

Landfill is the least preferred waste treatment method.

Reducing and reusing waste, recycling materials and recovering the energy from waste that cannot be recycled
preserves virgin materials and reduces the use of fossil fuels, thus moving us towards one planet living.

In 2008/09 Brent residents generated nearly 107,000 tonnes of waste of which nearly 77,000 ended up in
landfill. Disposal of biodegradable municipal waste (BMW)" to landfill results in emissions of methane (CH,), a
greenhouse gas 21 times more powerful than carbon dioxide (CO,) which adds to global warming and climate
change.

Changing how we deal with our waste requires action by all of us. Many people in Brent recognise this and
support waste reduction, reuse and recycling activities, but we need to do more so that new sustainable
behaviours are embedded across all aspects of our lives.

Waste management policy is guided by national and European legislation. Appendix A summarises the key
legislation and policies that the Council has considered during the development of the new waste collection
strategy.
In particular the waste collection strategy was developed taking account of the three following waste
management strategies:

Waste Strategy for England (2007)

Mayor of London’s draft Municipal Waste Management Strategy (2010)

West London Waste Authority’s Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (2006).

The following box summarises the vision, objectives and targets of the Waste Strategy for England (WS2007).

Vision

All parts of society will have to share responsibility:
producers will have to make products using more recycled materials and less newly extracted raw materials.
They will have to design products that are less wasteful and take responsibility for the environmental impact of
their products throughout their life
retailers will have to reduce packaging, source and market products that are less wasteful, and help their
consumers to be less wasteful
consumers — both business and individual households — will have the opportunity to reduce their own waste,
purchase products and services that generate less waste and reduce environmental impacts, and separate their
waste for recycling
local authorities will have to commission or provide convenient recycling services for their residents and
commercial customers and advice and information on how to reduce waste. They will also have to work with
their communities to plan and invest in new collection and reprocessing facilities
the waste management industry will have to invest in facilities to recycle and recover waste, and provide
convenient waste services to their customers to recycle and recover their waste.

Objectives
decouple waste growth from economic growth and put more emphasis on waste prevention and re-use
meet and exceed the Landfill Directive diversion targets for biodegradable municipal waste
secure the investment in infrastructure needed to divert waste from landfill
get the most environmental benefit from that investment, through increased recycling of resources and recovery
of energy from residual waste using a mix of technologies.

17 BMW is a type of waste, typically originating from plants or animal sources, which may be broken down by other living
organisms. Biodegradable waste can be commonly found ipnéugniceipzibolid waste as green waste, food waste and paper.




Targets
annual greenhouse gas emission — reduction of 10 million tonnes of CO, equivalent'® by 2020. This equates to
annual net reductions in global greenhouse gas emissions from waste management of at least 9.3 million tonnes
of CO, equivalent per year compared to 2006
household residual waste - reduce the amount of household waste not re-used, recycled or composted from
over 22.2 million tonnes in 2000 by 29 per cent to 15.8 million tonnes in 2010 with an aspiration to reduce it to
12.2 million tonnes in 2020 — a reduction of 45 per cent. This is equivalent to a fall of 50 per cent per person
(from 450 kg per person in 2000 to 225 kg in 2020)
household waste recycling - at least 40 per cent by 2010, 45 per cent by 2015 and 50 per cent by 2020
municipal waste recovery — 53 per cent by 2010, 67 per cent by 2015 and 75 per cent by 2020.

WS2007 targets key materials with the greatest scope for improving the environmental and economic
outcomes of waste management.

Priority waste materials have been identified on the basis of the evidence on potential reduction of
greenhouse gas emissions resulting from diversion from landfill, greater segregation and sorting by households
and increased recovery. The key materials are: paper, food, glass, aluminium, wood, plastic and textiles.

The chart in figure 7 shows the potential greenhouse gas savings from diverting a tonne of each of the key
waste materials identified in WS2007%.

12,000 —

kg CO sawved per tonne weste treated

[l kg O, saved as a result of not kndfiling W ko CO, saved as a result of recycling
kg CO, saved as @ result of anasnobic digestion kg €0y sawed as a result of composting
kg €O, saved a5 a result of Incineration B kg €0, sved as a result of CHP added to Incneration
20
18 CO2 equivalent is a metric measure used to compare the emissions from various greenhouse gases (GHG) based upon their

global warming potential (GWP). CO2 equivalents are commonly expressed as “million metric tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalents
(MtCO2e)”. The CO2 equivalent for a gas is derived by multiplying the tonnes of the gas by the associated GWP. MtCO2e = (million
metric tonnes of a gas) x (GWP of the gas). For example, the GWP for methane (CH4) is 25 and for nitrous oxide (N20) 298. This means
that emissions of 1IMtCH4 and 1MtN20 respectively is equivalent to emissions of 25 and 298 MtCO2e [definition source: EEA]

19 The carbon benefits identified assume that: paper and card, textiles, plastics, metals and glass are recycled, wood is
incinerated with energy recovery, food waste is anaerobically (in the absence of oxygen) digested and garden/plant waste is
composted.

20 The GLA Act 1999, as amended, places a requirement on the Mayor of London to produce a municipal waste management
strategy. The GLA 2007 amended the previous Act and places a requirement on London boroughs to act in general conformity with the

Mayor's Waste Strategy.
Page 41




The Mayor of London published the draft municipal waste management strategy, “London Wasted Resource”
in January 2010. The Mayor has already consulted on this strategy with the London Assembly and GLA's
Functional Bodies?. He will publish the strategy for consultation with the public and stakeholders in mid-
2010. Itis expected that the strategy will be published in its final form by winter 2010.

The following box summarises the Mayor’s proposed vision, objectives and targets for municipal waste
management in London.

Vision
To become a world leader in municipal waste management

Objectives
To provide Londoners with the knowledge, infrastructure and incentives to change the way we manage
municipal waste: to reduce the amount of waste generated, encourage the repair and reuse of items that are
currently thrown away, and to recycle or compost as much material as possible
To minimise the impact of municipal waste management on our environment including reducing the carbon
footprint of London’s municipal waste
To unlock the massive economic value of London’s municipal waste through increased levels of reuse, recycling,
composting and the generation of clean energy from waste
To manage the bulk of London’s municipal waste within London’s boundary, through investment in new waste
infrastructure.

Targets
To achieve zero municipal waste direct to landfill by 2025 (particularly zero untreated waste to landfill)
To reduce the amount of household waste produced in 2008/09 from 970kg per household to 790kg per
household by 2031. This is equivalent to a 20 per cent reduction per household. This equates to a one per cent
per year reduction, in line with recent trends. There will be no overall increase in total household waste
generated in 2008/09 by 2031
To increase London’s capacity to reuse or repair municipal waste from approximately 10,000 tonnes each year in
2008 to 40,000 tonnes a year in 2012 and 120,000 tonnes a year in 2031
To recycle or compost at least 45 per cent of municipal waste by 2015, 50 per cent by 2020 and 60 per cent by
2031%
In addition to the above targets, the Mayor will set a greenhouse gas reduction target for London’s municipal
waste, following detailed waste modelling.

To achieve the Mayor’s objectives and targets, the strategy identifies six policy areas, each containing a
number of proposals. A selection of the proposals®® relevant to the Council’s waste collection strategy are
summarised in the following box.

Policy One: Informing producers and consumers of the value of reducing, reusing and recycling municipal waste
The Mayor wants London to lead the way in waste reduction and believes that reducing the amount of
unnecessary packaging through better product design and smarter purchasing habits is the key to achieving this
The Mayor also wants to significantly boost London’s reuse performance and will develop a strategic reuse
network across London with third sector organisations and public bodies, supporting the repair and reuse of
discarded materials.

Policy Two: Setting a greenhouse gas standard for municipal waste management activities to reduce their impact on
climate change.
The Mayor wants the management of all London’s municipal waste to achieve a positive carbon outcome. The
Mayor will set a greenhouse gas standard that municipal waste management activities and technologies will

21 The GLA group comprises the Greater London Authority and its four functional bodies: Transport for London (TfL), The
London Development Agency (LDA), the London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA) and the Metropolitan Police Authority
(MPA).
22 The Mayor’s targets for London’s municipal waste are more ambitious than those set in WS2007. The Mayor has not set a
recovery target. The Mayor’s preferred approach is for energy recovery from any waste remaining after reuse, recycling and
composting options have been exhausted.
23 The Mayor’s draft strategy for public consultation in mid 2010 will include a detailed implementation plan setting out how
the polices and proposals will be implemented and monitogad

P i P Page 42




need to meet. Generating clean, efficient energy from London’s municipal waste in London will play an
important role in meeting the Mayor’s commitment to a target of a 60 per cent reduction in London’s CO,
emissions (on 1990 levels) by 2025.

Policy Three: Capturing the economic benefits of waste management
The Mayor will seek to provide investment, through the London Waste and Recycling Board, to help waste
authorities and the private sector establish waste management facilities that achieve the greatest reductions in
greenhouse gas emissions
The Mayor will work with waste authorities to tackle barriers that make it hard for the third sector to deliver
local authority reuse and recycling services.

Policy Four: Achieving 45 per cent municipal waste recycling or composting performance by 2015, 50 per cent by 2020,
and 60 per cent by 2031.
The Mayor will explore the potential with the London Waste and Recycling Board to fund infrastructure
measures to encourage increase in recycling rates from flats, particularly in social housing
The Mayor will work with waste authorities to increase Londoners’ use of local Reuse and Recycling Centres
The Mayor will work with waste authorities, the GLA group functional bodies, and the private sector to provide
“on-the-go” recycling bins across London
The Mayor will work with waste authorities, using local media and marketing, to link local recycling and
composting campaigns with regional initiatives through Recycle for London.

Policy Five: Catalysing waste infrastructure, particularly low carbon technologies
The Mayor wants London’s waste sites to move up the value chain, moving away from low-value bulking and
transfer facilities to state-of-the-art resource recovery parks, providing benefits to local communities in the form
of new products, employment, and heat and power.

Policy Six: Improving Londoners’ quality of life
The Mayor will support and develop education campaigns that aim to change behaviour on littering and fly-
tipping.
The Mayor will encourage boroughs to recycle or compost their street cleaning waste wherever practicable.

The West London Waste Authority (WLWA) is the waste disposal authority for the six London boroughs of
Brent, Ealing, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow and Richmond upon Thames.

As a waste disposal authority, it is responsible for the treatment and disposal of household and municipal
waste arisings from the six boroughs’ activities.

In two tier waste authority areas, there is a statutory duty on waste disposal authorities under section 32 of
the Waste and Emissions Trading (WET) 2003 Act to produce a joint municipal waste management strategy®
(JMWMS) for their area.

WLWA and its constituent boroughs produced and adopted a IMWMS in 2006.
The following box summarises the eight policies included in the strategy, which represent the framework for
waste management in West London.

Policy 1: Compliance with national legislation
Current and future policy development will have regard to the National and Mayor of London’s Municipal Waste
Management Strategies and other relevant national, regional and local guidance.

Policy 2: Waste reduction and reuse
West London Waste Authority and its constituent Boroughs will prioritise waste reduction and waste reuse.

Policy 3: Recycling and composting

24 Sections 32 and 33 of the Waste and Emissions Trading (WET) Act require authorities in two-tier areas to develop joint
municipal waste management strategies, subject to the exemptions set out in section 33. Authorities are required to:
¢ have in place a joint strategy for their municipal waste
e review and keep any strategy up to date
e send a statement of the joint strategy to the Secretary of State and the Environment Agency. Authorities in Greater London should
also send their statement of strategy to the Mayor of Londo

& Y Page 43




Jointly, the West London Waste Authority and constituent Boroughs will aim to recycle and compost at least:
e 28% of municipal waste by 2006/7
*  40% of municipal waste by 2010
*  50% of municipal waste by 2020

Policy 4: Recycling and composting
The collection authorities will serve all households with recycling collections of at least four materials by 2008.

Policy 5: Landfill
West London Waste Authority and its constituent boroughs will reduce biodegradable municipal waste landfilled with
regard to the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme.

Policy 6: Residual waste management
West London Waste Authority and constituent boroughs will seek a residual waste management solution in accordance
with the waste hierarchy, that presents value for money and that offers reliability in the long term.

Policy 7: Other waste management services and streams”
The West London Waste Authority and constituent boroughs will seek to provide waste management services that offer
good value, that provide customer satisfaction and that meet and exceed legislative requirements.

Policy 8: Sharing burdens
The West London Waste Authority and constituent boroughs will work together to achieve the aims of this strategy and
are committed to share equitably the costs and rewards of achieving its aims.

Section 32 of the WET Act requires waste authorities to keep their strategies up to date. In 2009 WLWA
produced and adopted an addendum to the JIMWMS. The addendum identified that the following aspects
need to be considered in the WLWA JIMWMS:
Impact of changes to national legislation since adoption of the IMWMS in 2006
*  WS2007 was published after the WLWA JMWMS. The overall objectives of the JMWMS are
broadly consistent with those of the national waste strategy. However, WS2007 includes
some additional key themes which will need to be considered when a formal review of the
JMWMS is undertaken and new action plans are developed
Target for reducing residual waste
* WS2007 contains a national target for reducing the amount of residual waste produced per
person to 225kg per year in 2020. The IMWMS does not include a target for reducing residual
waste
Recycling, composting and recovery targets
* The targets in the IMWMS for recycling and composting are broadly in line with WS2007.
However, there is currently no target for 2015 in the JMWMS whereas this is specified as a 45
per cent target for England as a whole in WS2007.
* Similarly, there is no recovery target set in the JMWMS. However, the recovery targets set in
WS2007 are closely linked to the LATS allowances allocated to WLWA.
Carbon implications of the strategy
* |In WS2007 there is a considerable focus on climate change and the carbon impacts of waste
management operations. A key outcome of the WS2007 is to seek the reduction of net
greenhouse gas emissions from waste management operations.
* The JMWMS does not specifically identify any carbon-related targets and CO, impacts need to
be developed into specific policy objectives.

In 2009 WLWA and its constituent waste collection authorities agreed “in principle” a new vision for JMWMS.
The new vision is set out as follows:
to establish a better partnership with constituent boroughs

25 Other waste management services include street cleansing, bulky waste management and trade waste collections. Other
waste management streams include hazardous waste, elecﬁonic eequ‘ifzjent, abandoned vehicles and clinical waste.




to take a lead role in delivering the boroughs’ climate change and carbon management agendas on
waste management issues

to become a resource management authority rather than a waste disposal authority

to champion waste reduction and minimisation in West London

to reuse, recycle, compost or recover 70 per cent of municipal waste

to send zero waste to landfill

to be London’s exemplar Resource Management Partnership.

The vision is expected to strengthen the focus on partnership working and managing waste as a resource.
Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure that any new targets and objectives can be implemented
efficiently and effectively. Therefore new action plans will need to be developed to implement the vision and
the objectives of the IMWMS.

This does not exclude that the IMWMS and its policies will undergo a formal review in the near future.

The waste collection strategy was developed as one of the key initiatives of the Council’s Improvement and
Efficiency Action Plan 2010-2014%°. The Action Plan was developed by Brent to respond to the consequences
of the national budget deficit upon local government as a provider of local public services. It recognises that
while the financial context will place pressures on the Council, the organisation will not reduce its ambitions
for service improvement and service excellence.

The waste collection strategy is developed within this context and aims to achieve efficiency savings target
through waste collection and disposal savings.

The scope of the Council’s waste collection strategy is to map out the direction of travel for household waste
management in Brent over the next five years.

The waste collection strategy covers household waste only and focuses on the following aspects of the waste
hierarchy: reduction, reuse, recycling and composting.

The WLWA's IMWMS is the statutory strategy developed by WLWA working in partnership with the waste
collection authorities. The scope of the IMWMS is to identify the most appropriate management route for all
municipal waste arising in the WLWA region and the JIMWMS covers all aspects of waste management,
including reduction, reuse, recycling, composting, the management and treatment of residual waste and final
disposal to landfill.

Brent Council, residents and communities make the transition towards the goal of “One Planet Living”.
Waste is no longer a drag on the economy and the environment, but it is treated as a resource. The damaging
climate change impacts of waste are minimised.

Sustainable waste management is a shared responsibility in Brent:
residents understand that responsible waste management is a key part of wider actions to keep within
environmental limits:
* they reduce their own waste, purchase products and services that generate less waste
* they recognise the value of products that can be repaired or reused
* they increase the amount of waste that can be separated for recycling and composting as
much as possible
the Council works effectively with communities and local partners to manage household waste more
sustainably and prioritise actions higher up the waste hierarchy as is reasonably achievable:

26 The action plan is a programme of projects designﬁ to reconfigure the way in which services are provided to residents.
age 45



* opportunities and information for residents about waste reduction and reuse are widely
available
* recycling and composting services are successful and widely used; participation by residents
and capture of materials maximised
WLWA is a resource management authority working in partnership with the waste collection
authorities to plan and invest in new collection and reprocessing facilities to implement the vision of
sending zero waste to landfill and waste plays an effective role in a sustainable long term energy

policy.

To encourage greater consideration by residents and communities of waste as a resource through
emphasis on reduction, reuse, recycling and composting

To stimulate investment on reduction and reuse initiatives and take maximum advantage of the
economic opportunities that such initiatives could represent for Brent residents

To stimulate investment in recycling and composting collection schemes to deliver better coordinated
services on the ground, improve the environmental performance of waste management operations
and achieve high recycling and composting targets

To target action on materials with greatest scope for improving environmental and economic
outcomes

To achieve efficiency savings and deliver value for money services

To increase the engagement with partners, residents and communities by communicating and
supporting the needed behavioural change

To work with the waste and recycling collection contractor to secure markets for the materials
collected for recycling and composting

To work with WLWA to secure investment in the infrastructure needed to divert waste from landfill.

The waste collection strategy is developed in an evolving policy context.
At national level, previous Government started a consultation on proposals to introduce landfill bans
on key materials, revising the national recycling and composting targets for household waste and
proposing to introduce a new national indicator to measure the greenhouse gas impact of waste
management operations (refer to appendix A). The future policy landscape for waste management
will also need to reflect the priorities of the new Government, which announced in June a full review
of national waste policy
At regional level, the Mayor of London has recently published a new draft municipal waste
management strategy, which will not be adopted until late 2010. The strategy proposes to introduce
new waste reduction and reuse targets as well as setting a new greenhouse gas reduction target for
London’s municipal waste. The Mayor has also issued in 2009 a draft replacement London Plan (see
appendix A)
At sub-regional level, WLWA’s JMWMS was adopted in 2006. In 2009 an addendum and a new vision
for the strategy were produced and adopted. This does not exclude that the Strategy and its policies
will undergo a formal review in the near future.

The targets identified in this strategy reflect the policy context described above. The Council is proposing to
set the following overarching targets for the strategy:

Household waste reduction - There will be no overall increase in total household waste generated in
Brent between 2009/10 and 2014/15 despite increases in overall household numbers?’

27 This target is consistent with the proposed target set in the Mayor of London’s draft municipal waste management strategy.
This target will need to be kept under review, as the Mayor’s strategy will not be published in its final form until winter 2010. In
addition there is no waste reduction target in the WLWA’s IMWMS, therefore Brent Council will need to consider the target set by
WLWA when the JMWMS undergoes a formal review

Page 46



Household waste reuse and recycling target — to reuse, recycle and compost 40 per cent of household
waste by 2011/12, rising to 50 per cent by 2014/15 and aspiring to 60 per cent by 2019/20%

Efficiency savings target — to achieve an efficiency savings target of at least £500,000 in waste
management operations by the first full year of operation of the new waste collection service
Residents’ satisfaction with residual waste and recycling collection services — retain the same level of
satisfaction achieved in the 2008/09 Brent Place Survey Results and the 2009 Brent Customer
Satisfaction Surveys

Further work needs to be undertaken to ensure that any additional targets and objectives can be implemented
efficiently and effectively in Brent, particularly with regard to initiatives related to the reduction of greenhouse
gas emissions from waste management operations.
The Council has not set at this stage a specific reduction target for greenhouse gas emissions, for the following
reasons:
¢ The Mayor of London is currently undertaking detailed waste modelling and will set a greenhouse gas
reduction target for London’s municipal waste management activities to reduce their impact on
climate change when his draft strategy is published for public consultation in summer 2010
e The WLWA’s IMWMS does not specifically identify any carbon-related targets and it is anticipated that
these targets will be identified as part of future reviews of the strategy.

The Council will publish regular implementation plans to:
® report on progress made against strategy targets
* make sure that the strategy and its policies adapt to external developments, as new policy, legislation
and evidence base become available
e provide a route map for how the strategy’s objectives, targets, policies and proposals will be achieved
e demonstrate how successful engagement with Brent’s communities has delivered on the priorities of
the strategy

The remaining chapters of the strategy introduce new policies and proposals which will allow the Council to
meet the overall targets set in this chapter. Each of the following chapters is structured as follows:

a vision — explaining what the Council aims to achieve in a policy area

vision to policy — explaining the Council’s overarching policy which will achieve the vision

policy to action — explaining the specific actions and proposals that the Council will take to achieve the

policy.

The following diagram provides a graphic representation of the structure of the strategy and shows how the
specific policies and proposals are linked to the overarching vision, objectives and targets.

28 This target exceeds the national, regional and WLWA recycling and composting targets. The Council believes that the new
waste collection services proposed in this strategy will reach high levels of recycling and composting. In addition, further rates of
diversion from landfill will be achieved by working with West London Waste Authority and the constituent waste collection authorities
to identify and procure additional treatment facilities to deal with the residual waste which is not collected for recycling and
composting. This will ensure a reduction of the untreated rﬁ;idual wait?sent to landfill

age



—

/ Overall Vision for

waste 3

management o

=

— c

(=]

>

——— &

9]

Strategy ®

L =

Objectives 3

(]

—— =

-

oo

——————\ £

o

Strategy H

\ Targets x
— Ny

4 ~
r r Meread—\ ( r \ r
Waste Recycling — Recycling — R:‘cjssli:n Bins in Public Communication Community Waste §' g
Prevention Kerbside Flats yeing Places Engagement Education ©° E
L Centre ) L a

. .

(r 4 4 N\ N\ N\ 4 g ( b
Vision for Vision for Vision for flats Vision for RRC Vision for bins Vision for Vision for Vision for c
waste kerbside recycling in public Communication community waste g
prevention schemes places engagement education =3

\. \. \ J \ J \\ \. \. \.
\. . J
Ve ~
a9 (. ( (. (. ( ( (o
Policy 1 Policy 2 Policy 3 Policy 4 Policy 5 Policy 6 Policy 7 Policy 8 g al
Supporting G 8 %
icies 1 - [-%
L L Policies1-8 L ) L ) L L L L >
. " Y
4 4
a - o 4 4 N\ a . - c
Praposals Proposals Proposal Proposal Proposals 13 - Proposals Proposal Proposal 5
1-8 9-10 11 12 14 15-18 19 20 o°* 05
L . . 7 \. \. .. . . L o <

Following the consultation period,
accordingly before this is adopted.

It is expected that the waste collection strategy will be formally adopted by the end of 2010.

Page 48

the Council will review the responses received and amend the

strategy



Figure 8 shows the elements of the waste hierarchy as defined by the European Environment Agency® that fall
within the scope of waste prevention activities.

The activities and initiatives included in this chapter focus on reduction and reuse, as avoidance often includes
activities like product design and production of goods which fall outside of the scope and control of individual
local authorities and are subject to national and European initiatives.

Waste reduction®® and reuse®! are activities at the top of the waste hierarchy. They represent the most
sustainable way of not producing waste that might have to go to landfill and are therefore favoured in most
circumstances. The waste hierarchy demonstrates that by not generating waste in the first place, we can also
reduce the demand for new resources as well as the associated costs and environmental impact of managing
waste through recycling, energy recovery and disposal.

The environmental benefits of producing less waste far outweigh the benefits of collecting materials for
recycling. Recycling helps to reduce the amount of waste sent for disposal but it will not solve the problem of
the amount of waste that is being produced. If waste is recycled it is necessary for it to be collected and
reprocessed, which involves transportation, energy use and consumption of water.

Waste prevention not only reduces this requirement but also saves on the use of valuable raw materials.

Because we do not live in isolation, the food we eat, the clothes we buy, the products and services we procure
have an effect on other communities, other environments and other economies. Through making small
changes in the way we buy products and services we can make a difference and local waste policy must reflect
and build upon the desire for a culture of waste prevention.

If we are to work towards this aspiration, we need to build a common understanding of the implications of
waste and to develop programmes of ‘waste literacy and waste accounting’ in Brent, as production,
consumption and waste disposal patterns are currently incompatible with sustainable living.

Reducing the amount of household waste produced in Brent is the Council’s top priority, as demonstrated by
the target in the strategy to maintain the overall household waste arisings in Brent at the same levels of
2009/10 until 2014/15 despite increases in household numbers.

29 www.eea.europa.eu/

30 Waste reduction involves action taken by consumers to avoid waste and by local authorities to discourage waste generation
through promoting initiatives like home composting, unwanted mail as well as controlling how waste services are accessed.

31 Waste reuse involves the repair, refurbishment or other reuse of materials that have become waste but they do not require

immediate recycling, recovery or disposal. Waste reuse therefore either reduces or delays waste generation but does not necessarily
prevent waste in all cases, and is therefore lower in the wasbgegreécfzgmn waste reduction.



Waste reduction and reuse have become high priorities for Brent residents and this is reflected in the Council’s
approach to its waste management practices and policies which nurture and sustain waste prevention
behaviour. The Council has increased the provision of prevention activities and initiatives in the local area.
Brent residents have increased their understanding of the environmental, legislative, social and economic
advantages of waste prevention activities. They are aware of the impact that their individual decisions have
on the amount of waste produced and understand that their behaviour has an effect on the cost of waste
management. Brent residents take actions to reduce the amount of waste produced and reuse as much of the
waste that cannot be prevented as possible.

There are numerous interventions that local authorities can put in place to promote waste prevention.

The selection of waste prevention initiatives is influenced by various factors, particularly:
different waste prevention activities tend to influence different waste streams and can therefore
contribute in various degrees to the amount of diversion that can be achieved through their
implementation
different waste prevention initiatives influence different behaviours therefore there is a need to
consider the balance between reach and effectiveness and to focus resources where the most impact
will be achieved
research indicates that there is a difference between encouraging recycling and the more complex
behaviour change required for waste prevention
waste reduction can be hard to measure - it is often difficult to demonstrate the direct link between
specific interventions and initiatives introduced by local authorities to reduce the amount of waste
produced and the measurable waste reduction achievements
waste reuse is still under developed in London and it may be some time before local initiatives can be
developed in Brent.

The Council will:
improve its understanding of the nature of household waste and the elements of this waste that can
be influenced
implement activities and initiatives that have a demonstrable effect on reducing the amount of waste
produced and contribute to the delivery of the objectives and targets in this strategy
identify activities where the necessary supporting infrastructure is still under developed and where
additional research is needed before successful implementation in Brent would be granted
help create behaviour change amongst local residents through the development of effective
communications campaigns which support waste prevention initiatives
ensure a joined up approach to partnership working with other public, private and third sector
organisations
make best use of future funding opportunities which will help the Council implement waste prevention
initiatives.

The Council will develop and implement annual waste reduction and reuse plans. The plans will be developed
by working closely with residents and community organisations. The first waste reduction and reuse plan will
be developed by April 2011. The annual plans will include the details of the scope, purpose, timetable, budget
commitment and expected outcomes for all activities and initiatives included in the plans.

The following section provides an overview of the most common waste prevention activities and initiatives
used by local authorities.

Page 50



The decision to include waste prevention activities in the Council’s waste reduction and reuse plans will be
assessed using the following criteria:

potential impact on reducing the overall amount of waste collected by the Council

contribution to waste prevention and recycling targets

ease of behaviour change associated with the initiative

cost of running the scheme

fit with other projects run by the Council

ease of implementation and longevity of the initiative

other environmental benefits.

The most popular method of composting is the decomposition of biodegradable waste in open-bottomed
containers. Home composting is beneficial in that it enables householders to put organic value back in to their
soil without loss of natural habitat (such as through peat extraction), without use of artificial fertilisers which
contribute to climate change. Home composting improves soil composition, improves biodiversity and helps
gardens retain moisture.

Waste Strategy 2007 states that 20 per cent of household waste is made up of garden waste, 17 per cent
kitchen waste and 18 per cent paper and board, as shown in figure 9.

Metal Disposable

cans/foil nappies
Plastic i1ac 3% 2%
22U Textiles= 7@ £

Thim 3%

Garden waste
20%

Scran metal/
n metal

white goods
5%

Wood/

furniture
5%

Paper and board
Glass 18%
7%

General
household

sweepings .
ch;),, 9 Kitchen waste
o 17%

Source: Dr Julian Parfitt

Home composting specifically tackles those elements of the household waste stream that make the largest
contributions to landfill both in terms of weight and carbon impacts. In addition, the material streams that can
be home composted — garden waste and food waste — have been predicted to be two of the three fastest
growing components of household waste in the future, making home composting a key waste prevention
initiative.

The Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP)** estimates that residents using home compost bins can
compost up to 150kg/hh/year® (equivalent to 2.88kg/hh/week).

The home composting initiative started in Brent in 2001. Since then over 4,300 home compost bins have been
distributed, an average of 480 per year. Map 9 shows where home compost bins have been sold in Brent.

32 www.wrap.org.uk
33 The diversion figure is mostly relevant to home composting schemes which offer additional support to participants
Page 51



Compost Bins requested between L] »
il 4B A i mmed i me R womman i w i e
¥ ,.“q: 13 AP LUV 4TI 20 WIATChn ZUiU inciusive r-yﬁ
T W Sam
P Ter, S by
g **:‘:A"",“‘"‘: g\ Legend

s ol
an A Ak )
\ @ M‘A\ +  Compost Bin Requssts

= 7 / S tt:g DY

Home compost bins, made from recycled plastics, are available to households with access to a private garden
in 220 or 330 litre sizes at a subsidised rate of £5. Each home compost bin is also accompanied by a booklet
with provides additional information on how to produce compost. Home compost bins are promoted at
Brent’s events and festivals and sold at the Reuse and Recycling centre during Composting Awareness Week in
May each year. The Council offers free home compost bins to schools and other educational institutions.

Aim

Targets

to continue with the provision of subsidised home compost bins to residents with access to a garden
and include this activity in the first waste reduction and reuse plan

to provide residents with up-to-date information and guidance as to how they can maximise the
benefits of home composting

to provide a home composting project which is complementary with the organic waste collection
service offered by the Council.

The Council has not set specific targets for the project in this consultation document as it intends to carry out
additional research before the first waste reduction and reuse plan is produced by April 2011, aiming to:

gather additional information on housing stock and average garden size

use Brent’s Geographical Information System to identify clusters in the borough where uptake is likely
to be most successful

establish a minimum target level of households with gardens that will use home compost bins. The
introduction of specific targets for the number of home compost bins will allow the Council to
measure the impact of the campaign

secure financial resources to promote the scheme

develop communications campaigns to provide information on the environmental benefits of home
composting, how to make compost and increase take up. Specific targets will be developed as part of
the annual communications plans (refer to chapter 8)

lead by example by piloting composting of food waste generated within the StreetCare service unit in
2010 and explore expanding this commitment across all Council service areas at the new Civic Centre.

Target Audience

Brent residents with access to a private garden.

Page 52



Behaviour Change Needed
to buy a home compost bin and consistently use the bin for compostable food and garden waste
to put aside compostable food in the kitchen for deposit in the compost bin.

Community composting takes place where organic materials are collected by a group of residents and taken to
be composted locally. The advantages of community composting over large scale centralised composting are
reduced environmental impacts and costs, and the social benefits to the community. Community composting
would benefit residents living in purpose-built and multi-occupancy dwellings with no access to private
gardens.

Aim
to carry out research to establish opportunities for facilitating the introduction of community
composting projects in Brent by providing advice to housing associations, landlords and residents
to facilitate the provision of a service which suits the requirements of different housing types and
meets the variety of needs of Brent’s residents.

Targets

to carry out research and produce a briefing paper for senior officers and elected members to
highlight the cost benefits of setting up community composting projects in Brent. This research will
also complement the Council’s proposal to identify suitable blocks of flats where food waste collection
schemes will be piloted (refer to chapter 5)

to attend/facilitate events and workshops with community groups and residents associations to
establish the level of interest in community composting projects in Brent.

Target audience
Brent residents living in purpose-built and multi-occupancy dwellings with no access to private
gardens.

Behaviour change needed
To put aside compostable waste for deposit in communal bins to be used for communal grounds and
allotments.

WS2007 identifies food waste as one of the key waste materials with greatest scope for improving
environmental and economic outcomes and upon which concerted action by all sectors of society is required.
Food waste is a very important component of the household waste stream to focus on, because it makes up
such a large proportion of household waste and it is expected to be one of the fastest growing household
waste streams in future.

Disposal of food waste in landfill is a major contributor to the production of greenhouse gases in the UK. This
is because once in landfill, food breaks down anaerobically** producing methane.

We throw away food for two main reasons: we cook or prepare too much, and we let food go off either
completely unopened or opened and started but not finished. WRAP’s Love Food Hate Waste campaign®
encourages behavioural change and enables action by promoting understanding of how much food is wasted
by households. The campaign estimates that:

we throw away around one third of the food we buy. Total food waste is calculated to be

5.3kg/hh/week which equates to 270kg/hh/year

61 per cent of this food waste could have been eaten making this waste avoidable

the most common reason for food being wasted is that it’s left unused

34 In the absence of oxygen
35 www.lovefoodhatewaste.com

Page 53



a typical household wastes food worth £420 each year.

WRAP estimates that avoiding food waste is nine times better for the environment than the best collection
and treatment option and that a household committed to reducing food waste throws away 78kg per year less
than one that is not committed.

Food waste prevention therefore represents a big win in terms of both weight and carbon reductions.

Since 2007 the Council has promoted the Love Food Hate Waste campaign in local supermarkets and the local
press.

Aim
to continue to run the Love Food Hate Waste awareness campaign locally and include this activity in
the first waste reduction and reuse plan
to work in partnership with WRAP, Recycle for London®® and WLWA to identify opportunities to deliver
joint communications campaigns to make residents aware of the significant savings to be made
through food waste prevention, in terms of landfill tonnage, carbon impacts and household
expenditure (refer to chapter 8)
to provide a better integration between the Love Food Hate Waste awareness campaign and the
introduction of the new food waste collection scheme for all street level properties and suitable blocks
of flats (refer to chapters 4 and 5) so that more food waste is diverted from landfill.

Targets
The Council has not set specific targets for the project in this consultation document as it intends to carry out
additional research before the first waste reduction and reuse plan is developed by April 2011, aiming to:
review past communications campaigns focused on food waste prevention delivered locally
develop the relationship with WRAP and Recycle for London so as to integrate local campaigns with
regional and national campaigns
work with WLWA and the constituent authorities to seek opportunities for external funding to
resource a Love Food Hate Waste campaign that compliments the existing and planned regional and
national campaigns
set specific targets in conjunction with the development of the annual communications plans (refer to
chapter 8).

Target audience
all Brent residents.

Behaviour change needed
To provide tips to buy and cook only what is needed, store food correctly and plan for food to be eaten
before it goes off
To increase residents awareness of the impacts of food waste on climate change.

Approximately 3 per cent of waste generated by UK households each year is a result of unwanted mail (WS
2007). This approximately amounts to 18 kg per household per year (assuming a one person per household).

It is estimated that free newspapers could account for more than 40 per cent of this amount, whilst more than
30 per cent comes from organisations that households already have dealings with such as banks, insurers and
charities. Less than 30 per cent comes from other direct marketing such as flyers and leaflets.

Unwanted mail encompasses the following:
Addressed direct marketing mail — resulting from mailing lists that are purchased for direct mailing
by companies such as banks, insurers, retail chains and charities. This is advertising that targets
potential new customers and advertising that targets existing customers offering new or extended

36 Recycle for London is a communications programﬁe jointly delivered by the GLA and WRAP
43859



services and/or products. The Mailing Preference Service (MPS) is a free service, funded by the
Direct Marketing Industry to enable UK consumers to have their names and home addresses
removed from lists used by the industry. The MPS can remove the registered person’s name from
up to 95% of direct mail lists stopping up to one-third of unwanted mail
Unaddressed mail — door to door material posted by hand usually addressed “to the occupier”.
Volumes of unaddressed mail (including inserts in magazines and newspapers) appear to be
increasing at a rate of 1-2 per cent per year and registration with the MPS does not prevent
delivery of unaddressed mail. The Direct Marketing association (DMA), which is the trade
association for the Direct Marketing Industry, has developed a service for unaddressed mail on a
voluntary basis. This service, known as the Your Choice Preference Scheme, is an opt-out scheme
for door drop mail. However, only DMA member distributors will be subject to the scheme
(meaning leaflets dropped by the majority of local businesses will continue). In addition residents
can be encouraged to contact the Royal Mail’s Door to Door Service to reduce letters delivered by
the Royal Mail addressed “to the occupier”
Flyers and newspapers, including advertising materials, business cards, local newspapers and
magazines that are not delivered through Royal Mail. This could be reduced through providing “no
junk mail” stickers for householders mail boxes
other services offered by the MPS, which could be investigated and tied in with other waste
prevention initiatives include:
* the Baby Mailing Preference Service, which helps reduce the number of baby-related mailings
* the Fax Preference Service, where businesses have the opportunity to register fax numbers on
which they do not wish to receive direct marketing faxes.

There is limited data available to calculate diversion from the wide range of options to reduce unwanted mail
but WRAP estimates that around 4kg/hh/yr could be diverted when households sign up to the MPS.

Brent Council already encourages resident to take action to reduce unwanted mail.

The Council introduced a “no junk mail” sticker for residents’ mail boxes in 2006 and has since distributed over
19,000 of these to local residents. The Council recently worked in partnership with the Metropolitan Police
and the community safety team to distribute no junk mail stickers.

The Council also promotes the services of the MPS.

Aim
to carry out additional research to better understand what type of unwanted mail can be tackled
successfully by the Council
to aim to deliver a campaign which moves the focus away from activities which merely concentrate on
the recycling of unwanted mail by the householder to preventing delivery in the first place.

Targets

The Council has not set specific targets for this initiative at this stage as it intends to carry out additional
research before the first waste reduction and reuse plan is produced by April 2011, aiming to:
gather baseline information on how many Brent residents have signed up to:
* the MPS to reduce addressed direct marketing mail
*  Your Choice Preference Scheme and the Royal Mail's Door to Door Service to reduce
unaddressed mail
develop further the relationship with Brent’s partners to identify opportunities for future joint
campaigns to distribute “no junk mail” stickers
set targets for the campaign which will also be supported by communications messages (refer to
chapter 8).

Target audience
Brent residents.

Behaviour change needed

sign up to diversion services such as the MPS or ﬁgéal Mail equivalent and use a “no junk mai
age

IH

sticker.



Waste Aware Shopping (WAS) involves encouraging consumers to think about the goods that they purchase
and the associated packaging from a waste perspective. A WAS campaign can assist consumers when making
purchasing decisions including consideration for:

the durability of goods

whether single use goods (such as disposable cameras, barbeques and nappies) should be purchased

the amount of packaging used

whether purchasing reused / second hand / hired goods is a better alternative.

Work is already in place at national level to reduce the amount of packaging we buy through the Courtauld
Commitment, a voluntary agreement between WRAP and major UK grocery organisations, which is resulting in
new packaging solutions and technologies aiming to reduce the amount of packaging produced in the first
place.

The Mayor of London has stated in his draft municipal waste management strategy that he believes that
reducing the amount of unnecessary packaging through better product design is the most effective way to cut
down on London’s unnecessary waste and that he will:

seek to work with London’s businesses and manufacturers to reduce unnecessary packaging

offer Government his assistance in promoting, trialling and enhancing a set of measures that can be

adopted to reduce waste generation in London.

Since 2002 Brent Council has produced and distributed around 22,000 reusable cotton shopping bags to
residents to reduce the use of single use plastic carrier bags. The cotton bags have featured a variety of
designs including those designed by school children in the borough.

Aim
to deliver ad hoc and seasonal communications messages to increase resident’s awareness and
understanding of the consequences of their purchasing decisions as part of the annual
communications plans (refer to chapter 8)
to work in partnership with WLWA, the Mayor of London and Recycle for London to support regional
and national campaigns to promote waste aware shopping messages.

Targets

Despite being unable to challenge and influence the types of products supplied in national chain stores, Brent
Council wishes to establish a working relationship with local retailers on waste related issues. The Council will
therefore:

explore opportunities to promote waste aware shopping campaigns

establish working relationships with town centre managers and local retailers

raise residents’ awareness of WAS.

This could lead to in store promotions which are likely to have the greatest chance of influencing purchasing
behaviour since residents are targeted at a time when they are making purchasing choices.

Target audience
Brent residents.

Behaviour change needed

Choose products with less packaging where appropriate, hire products instead of buying them,
purchase reusable and long life products and avoid disposable products.

Page 56



Reusable nappy schemes aim to encourage the use of washable nappies and reduce dependency on
disposable nappies. Nappies can be readily washed at home or using nappy laundering services which collect
used nappies and launder these locally to NHS standards. These are then returned to the parents.

The Real Nappies for London®” (RNfL) project is a London-wide voucher scheme coordinated by the London
Community Resource Network (LCRN).

There are also other local authorities in London that promote the scheme but are not part of the RNfL project.
Brent Council encourages the use of reusable nappies as an alternative to disposable nappies. However the
Council does not provide financial incentives to residents in the form of free sample nappies and vouchers as a
means to increase the use of reusable nappies.

Experience from other local authorities suggests that parents who use reusable nappies would do so for
environmental reasons not for the financial incentive.

Aim
The Council proposes that a reusable nappy scheme is not introduced in Brent as part of the first waste
reduction and reuse plan. Factors that need to be further researched and assessed include:

establishing the balance between reach and effectiveness of the initiative in Brent

cost of running the scheme

ease of behaviour change

ease of implementation and longevity of the scheme.

However the Council will continue to promote and raise awareness about the use of reusable nappies as an
alternative to disposal nappies by providing information about their use and dispel myth.

Targets

The Council proposes that the following research activities on reusable nappies be carried out to:
gain a better understanding of the amount of disposable nappies in Brent as part of waste composition
analyses which will be carried out in 2010/11
gather information from other local authorities in London about their experiences of providing
financial support to residents
assess budget implications of providing financial incentives for parents and the resources needed to
deliver the scheme in Brent
work with WLWA and the constituent authorities to assess the financial implications of introducing the
subsidy at regional level
engage with community groups, local residents and entrepreneurs wishing to start up a new nappy
laundering service in Brent
consider what methods would increase the uptake of the scheme in Brent, including working with
partners such as the NHS and nappy laundering services
produce a briefing paper for senior officers and elected members highlighting the conclusion of the
research and recommendations.

Target audience
prospective and new mothers and fathers.

Behaviour change needed
purchase reusable nappies and ideally wash them at home at a low temperature or use laundry
services.

By repairing or reusing goods which still retain some operational value there are financial and environmental
benefits in comparison to producing a brand new product®®. There are also additional benefits such as:

37 www.realnappiesforlondon.org.uk
38 It is important to note that for some electrical goods it may be better to recycle the items than reuse them as older items are
likely to be less energy efficient than new ones

Page 57



increasing local training and development

developing skills to repair equipment

providing goods to members of the community who may not otherwise be able to afford them
creating jobs and alleviating poverty.

euse opportunities in London and in Brent are limited. Some key barriers that need to be addressed include:
the need for large scale communications campaigns to increase the visibility of reuse options
the creation of an integrated reuse collection infrastructure that joins up third sector organisations
with local authority bulky waste collections
the need to join up the supply and demand aspects of the reuse system especially for furniture and
appliances.

Some of these barriers will be tackled in London over the next few years through the following initiatives:
Recycle for London will deliver London-wide communication campaigns to tackle the lack of visibility
of reuse options
the London Waste and Recycling Board (LWarB)** has provisionally allocated around £8.5 million to
support the development of reuse infrastructure in London between 2010 and 2013
the Mayor of London states in his draft waste management strategy that he will work with London
boroughs, the London Waste and Recycling Board and the London Community Resource Network to
develop a London Reuse Network, promoting waste reuse initiatives, which can support and
supplement existing local authority waste collection services. The Mayor estimates that a well
resourced, co-ordinated and publicised London Reuse Network could divert up to 1.7 million reusable
household items from landfill each year
the Mayor of London is also proposing to set a target to increase the amount of London’s municipal
waste that could be reused or repaired from 10,000 tonnes each year in 2008 to 40,000 tonnes a year
in 2012 and 120,000 tonnes a year in 2031.

In addition there are barriers to reuse which are associated with our behaviour as consumers, particularly the
entrenched disposal habits and the fact that reuse activities are often perceived as time consuming.

The main opportunities for reuse in Brent include material separation at the Reuse and Recycling Centre (refer
to chapter 6), charity shops, facilitation of give and take days and web based forums (e.g. Freecycle®).

However the Council recognises that the biggest scope for increasing reuse is in improving the bulky
household waste management procedure and working in partnership with other organisations.

WRAP research suggests that if 20 per cent to 40 per cent of bulky waste produced by households could be
sent to community reuse schemes the total household waste arisings could be reduced by 1 per cent to 2 per
cent.

Give and Take Days* and Internet Exchanges (eg Freecyle) currently represent the main opportunities for
Brent residents to reuse furniture.

39 The Greater London Authority (GLA) Act 2007 enabled the establishment of a statutory Board to facilitate waste management
across London - the London Waste and Recycling Board. At the end of 2007, government confirmed its intention to proceed with
setting up the board in 2008. The objective of the Board is to promote and encourage the production of less waste, an increase in the
proportion of waste that is re-used or recycled and the use of methods of collection, treatment and disposal of waste which are more
beneficial to the environment. Part of the LWaRB's remit is be the allocation of up to £84 million funding starting 2008/09 (the London
Waste and Recycling Fund). The Board's primary provisions are set out in Section 356A and 356B of the Greater London Authorities Act
1999 (GLA Act) (as amended by the GLA Act 2007 s. 38(1)). Its membership and constitution are set out in the London Waste and
Recycling Board Order 2008.

40 Internet exchange activities divert items from landfill by providing a free portal for the reuse of unwanted items. Freecycle is
a global online network which offers individuals and non-profit organisations the opportunity to exchange unwanted reusable items
within their local community. Freecycle was set up in 2003 in order to prevent reusable but unwanted items from entering the waste
stream. Brent Freecycle group has over 7,700 members.

41 Give and Take Days are usually led by local community groups and in some cases facilitated by the local authority. The idea is
that residents bring their unwanted items to a central point and swap it with other people’s items without the exchange of money. In
Brent two give and take days have been organised in the stt.aTghéfiggook place in July 2007. The event was organised with the



Aim

® to secure investment to increase the amount of furniture that is reused in Brent

e to make best use of future funding opportunities from the London Waste and Recycling Board to
support the development of the London Reuse Network to benefit Brent residents

e to work with local community groups to set up regular give and take days and promote the Brent
Freecycle group

* to work with the London Community Resource Network to identify opportunities for new ways of
managing the separation of items for reuse from the bulky household waste collections and increase
access for Brent residents to reuse opportunities42

e to develop reuse opportunities at the Reuse and Recycling Centre

® to work in partnership with Recycle for London to support regional communications campaigns locally.

Targets

The Council proposes that the following activities are carried out as part of the waste reduction and reuse

plan:
deliver ad hoc and seasonal communications campaigns to increase residents’ awareness of the
environmental and social benefits of reuse and increase their knowledge about services available.
Specific targets will be developed as part of the annual communications plans (refer to chapter 8)
carry out a research project to review the existing bulky household waste collection service to
understand the various streams that could be collected for reuse. The research will also include
engagement with local community groups with an interest in delivering waste reuse schemes locally.
The output of the research will be a briefing paper for senior officers and elected members with
recommendations for the development of a furniture reuse scheme in Brent.

Target audience
Brent residents, community groups.

Behaviour change needed
Dispel myth associated with reuse, take items to give and take days or use internet exchange forums,
use local community groups to discard of unwanted items for distribution to other residents.

Charity shops, on street textile banks, give and take days and internet exchange forums represent the main
opportunities for Brent residents to reuse textiles.

Aim
to provide Brent residents with a network of on street facilities to reuse textiles
to work in partnership with charity shops to promotes their services, to encourage donations of good
quality goods that can be reused and encourage residents to buy items.

Targets

The Council proposes that the following activities be carried out:
carry out a review of the on street recycling facilities to gather baseline data and work in partnership
with local community groups to expand the network of on street textile facilities starting from 2011/12
deliver ad hoc and seasonal communications campaigns to increase residents’ awareness of the
environmental benefits of textile reuse and increase their knowledge about services available. Specific
targets will be developed as part of the annual communications plans (refer to chapter 8).

South Kilburn New Deals for Communities (SKNDC). The second event took place in March 2009 and was organised in partnership with
Camden Council.
42 There is no clear data on the amount of diversion that can be achieved but research by the Furniture Recycling Network (FRN)
indicates that around 30% of bulky waste collected from householder be reused and 20% recycled.

Page b9



Target audience
Brent residents.

Behaviour change needed

Donate to a charity, take items to the bring sites, to give and take days or use internet exchange
forums.

Page 60



Waste is a valuable resource that is largely underutilised. Brent residents recycle and compost nearly 30 per
cent of the household waste produced and send the rest to landfill. It is evident that the Council and residents
are missing out on the potential value of this waste stream, as valuable materials are currently being buried
and left to rot in landfill.

This chapter makes proposals to make the most of household waste in Brent through well-designed recycling
and composting schemes for street level properties.

The Council carried out extensive research and waste modelling to support the development of the waste
collection strategy. Appendix B provides additional information on the waste collection options that were
considered..
A number of scenario options were selected and further appraised on their ability to meet the following
criteria:

efficiency savings

landfill diversion / recycling and composting rates

carbon emissions / environmental performance.

The proposed waste collection service represents the best balance of the following criteria:
environmental standards: the proposed service decreases the impact of the borough’s waste
management operations on climate change
cost efficiency, cost effectiveness and value for money: the proposed service delivers efficiency savings
both in terms of minimising the increasing cost of landfill and maximising the diversion of valuable
materials from landfill
ease of use for Brent residents: the proposed waste collection service is convenient for residents to
use and will lead to high degree of material separation and recycling rates.

The proposed waste collection service will contribute to:
meeting the overall targets set in this waste collection strategy
achieving the requirements placed by European and national legislation on local authorities to both
reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill and increase the amount that is recycled or composted
provide excellent services to Brent residents
deliver excellent value-for-money services that reflect the financial constraints in which the Council
operates and its commitment to reduce the impact of climate change.

Kerbside dry recycling schemes are usually grouped as follows:
kerbside sort — involves the sorting of materials at the kerbside into different compartments of a
specialist collection vehicle (i.e. the current collection service used in Brent)
single stream co-mingled, fully co-mingled or mixed — involves the collection of materials in a single
compartment vehicle with the sorting of these materials occurring at a Materials Recovery Facility
(MRF)
twin stream (including multiple containers for different materials) — residents are provided with
multiple recycling containers and are asked to place different materials in each container, typically
paper/card in one and all other materials in the other.

Appendix C provides a summary of some of the typical advantages and disadvantages associated with each of
the collection schemes described above.

Page 61



Map 10 shows the different collection schemes currently used by local authorities in London as part of their
kerbside dry recycling schemes.

Single stream (or fully co-mingled (mixed))
Twin stream (or multiple containers)
Kerbside sort

River Thames

River Thames

* Note that local authorities currently using a twin stream collection system use a combination of co-mingled (mixed) or kerbside
sort system. The purpose of this grouping of local authorities is to show how many are currently using more than one container to
collect different materials.

Map 11 shows the number of materials collected by London’s local authorities as part of their kerbside dry
recycling schemes. The map shows that Brent is part of the group of local authorities in London currently

collecting the widest range of materials for recycling.
>10 different materials collected
6 — 9 different materials collected

2 - 5 different materials collected

River Thames

Evidence base suggests that there is no one size fits all in terms of the best collection system for collecting
materials from street level properties. There are indeed many factors that local authorities need to consider
as part of the selection of the most appropriate collection system for their residents. WRAP recognises that:

“ultimately, the choice of collection system remains a matter for local authorities to decide”*.

WRAP also carried out recent analysis of local authority kerbside dry recycling performance®. The conclusion
of the analysis was that the best performing services are those using:

43 “Choosing the right collection system”, WRAP, 2009
a4 “Kerbside Dry Recycling Performance in England a07/08",é\/ AP, 2009
age



fortnightly wheeled bin recycling schemes with fortnightly residual waste collection
weekly box recycling schemes with fortnightly residual waste collection

In May 2010, WYG published a report® based on waste data flow (WDF) analysis for 2008/09. The conclusions
of the report were that:

26 of the top 30 performing councils in England for dry recycling diversion rates operate a co-mingled
(mixed) collection service

analysis of WDF 2008/09 data for dry recycling collected at the kerbside, revealed that, on average,
local authorities operating 100 per cent co-mingled (mixed) collections®® (i.e. no other kerbside
recycling scheme offered) collected 25 per cent more materials for recycling than local authorities
operating 100 per cent kerbside sort systems*’

WYG also carried out analysis of the top twenty performing local authorities in England in 2008/09, in
terms of NI192. The conclusion was that both kerbside sort and co-mingled recycling schemes have
been adopted in more or less equal measure (9 kerbside sort; 10 co-mingled, one twin stream).
However, when considering dry recycling performance alone for these authorities it can be seen that
the top eight authorities (for dry recycling) all operate a co-mingled system. Appendix D shows the top
twenty performing local authorities in England in 2008/09 as well as providing additional information
about their waste collection services.

The following methods of collections are used by local authorities to collect organic materials:

garden waste only

food waste only

food and garden waste collected separate

food and garden waste collected mixed

food, garden waste and cardboard collected mixed

Map 12 shows the number of local authorities in London currently collecting both food and garden waste. The
map shows whether local authorities collect these materials mixed or separate.

River Thames

Organic mixed collections
Organics separated collections

=
-

Barnet
Havering
A Dagenham /
g Dw | §
X L, -

River Thames

* Some local authorities in the map only run pilot schemes. Other local authorities provide residents with separate containers for food
waste and garden waste, but the materials are them collected co-mingled and taken to an Invessel Composting Facility, therefore
residents are provided with separate containers, but materials are collected mixed.

45
46
47

“Review of Kerbside Recycling Collection Schemes Operated by Local Authorities”, WYG, May 2010
The data was adjusted to take account of rejects at the MRF
Local authorities operating 100% kerbside sort systems achieved a maximum of 239kg/hh/yr (Melton BC), with a weighted

average of 131kg/hh/yr. Local authorities operating 100% co-mingled (mixed) systems achieved a maximum of 285kg/hh/yr (North

Kesteven DC), with a weighted average of 163kg/hh/yr

Page 63



WRAP has carried out extensive research at national level to compare the benefits of separate and mixed
kerbside organic collection systems.
The evidence base gathered by the organisation concluded that the diversion of food waste is enhanced when
the frequency of collection of residual waste decreases from weekly to fortnightly, as residents with fortnightly
collections of residual waste:

divert more food waste from landfill

produce significantly less residual waste overall.

The Council’s target is to have no overall increase in total household waste generated in Brent between 2008/09
and 2014/15 despite increases in overall household numbers®.

The main drivers behind this target are:
the increasing costs associated with landfill
the untapped value of waste currently sent to landfill
the need to plan for adequate long term waste treatment facilities to treat the residual fraction of
waste which is not reused, recycled or composted by working in partnership with WLWA.

The Council’s target for limiting household waste growth will only be achieved if residents:
are fully aware of the amount of unnecessary waste that is currently being produced
understand the economic and environmental threats of the current behaviours which are
unsustainable in the long term.

There are many factors affecting waste growth. Many of these are inter-related:
lifestyle behaviour
socio-demographic make up of local authorities
consumer spending
purchasing and product packaging trends
materials drawn in from non-household sources (e.g. trade waste abuse).

Local authorities have recently introduced waste policies and changes to waste management services to limit
household waste growth, such as: reducing the frequency of collection of residual waste, no side waste
policies, closed lid policies, reduced container capacity, controls at Reuse and Recycling Centres, garden waste
policy, bulky waste policy, waste prevention initiatives and activities, communications and community
engagement.

The experience from local authorities shows that reducing the frequency of residual waste collections is a
positive means in order to:

reduce the rate of growth in household waste

control the amount of residual waste collected at the kerbside

encourage waste reduction and reuse

increase participation in recycling schemes

increase the recycling performance

increase collection efficiency

lower the cost of this service and free up resources to fund investment in recycling services.

48 This target is a reflection of the proposed target set in the Mayor of London’s draft municipal waste management strategy.
This target will need to be kept under review, as the Mayor’s strategy will not be published in its final form until winter 2010. In
addition there is no waste reduction target in the WLWA’s IMWMS, therefore Brent will need to consider the target set by WLWA
when the IMWMS undergoes a formal review

Page 64



There are currently three local authorities in London collecting residual waste (or general household waste)
with a frequency less than weekly: Harrow, Bexley and Kingston-upon-Thames. Figure 10 provides information
on the waste collection schemes used by these local authorities.

Dry recycling
Container: Blue bin

Collection frequency: fortnightly
Materials collected: paper, cans, foil,
cartons, glass, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, aerosol, cardboard

Organic recycling

Container: Brown bin
Collection frequency: weekly
Materials collected: food waste and

garden waste

Residual waste

Container: 240 | wheeled bin
Collection frequency: fortnightly
Materials collected: landfill waste

Dry recycling

Collection frequency: weekly

Container: green box

Materials collected: paper, cardboard
Container: purple box

Materials collected: plastic bottles and cans
Container: black box

Materials collected: glass bottles and jars

Organic recycling

Container: Brown wheeled bin
Collection frequency: weekly
Materials collected: food waste and garden waste

Redbridge

Hillingdon

et Residual waste
MM Container: 2401 wheeled bin
Collection frequency: fortnightly

Materials collected: landfill waste

pemynos

River Thames O
o

Paper &
caraboara

arden
Wasto
astic % |

P
Botties
& Cans

Dry recycling

Collection frequency: weekly ~§'{-’-'
Container: green box

Materials collected: paper, cans and tins, cartons, glass, plastic bottles,
textiles and shoes, household batteries

Container: reusable sack

Materials collected: cardboard

Organic recycling
Container: Brown kerbside container, Collection frequency: weekly, Materials collected: food waste
Container: wheeled bin or biodegradable sack, Collection frequency: fortnightly, Materials collected: garden waste

Residual waste

Container: 180l wheeled bin
Collection frequency: fortnightly
Materials collected: landfill waste

Table 6 in chapter 1 compares the recycling performance achieved by all local authorities in London for the
period 2002/03 to 2008/09. It shows that in 2008/09 Bexley and Harrow were the best two performing local
authorities in London.

Kingston-upon-Thames introduced the new service in September 2008.

Table 10 shows the impact that this change had on the recycling and composting rates with data sourced from
WDF 2008/09.

Pre introduction of fortnightly collections of residual | Post introduction of fortnightly collections of residual

waste waste

Apr—Jun 08 Jul — Sep 08 Oct — Dec 08 Jan—Mar 09

NI191 | NI192 | NI193 | NI191 | NI192 | NI193 | NI191 | NI192 | NI193 | NI191 | NI192 | NI193
182.86 | 27.87 | 71.52 | 189.03 | 26,91 | 72.35 | 131.75 |42.22 |57.23 | 116.25 | 46.84 | 52.53

In addition Appendix D shows that all of the top 20 performing local authorities in England in 2008/09 used
fortnightly residual waste collections, alternated with kerbside dry recycling collections.

The Council has successfully introduced a new environmentally sound, economically efficient and user-friendly
waste collection service for street level properties. Residents appreciate the new service, understand the full

Page 65




value of waste and work with the Council to ensure that this value is not left untapped. High landfill costs are
avoided as residents are fully aware that, as the costs of waste treatment increase, the savings through greater
capture of materials becomes increasingly significant. The new waste collection service is a hassle-free part of
Brent’s residents’ lives and the Council achieves high rates of household waste recycling and composting. The
satisfaction of Brent’s residents has increased through access to a service which is equitable, well
communicated, efficient and accessible to all.

The Council is committed to ensuring that residents continue to be provided with a weekly collection service
with different types of waste collected on different frequencies.
The Council will introduce a new and improved waste collection service for street level properties:
Dry recycling scheme - a new scheme to provide residents with additional capacity and additional
materials
Organic recycling scheme - a universal scheme available to all street level properties to collect food
and garden waste
Residual waste collection scheme - a new scheme to improve the diversion of materials away from
landfill and maximise the value of resources.

Kerbside Dry Recycling Scheme

The current weekly kerbside sort recycling scheme allows residents to recycle the following materials
using one 44| green box: paper, metal tins and cans, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, aluminium
foil, textiles, aerosols, shoes, household and car batteries and engine oil.

The new and improved service will provide residents with additional capacity and additional materials.
The new service will be a fortnightly kerbside fully co-mingled recycling scheme. Residents will be
provided with a new 240l wheeled bin to recycle the following materials:
o paper, metal tins and cans, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, aluminium foil and aerosols
o mixed plastic containers®’ and food and beverage cartons will be new materials accepted for
recycling
o cardboard will also be included, as cardboard will no longer be collected as part of the organic
kerbside recycling service™”
o textiles, shoes, household and car batteries and engine oil which are currently collected as
part of the green box recycling scheme will continue to be collected. Residents will be able to
present these materials next to the recycling bin and contained in clear plastic bags.

Kerbside Organic Recycling Scheme
The current weekly kerbside organic recycling scheme allows 60,000 residents to send the following
materials for composting: food waste, garden waste and cardboard.
The Council will replace this scheme with a borough-wide service for all street level properties to
collect food and garden waste. Cardboard will no longer be collected as part of this new service,
instead it will be included in the new kerbside dry co-mingled collection.

o Residents already covered by the organic kerbside scheme will continue to use the existing

container for weekly collections

49 The term ‘mixed plastics’ covers the range of rigid and flexible non-bottle plastic packaging typically found in the household
waste bin such as trays, tubs, pots and films. Mixed plastics packaging is made from a wide range of polymers and comes in various
colours. Plastics packaging makes up an average 9% of household waste by weight. There is general acceptance that that packaging
waste arisings are growing at between 2% and 5% each year
50 Removal of cardboard is considered important as it can present significant problems at the in-vessel composting facility
particularly when it becomes the dominant component of the collected waste stream for example in winter when the quantity of
garden waste will be much lower. One of the main problems associated with cardboard at in vessel composting facilities is that it
degrades very slowly and is thus often still present as visible contamination in the final product which has implications on being able to
achieve quality standard for the resultant output.

ey P Page 66



o Remaining residents will be provided with a new 23l kerbside container to deposit food waste
which will be collected weekly.

The Council will also provide a 5l kitchen caddy for internal storage for all residents to separate food
waste.
The current on request biodegradable sack scheme for garden waste will be retained.

It is always better to home compost as much food and garden waste as possible, and to encourage
this, the Council will continue to promote the use of home compost bins to all residents (refer to
chapter 4).

Kerbside Residual Waste Scheme

The current weekly residual waste (general household waste) collection service allows residents to use
a 240l wheeled bin to contain waste which is sent to landfill.

Residents will continue to use the existing 240l wheeled bin to contain residual waste that cannot be
recycled.

The Council’'s improvements to the recycling and composting schemes will result in an overall
reduction in waste arisings. There will be very little waste left in the residual waste bin as materials
collected in the new kerbside dry and organic recycling schemes make up the majority of waste.
Whatever is left in the residual waste bin will be collected fortnightly.

To reinforce the Council’s messages about reducing and preventing waste, a “closed lid” and “no side waste”
policy will be adopted. A closed lid and no side waste policy means that the collection crews will not collect
any waste left next to the residual bin and bins which are so full that the lid can’t be shut will not be emptied.
Detailed procedures on provision of advice to residents will be developed as part of the implementation plan.

Unlike residual waste, residents will be able to place out for collection textiles and clothes, household and car
batteries and engine oil contained in clear plastic bags and left next to the new recycling bin.

This policy is designed to encourage waste reduction and reuse and increase participation in recycling. This
will ultimately reduce the overall waste produced in Brent. The introduction of this supporting policy will also
increase staff efficiency and reduce occupational health and safety risks. The closed lid policy will ensure that
waste is contained within the residual wheeled bin to reduce littering, odour and vermin issues.

The Council introduced a compulsory recycling policy in August 2008 for residents using the green box
recycling service. Figure 11 shows the number of local authorities in London currently using a compulsory
recycling policy.

Page 67



+ August 2008

+ All materials accepted
through the green box scheme

+ July 2008
* Brown bin — flowers,
green garden waste,
leaves and twigs,
prunings, tree
cuttings

* Blue bin — cans,
catalogues,
directories, glass
bottles and jars,
magazines,
newspapers, paper,
phones books, plastic
bottles, telephone
directories, yellow
pages

* September 2007

« Mewspapers, magazines,
leaflets, cans, glass bottles
and jars

* March 2005
* "Recycle from Home" — glass bottles and jars,
newspapers, jJunk mail and magazines, cans

Enfield
+ March 2007

+ Glass bottles and jars, cans
and paper

,; Hounslon
; « May 2007

¢+ Glass bottles and jars,
cans, plastic bottles,
paper, cardboard and
garden waste

* October 2007 - inthe

north of the borough + "Recycling for all" — the dustbin

should only contain materials that
cannot be recycled

* Materials collected in

www. capitalwastefacts.com
the orange sack

The Council will retain the compulsory recycling policy and expand it to cover both the kerbside dry and
organic recycling services.

An assisted collection service is currently available to residents who, because of a disability or health
condition, find it difficult to put their containers at the front of their property. Special arrangements are made
for the waste and recycling crews to collect from a specified location (subject to agreement) and return the
containers after they have been emptied. The Council will retain the assisted collection policy, although ad
hoc reviews will be carried out to ensure that the list of residents benefitting from an assisted collection stays
up to date.

The Council will survey and assess houses in the borough to ensure that the varying service needs of different
properties are understood and the introduction of the new service is planned accordingly. The Council has
already undertaken a preliminary assessment and the findings were considered when the new waste collection
service was identified as the preferred option. The Council’s aim will be to keep the new service as simple and
uniform as possible as it believes that the new scheme will be appropriate for almost every household in
Brent.

However it is also the Council’s aim to adopt a flexible approach for some housing types, in particular areas of
the borough where access for collection vehicles or storage of containers may be an issue. The Council will
therefore engage with residents living in difficult to serve housing types and establish if alterations to the
proposed service are necessary. Careful consideration will be given to:

houses in multiple occupancy

terraced properties with limited space to store bins either at the front or the rear of the property.
Detailed procedure to assess the needs of difficult to serve housing types will be developed as part of the
waste collection strategy’s implementation plan.

Page 68



The Council will issue a standard bin size to all street level properties. Residents who require a different size of
the bins (increased or reduced capacity) will need to contact the Council and complete a request form. Each
request will be assessed on a case by case basis before a decision is made.

Households with six or more people may qualify to receive additional capacity.

The Council will encourage residents who recycle a large proportion of their waste and may prefer a smaller
residual waste bin to also complete a request form.

Detailed procedure to deal with requests for different size of bin will be developed as part of the waste
collection strategy’s implementation plan.

The Council recognises that the new kerbside waste and recycling collection schemes represent a significant
change and that some residents may find it difficult to adjust to the new service during the first weeks
following its introduction. The Council will aim provide the necessary information and practical support
needed. This will be supported by a comprehensive communications plan (refer to chapter 8) which will be
developed in good time before the new service is introduced. Where residents struggle to adjust to the new
kerbside service, house visits could be arranged to educate residents about the correct use of the new service.
However the Council will reject contaminated bins whilst ensuring that residents are informed about which
materials are responsible for the bin not being collected.

Detailed procedure to deal with contamination will be developed as part of the waste collection strategy’s
implementation plan.

The Council recognises that the new waste and recycling collection schemes represent a significant change.
The Council will develop a comprehensive communications plan (refer to chapter 8) to ensure a smooth
transition to the new service and may also provide house visits for those residents who are struggling to adjust
to the new service so that help and advice can be provided on how to manage waste and recycling more
effectively.

For the minority of residents that are unwilling to co-operate, the Council will aim to enforce the compulsory
recycling policy. The Council’s primary aim is to engage with residents and undertake education activities with
the use of fixed penalty fines and prosecutions as a last resort.

Detailed procedure to deal with enforcement activities will be developed as part of the waste collection
strategy’s implementation plan.

The Council will investigate opportunities to introduce schemes to reward residents for recycling.
This will be dependant on future developments of national, regional and local waste policy.
The Council will aim to gather information from local authorities running similar schemes before new policies
are considered.
Some of the main drivers behind the introduction of a scheme to reward residents for recycling would be:
evidence of the positive impact that such initiatives have on recycling and composting rates
increased diversion of materials from landfill
cost neutrality to the Council.
Pilot schemes may also be considered before implementation in Brent is proposed.

Appendix B provides additional information on the waste collection options that were considered during the
development of the waste collection strategy.
The scenario options were appraised on their ability to meet the following criteria:

efficiency savings

landfill diversion / recycling and composting rates

carbon emissions / environmental performance.

Page 69



The proposed waste collection service represented the best balance of all criteria and will allow the Council to
realise its vision and meet the targets set in the strategy.

Subject to the results of the consultation on the waste collection strategy, the Council will aim to introduce the
new waste collection service in summer 2011 and will therefore carry out the following activities:
develop a robust procurement plan to purchase and distribute new containers and to realise the best
value for money for residents
work closely with the waste and recycling collection contractor to introduce new collection vehicles
work closely with the waste and recycling collection contractor and WLWA to secure outlets for the
increased recycling materials that will be collected from Brent residents
develop a waste reduction and reuse plan to further contribute to the need to reduce household
waste growth
develop a comprehensive communications plan to enable residents to understand how the new waste
collection service will be implemented, make the most of their new service, achieve greater
understanding of waste and recycling issues, placate misconceptions and fears that residents may hold
with regard to the new service and explain what happens to the materials collected
allocate resources to monitor the implementation of the new service and offer face to face advice
during the first weeks of the project
carry out a comprehensive review of other services provided by the Council, like recycling facilities in
public places and the reuse and recycling centre to monitor what change in yields will be experienced
by the service.

Properties along the North Circular Road currently receive a daily collection of residual waste. Residents are
provided with a single use sack. Currently there is no provision for a recycling service.

The Council will:
retain the existing daily single use sack collection for residual waste (or general household waste)
introduce a new dry recycling scheme. Residents will be provided with an additional single use sack
which will be collected together with the residual waste sack. The following materials will be collected
for recycling: paper, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles and mixed plastics, metal tins and cans, food
and beverage cartons, aluminium foil and aerosol.

Page 70



Key to the success of recycling schemes in flats is to ensure recycling is as easy and convenient for residents to
use as waste disposal. This tends to encourage participation in recycling and increase the amount of materials
collected.
Recycling services for flats can be more difficult to implement than for street level properties for the following
reasons:
flats and communal areas are subject to more legislation and policies than street level properties.
These regulations can affect the time needed for planning and implementation, design requirements
and cost of providing recycling services
there are multiple stakeholders (e.g. managing agents, landlords, housing associations, residents) that
need to be consulted and this can impact on expense and time requirements
many blocks of flats in London were built at a time when the disposal of waste was the only planning
consideration. This makes it challenging for local authorities to retrospectively introduce recycling and
compositing services which are both cost-effective and convenient for residents.

Although Brent is an outer London borough, it faces many of the challenges of inner city living such as high
density flats. Approximately 20 per cent of the borough’s population lives in flats, equating to over 23,000
properties. Therefore the social and environmental benefits of providing a recycling service for flats in Brent
are far reaching.

A block of flats is defined as a building within which there is more than one self-contained household.
Several blocks of flats in close proximity, usually managed by the same organisation, are often referred to as
an estate.
Flats are usually categorised into the following building types:
purpose built blocks
flats in converted properties, usually a house, also known as HMO
flats in commercial buildings (e.g. flats above shops).

This section of the strategy covers purpose built blocks of flats and flats in converted properties with more
than eight households. The Council’s current procedure is that purpose built blocks or HMOs with eight or less
properties have access to the same service as street level properties (although there are a few exceptions, as
some of these blocks have building features or management arrangements which do not make it possible to
include them in the kerbside scheme).

Finding an innovative way to attain high levels of recycling from flats is fundamental to achieving the targets
set out in this strategy.

The Mayor of London recognises in his draft Municipal Waste Management Strategy (2010) that improving
recycling rates from flats is essential to increasing London’s recycling rates. The Mayor is proposing to work
with the London Waste and Recycling Board to introduce a programme of infrastructure improvement to
boost recycling rates from flats, in particular from social housing estates.

The Council will work closely with the Mayor of London, London Waste and Recycling Board and WLWA to
maximise the benefits of this proposal for Brent’s residents.

There are a variety of collection schemes which can be used to collect recycling from blocks of flats.

In 2009 WRAP published guidance® for local authorities on recycling collections from flats and provided the
typical performance that different collection schemes can achieve for both dry recycling and food waste.

Table 11 highlights some of the advantages and disadvantages of the various collection schemes and also
summarises the typical performance levels provided by WRAP.

51 “Recycling collections for flats”, WRAP, 2009

Page 71



Collection Description Advantages Disadvantages Materials Scheme Average Source of | Commentary
scheme type collected type yield data
(kg/hh/wk)
52
Kerbside ® Same collection as street | ® The scheme is as | ® The suitability of blocks | Dry recycling | n/a n/a n/a e Not covered in the
collection level properties convenient as the service need to be assessed | and organics WRAP report. Similar
scheme ® |n Brent blocks of flats received by street level carefully capture rates and
with 8 households or less properties e The collection scheme participation rates to
can be included in the | ® It can be an efficient way may not be properly street level properties
kerbside scheme as long of increasing the amount used in blocks with a can be expected
as the building features of recycling collected high proportion of
of the block are suitable | ® Relatively cheap to residents’ turnover
for this type of collection provide as this can be
added to an existing
round
Bring e Residents bring their | ® The scheme tends to be | ® It can attract fly tipping | Dry recycling Weekly - | 1.75 Bin e Factors affecting
ycling recyclables to the more successful if and use by commercial separated weighing performance could be:
;g:eme recycling bins recycling and waste bins users e frequency of collection
Q e This is the type of are located in close | e Sites located away from e size of block
® scheme that we use in proximity entrances and/or waste e chutes for residual
Rl) Brent, specifically thedry | ® It has relatively low bins do not act as a stream
recycling scheme capital and revenue reminder to residents to | Dry recycling Weekly - | 2.51 Bin e internal container
(weekly separated) costs recycle partial weighing provision — residents
e |t can capture large | ® It can be difficult to separation provided  with an
amounts of material and monitor participation internal receptacle to
achieve high Dry recycling | Weekly - | 2.54 Bin store their recyclables
participation rates co-mingled weighing (ie  reusable sack)
e Residents are able to (mixed) recycle more
recycle as often as they Food waste Twice 0.29 WRAP
wish weekly food
e |t tends to be simple and waste
easy to communicate trials

52 It should be noted that contamination was not taken into account during the bin weighing exercise




Collection Description Advantages Disadvantages Materials Scheme Average Source of | Commentary
scheme type collected type yield data
(kg/hh/wk)
52
Door to door | e Collections are made | ® This type of collection | ® Containers need to be | Dry recycling weekly 1.83 Bin ® Average collections are
collection from residents’ often makes recycling set out in corridors, weighing lower where a bring
scheme doorsteps easier and more which can increase fire site is also provided
® In Brent this type of convenient than disposal risk and may inhibit near to the block of
collection scheme is not of waste wheelchair access flats
used. There are no plans | ® There are opportunities | ® Manual handling and e High-rise properties
to introduce it borough- for on-site staff to be transport of materials to (over five floors) tend
wide. Small scale pilots involved in recycling ground level can pose to recycle more on
in suitable blocks may be health and safety risks Food waste weekly 0.50 Two door to door
introduced in the future ® |t can have relatively WRAP collections than low-
high operational costs trials rise properties
e Many flats have little
storage space to hold
waste for a week.
Chute ® There can be dedicated | ® It requires minimal | ® Mechanical chute | Dedicated weekly 3.69 Three e There is little data and
Terycling or mechanical chute manual handling schemes are relatively | chute small information available
8 recycling schemes e Residents can dispose of untested in UK and | recycling - Dry scale trials on the performance of
D ® This type of scheme is their waste and recycling require ongoing | recycling in  three this type of schemes
~ not widely used in the in the same location maintenance London e The performance
w UK e |t is most suited to co- | ® Dedicated chute boroughs recorded shows that
e We currently do not use mingled recycling schemes can be difficult this could be the
this type of collection | e High participation and to introduce as multiple | pedicated n/a n/a No known highest performing
scheme in Brent due to high recycling rates chutes side by side are | chute schemes collection system for
the building features of rare in existing buildings | recycling - operating flats. However as this is
the majority of our e |t can be difficult to | Food waste not a wide-scale
blocks of flats monitor participation service it may not
e Small scale pilots in provide a clear
suitable blocks may be indication of a typical
introduced in the future performance.
Collection e Residents bring their | ® This type of collection | ® Manual handling and | Dry recycling Weekly, 2.52 Two small | e There is little data and
point from recyclable materials to scheme allows residents transport of materials to co-mingled scale trials information available
each floor of a small bins or boxes to easily dispose of their ground level can pose (mixed) in two on their performance,
block scheme located on each floor recycling as often as they health and safety risks London as they are not vyet
e We currently do not use need to ® Finding appropriate boroughs widely used in the UK.
this type of collection | ® Containers can be space  for  recycling e The data provided is




Collection Description Advantages Disadvantages Materials Scheme Average Source of | Commentary
scheme type collected type yield data
(kg/hh/wk)
52
scheme in Brent. There located next to waste containers can be | Food waste n/a n/a No known not a wide-scale
are no plans to introduce chutes to make recycling difficult for flats where schemes service, therefore it
it borough-wide. Small as easy as waste disposal corridor space is limited operating may not be a clear
scale pilots in suitable | @ Capital costs can be | ® It can be difficult to indication of a typical
blocks may be relatively low monitor participation performance
introduced in the future
Vacuum e Underground pipes are | ® Collections are made | ® The introduction of this | Dry recycling/ | Co-mingled n/a Envac @ | Currently the average
system used to transport waste from one central point type of collection | food waste (mixed) Wembley | yields are not available
(Envac) to a reception centre on saving time and scheme tends to have bring chute City site
the outskirts of the area resources high capital costs system
using air ® Residents are able to | ® It is most suitable for
e This system reduces the recycle as often as they new development
number of heavy waste wish e |t can be difficult to
collection vehicles in the monitor participation
area
S-DU e This scheme is used in
Q Brent in the Wembley
() Stadium  development,
~ where underground
N

waste and  recycling
systems  have  been
installed, processing
three different waste
fractions (dry recycling,
organic waste and
refuse).




The current recycling service for flats was initially introduced in Brent in 2004.

The recycling scheme is a weekly separated bring scheme (the typical performance of this type of collection
scheme is shown in table 11). There are over 430 site locations serving blocks of flats. The Council uses
communal bins of different capacity (either 1,100 litre euro bins or 240 litre wheeled bins) depending on the
capacity needs of the block served and space available, as shown in figure 12.

The following materials are collected for recycling: paper, glass bottles and jars, metal tins and cans,
aluminium foil, aerosols and plastic bottles. The Council does not currently offer a collection service for food
waste.

Depending on the location of the bins the following classification is followed:
near entry — this is the best option as it makes recycling as convenient as waste disposal and it takes
place where flats have recycling containers sited near to block entrances or near to waste bins, so that
the recycling scheme is provided specifically for that block of flats in the same way to how waste
collection is provided for that block. Many flats in Brent were built at a time when the disposal of
waste was the main planning consideration and this makes it difficult to introduce retrospectively
recycling services for buildings which were never designed with these services in mind. The biggest
limitation that the Council faces with the current recycling scheme is the space needed to
accommodate the required number of bins (one per material stream collected). Therefore it is often
not possible to locate recycling bins in close proximity to the residual waste bins
centralised — if recycling facilities cannot be located near block entrances or waste facilities, bins are
located on land forming part of the estate so that a number of blocks share the same recycling facility
on street — some blocks of flats or estates have building features or management arrangements which
do not make it possible to provide near entry or centralised recycling facilities. In these circumstances,
recycling facilities located on nearby streets, which can also be used by the general public, are
provided (refer to chapter 7).

The Council recognises the benefits of assessing blocks of flats individually, given the diversity that this housing
type has in terms of building features, management arrangements and communities. The Council has
developed procedures in partnership with the waste and recycling collection contractor and other
stakeholders so that each party involved has clarity on the sequence of actions required before recycling
facilities are introduced.
A site visit in each block is carried out to make sure that:

the best available method of collecting recycling is identified

the risks associated with recycling collection schemes are assessed and mitigated

communications with residents and key stakeholders are carried out.

In August 2008 the Council produced its first waste planning guidance for new developments within Brent.
The guidance is designed for developers and architects and explains what waste management systems are

Page 75



available in Brent; indicates the Council’s requirements for waste and recycling capacity; and provides health
and safety guidelines for collection points. It also recommends that recycling and waste facilities be located in
close proximity wherever this is possible to ensure that the convenience for Brent residents to recycle is
maximised.

To date the Council has successfully introduced over 430 sets of recycling bins serving blocks of flats. However
approximately half of the purpose built blocks still do not benefit from a recycling service.

The development of the waste collection strategy offers an invaluable opportunity to review the existing
recycling scheme, as well as gather evidence base from research and learn lessons from the experience of
other local authorities.

Brent residents living in blocks of flats are provided with a new recycling service which is convenient, efficient
and easy to use. Brent residents take full advantage of the new recycling service, share the responsibility with
the Council for meeting recycling targets, reducing the cost of landfill and they understand the contribution
that recycling brings to improving the local environment.

The satisfaction of Brent’s residents has increased through access to a service which is equitable, well
communicated, efficient and accessible.

Brent Council, working with residents, voluntary organisations, housing associations, managing agents and the
waste and recycling collection contractor will introduce a new and more convenient recycling service for
residents living in blocks of flats. The new dry recycling service will be fully co-mingled (mixed) to encourage
residents to recycle more materials more often. Additional materials will be accepted for recycling (e.g.
beverage and food cartons and mixed plastics) and suitable blocks of flats will receive a new communal food
waste collection service.

The introduction of the new service will be supported by comprehensive communications, so that residents
understand what materials can be recycled and composted, where they can be recycled and what happens to
the materials once they are collected.

Good practice research and practical experience from other local authorities suggests that key to the success
of recycling schemes for blocks of flats is to make recycling collections as easy and convenient for residents as
possible.

The Council will:
introduce a new fully co-mingled (mixed) dry recycling service which will be introduced to all suitable
blocks of flats as part of a rolling programme starting from 2010/11. The new dry recycling service
will:
o reduce the time and effort required of residents to participate in recycling
o reduce the amount of space needed to accommodate recycling facilities
o increase the convenience and ease of use of the service by locating recycling facilities close to
waste facilities wherever possible
introduce a new scheme for the collection of food waste using communal bins for suitable blocks as
part of a rolling programme starting from 2010/11
retain the existing on request biodegradable sack service for garden waste
devise a communications campaign specifically tailored to residents living in flats aimed at increasing
their understanding of the new service
explore opportunities to increase the number of materials which can be collected for recycling
work with other waste authorities in London to share experiences and good practice

Page 76



ensure that all stakeholders are engaged and fully involved when new schemes are introduced and
consulted when necessary.

The current separated collection scheme takes up space as the number of containers required is dictated by
the number of materials collected rather than the amount collected. For this reason, it is often not possible to
co-locate recycling bins and waste bins. Introducing a fully co-mingled (mixed) collection for dry recycling will:
reduce the amount of space needed to accommodate recycling facilities for many blocks of flats. The
proposed recycling scheme will only require one recycling bin for most blocks of flats. At present
there is a need to find the space to accommodate at least three different recycling bins
increase the number of blocks of flats where recycling and waste facilities are located in close
proximity
reduce the costs related to purchasing the recycling bins for the different material streams
meet the needs of Brent residents, as it will be easier, more convenient and less time consuming for
residents to use recycling facilities, as they will only need to use one bin which will accept all materials
for recycling.

The Council will also introduce bins for the collection of food waste in suitable blocks of flats. Detailed
procedure and assessment criteria for what constitutes a “suitable block of flats” will be developed as part of
the waste collection strategy’s implementation plan.

Table 11 shows the typical performance of various recycling collection schemes for flats and it shows that the
fully co-mingled (mixed) dry recycling scheme can achieve the highest yield of all bring schemes when
collected on a weekly basis.
Introducing a fully co-mingled collection scheme in Brent will therefore:
enable the diversion of more materials away from landfill, therefore reducing the overall cost of waste
disposal
contribute to the environmental benefits of recycling. Collecting more materials for recycling will
reduce the need to use virgin materials to produce new products.

It will be easier to introduce new materials for recycling with the fully co-mingled option, as this may not
require space for additional bins (unless capacity is the issue). Subject to the outcome of the public
consultation, the Council will introduce the following additional materials for recycling: mixed plastics and
beverage and food cartons. On the other hand if the Council continues to provide the current separated
scheme it will be more difficult to expand the range of materials collected without introducing additional bins.

A member task group® was set up in Brent in 2008 to review the existing flats recycling scheme, make
recommendations for improving the provision of the service and enhancing the convenience for residents to
recycle. The review consisted of visits to other local authorities in London, meetings with housing associations
and attendance at residents associations’ meetings.

The task group recommended that the use of the fully co-mingled recycling scheme be further explored in
Brent given the advantages that this type of collection offers over the existing separated option.

The following activities will need to be carried out to ensure that the recycling service for blocks of flats is
introduced smoothly in Brent.

53 “Increasing participation in recycling in flats — Member task group report”, Director of Policy and Regeneration, December

2009 Page 77



The Council will develop a detailed action plan to:
change the destination of use of dry recycling bins in blocks of flats currently covered by the weekly
separated scheme (e.g. this would consist of relabeling containers or relocating them to more suitable
locations where possible)
initiate a rolling programme to introduce new recycling bins for dry recycling in blocks which currently
do not have a recycling service
assess the suitability of blocks of flats to receive a new food waste collection service.

The Council will continue to assess blocks of flats individually using the procedures already developed in
partnership with the waste and recycling collection contractor.
This will make sure that:
the most suitable locations for recycling bins are identified
consultation with residents living in flats is carried out before new recycling facilities are introduced
opportunities for partnership working with residents, housing associations, other council departments
and private managing agents are maximised
recycling bins for both dry recycling and food waste and residual waste bins are co-located wherever
this is possible.

To support the development of the waste collection strategy and to reflect the needs of the new waste
collection service, a new waste planning guidance was also produced (see appendix E). The Council will work
closely with the planning department, developers and architects to ensure that the requirements for the
provision of recycling facilities are considered in all applications and are satisfactory before planning
permission is granted for new developments.

Table 11 shows the types of collection schemes available in flats. The Council will work closely with WLWA
and other partners, including the Mayor of London, to seek opportunities to support a programme of
infrastructure improvement in flats so that pilot schemes to collect recycling using alternative methods of
collection to bring schemes (i.e. collection points on each storey, door to door collections, chute systems) can
be introduced in Brent where this is possible.

Common barriers to achieving high recycling or composting in blocks of flats include the lack of internal space
for recycling storage and the difficulty of transporting materials to the collection point. WRAP has identified
that average collections are higher in blocks of flats where local authorities provide an internal container for
residents to store their recycling.
The Council will:
provide residents living in blocks of flats where the new communal food waste collection scheme will
be introduced with 51 kitchen caddies to store food waste in the kitchen
explore opportunities to introduce a pilot scheme where residents are provided with internal
receptacles (e.g. reusable sack) to store dry recycling materials before these are transported to the
communal recycling bin. The effect of the container provision on the performance and the use of the
bring sites will be assessed™*.

54 “Recycling collections for flats”, WRAP, 2009. WRAP concluded that sites where residents are provided with internal
receptacles for dry recycling materials collected an average of 2.26 kg/hh/wk while those without internal receptacles collected an

average of 1.18 kg/hh/wk.
Page 78



Brent’s Reuse and Recycling Centre® (RRC) plays an important role in achieving the borough’s waste
management targets. The RRC provides a drop-off facility for a range of household waste materials which can
then be prepared for reuse, recycling, composting or responsible disposal.

Recycling containers or storage areas for 31 different materials are provided at the site (as shown in table 5).

Staff oversee material separation, control traffic and provide advice and assistance to residents.
In addition, a strict “no van” policy is in operation at the site so as to prevent the deposit and abuse of trade
waste.

Tonnage recycled and diverted from landfill has steadily increased since the RRC was opened in June 2004.

Nine RRC’s are provided by the constituent authorities in the WLWA region. Currently waste collection
authorities provide sites independently. Some sites are run by the Councils’ Direct Services Organisation
(DSO), others managed by external contractors, others are managed by WLWA staff as part of agency
arrangements. Brent’s RRC is operated by WLWA staff under an agency agreement.

Residents in the WLWA region can access the most convenient RRC to them, irrespective of their borough of
residence. The performance in terms of reuse, recycling and composting varies significantly across the sites.
Brent’s RRC is currently the best performing site with an overall recycling rate of over 80 per cent.

WLWA and the constituent authorities recently started a review of RRC provision in West London. The
objectives of the review were to:

achieve a minimum of 80 per cent diversion from landfill from all sites

reduce operating costs and improve efficiencies

enhance economies of scale and maximise investment opportunities.

In March 2008, the GLA published best practice guidance on RRC’s for local authorities™®.

The guidance reviewed the performance of all 41 RRC’s in London and concluded that in 2006/07 London-wide
performance at RRC’s was 40 per cent. Brent’s RRC was already the best performing centre as it had achieved
an overall recycling rate of over 66 per cent, as shown in figure 13.

55 The RRC is located at Abbey Road, London NW10 7TJ and is open to the public from 8am to 4pm seven days a week except
Christmas day, Boxing day and News Year’s day.
56 “London Reuse and Recycling Centre Best Practicel._guidanc%éesource Futures for the GLA, March 2008

age



O Residual waste

| Other materials

[ Other dry recycling 70%

{giass, piastics, iy
fextiles) . —
60% - —
vt == =
Lt g } 50% A — : -
pweEs B =

= Metal (incl serap &
cans)

W 'Wood

Ealing
Bexley

W Green wasie

Lewigham
Hawering
Croy don

Southwark

Barnat
Bromley
Islington
Camden

Harrwe
Enfield
Houmnslaw l
Hillingdon
Sutton
Gresnwich
MNewham |

Wandsworth

Tower Hamlats
Waltham Forest

Barking & Dagenham
Rizhmond u Thames

L
:
]
Ed
=z
5]
[=]
=
g

RB Kingston u Thames

The Mayor of London states in his recently published draft waste management strategy that he will work with
London’s waste authorities to:
increase Londoners’ use of local RRC’s
maximise recycling and composting performance at RRC's
consider the recommendations in the best practice guidance to improve local recycling and
composting performance.

Brent’s RRC continues to be an exemplar site in London showing innovation in site management and achieving
the highest diversion of material streams from landfill. Residents recognise the importance of the RRC and use
the facilities provided to reuse, recycle and compost as much of their waste as possible.

The Council will continue to provide a Reuse and Recycling Centre for all residents in Brent.

The Council will work in partnership with WLWA and the other constituent authorities to:
increase opportunities to reuse, recycle and compost additional material streams as markets develop
improve partnering to share markets, expertise and aim to introduce a common and consistent

branding across all sites.

The Council will deliver the policy for the Reuse and Recycling Centre by carrying out the following initiatives:
explore opportunities to increase the range of materials collected for recycling
explore opportunities to increase the range of materials that can be diverted for reuse
seek investment to improve communication with residents to increase their awareness and usage of

the RRC.

The delivery of the initiatives highlighted above will contribute to the delivery of the vision for Brent’s RRC.

Page 80



explore opportunities to increase the range of materials collected for recycling. Brent residents can
already recycle over 30 materials at the site. The Council will work in partnership with WLWA and the
constituent authorities to identify markets for new materials. In addition to price considerations,
markets require good quality materials at the right frequency and presented in the right form.
Therefore whilst the introduction of recycling facilities for some new materials may be relatively
straight-forward to implement, other materials will need in depth market research analysis before
new facilities are provided. The implementation plans that the Council will develop to deliver the
strategy will contain specific targets to increase the range of materials collected for recycling
explore opportunities to increase the range of materials that can be diverted for reuse. Reuse tackles
waste in a more sustainable way than recycling and has the potential to provide wider community
benefits. One of the key findings of the GLA best practice guidance was that reuse options are
currently the least developed in London. The waste prevention chapter of this strategy (see chapter 3)
states that the Council is keen to introduce new ways of managing the separation of items for reuse
(particularly bulky household materials), thus diverting materials from the residual waste stream and
providing Brent residents with access to reuse opportunities. Increased levels of reuse and repair
could also have many social benefits, such as creating jobs and increasing local training and
development. The waste prevention section sets a commitment by the Council (as part of the annual
waste reduction and reuse plans) to carry out research to review the existing bulky household waste
collection service to understand the various streams that could be collected for reuse, including
opportunities to increase reuse at the RRC
seek investment to improve communication with residents to increase their awareness and usage of
the RRC. Residents need to be provided with good communication and information and need to be
encouraged to use the reuse and recycling facilities at the RRC properly. The communications plan
(refer to chapter 8) which will be developed by April 2011 will contain specific targets around
communicating with residents to increase the awareness and usage of the RRC.
* Signage - in 2011/12, the Council will seek investment to review the branding and signage at
the site and follow best practice guidance for clear signage and communications
* Interaction with other recycling schemes — the waste collection strategy will implement new
waste and recycling services from home. It will be necessary to review the performance of the
RRC after the new schemes have been introduced to establish the interaction and effect of
other schemes on the site, particularly in terms of usage and tonnage throughput
*  Working with schools — waste education officers already organise site visits for Brent schools
to the RRC (refer to chapter 10). The Council will continue to provide this service to increase
awareness and overall usage of the RRC
* Open days — free compost and home compost bin sales are normally available during Compost
Awareness Week®’. The Council will explore opportunities to increase both the frequency and
the type of activities that can be delivered at the RRC
* Increase the overall tonnage throughput - Brent’s RRC is already achieving the highest
diversion from landfill in West London. However the Council is committed to further increase
residents’ awareness and usage of the site. There are other factors which need to considered
and evaluated as they affect the amounts of waste materials brought to the site such as:
interaction with other collection systems, average garden sizes, car ownership and the
location of the site.

57

Compost Awareness week is held in the first weekﬁf May every year
age 81



Recycling bins in public places, also known as bring sites or “on-the go” facilities, represented the first type of
recycling facilities provided by local authorities in the UK. They were first introduced in Brent in 1993 and
there are currently 145 bring sites. The following materials are collected at most bring sites separately: paper,
mixed glass, plastic bottles, metal tins and cans, aluminium foil and aerosols. Beverage cartons, books, textiles
and shoes are also collected for recycling at some sites.

Some recycling bins in public places are provided and serviced by community/voluntary organisations or
external companies® but the majority of bins are provided by the Council working in partnership with the
waste and recycling collection contractor. Recycling bins in public places are provided in strategic locations,
such as outside train stations, on high streets, in town centres and parks, as well as the major supermarkets’
car parks.

Table 12 shows the number of recycling bins in public places in Brent and the materials collected.

Material collected Number of sites
Books 7

Cans/aerosols 66

Cartons 5

Mixed Glass 66

Music CD/cassettes 2

Paper 112

Shoes 12

Textiles 76

Total number of bring sites in Brent 145

The provision of recycling bins in public places is a complementary service to the recycling collections from
home. They offer recycling opportunities when residents are away from home and are also suited to a number
of areas where kerbside collections are not feasible (i.e. flats above shops), thus they enable a wider section of
the public to recycle.

Waste Strategy for England 2007 reaffirms the importance of providing recycling facilities in public places. The
Strategy encourages local authorities to promote a recycling culture from the home to places where people
work and which they visit.

The Mayor of London also recognises the importance of recycling bins in public places. In his draft waste
management strategy (2010), he states that he will work with waste authorities, the GLA group functional
bodies, and the private sector to provide “on-the-go” recycling bins across London. Research undertaken for
the London Assembly showed that more than 260 tonnes of waste is produced at lunchtime in London every
day, illustrating the need to capture the proportion of that waste that can be recycled when people are away
from home.

Brent residents are provided with an effective network of recycling bins in public places located in strategic
locations across the borough. Recycling bins in public places stimulate a new wave of public consciousness on
recycling. Residents value the opportunity to recycle during their daily commute and other activities they
carry out away from home.

Recycling bins in public places allow residents living in difficult to serve areas (i.e. flats in commercial
properties) with improved access to recycling facilities.

58 Traid, Salvation Army, Variety Club, Valpak, BywaISrs
age

82




The Council will replace the existing separated scheme in favour of a new fully co-mingled (mixed) network of
recycling bins in public places. New co-mingled recycling facilities to collect the following materials at all sites
will be introduced: glass bottles and jars, paper, metal tins and cans, plastic bottles, aerosols and aluminium
foil. The Council will explore the opportunity to expand the range of materials collected taking into account
value for money and market demands.

The Council will continue to support the recycling facilities provided by voluntary organisations and aim to
explore opportunities to increase the number and the range of materials collected by the organisations.

Following the introduction of the new recycling schemes from home, the Council will:
discontinue the existing separated collection arrangement and introduce new co-mingled recycling
bins, whilst maintaining the same number of materials collected for recycling
this will be achieved by relabeling the bins and adopting a standard signage on all recycling bins to
make sure that this is integrated with the other recycling services
carry out monitoring of the performance of the new recycling scheme
plan the location of recycling bins in public places and to allow access to recycling for “hard to
reach””® sections of the community (i.e. flats in commercial properties)
explore opportunities to work in partnership with local community groups to plan the introduction of
new recycling bins to collect additional materials, like textiles, household batteries and small WEEE
work in partnership with other departments (e.g. parks, town centre managers) to explore
opportunities to introduce recycling bins in public places currently not covered by the service
set and aim to achieve specific targets which will be developed as part of the waste collection
strategy’s implementation plans.

The proposals highlighted above will allow the Council to:
take informed decisions on how and where resources are best used to improve and develop the
network of recycling bins in public places
ensure the standard of service is maintained at a high level
meet residents’ needs and aspirations
understand the factors which influence the success of recycling bins in public places.

Following the introduction of the new recycling services for street level properties and flats, the Council will
carry out a comprehensive review of the network distribution in the borough to ensure that recycling bins are
located in the optimum locations, in the right quantities and are providing value for money.
This will ensure that the new co-mingled collections have the best opportunity to be successful in terms of
tonnages collected, material mix, site acceptance as well as ease of installation, operation and servicing.
Performance monitoring of the network of recycling bins in public places will be carried out to:

ensure that this is still operating at the optimum level

decrease contamination and overflowing issues

ensure bins are labelled appropriately

improve the understanding of the interaction of the scheme with other recycling services.

59 Sections of the population which are ‘hard-to-reach’ operationally. This may be due to their location or housing type e.g. flats
in commercial properties, high rise flats.
Page 83



The Council will review the network of recycling bins in public places to ensure that recycling bins are located
in strategic locations across the Council to allow residents living in flats in commercial properties access to
recycling.

Page 84



The Council’s new waste collection strategy focuses on delivering well designed services that are accessible to all
residents and supported by a programme of communications which promote action and behavioural change. In
order to effectively deliver the strategy, the Council will have to commit considerable budget and staff resource.

Good communications will be vital to deliver the new waste collection strategy.

Communications activities are fully integrated into the Council’s waste management operations to actively promote
and enable behavioural change. The provision of information to residents encourages and motivates them to take
action and adopt sustainable waste management behaviours which become a consistent, embedded every day
routine. Communications activities are planned, targeted and delivered in a purposeful and proactive way, whilst
demonstrating value for money.

The aims for communications are to:
encourage residents to actively engage and participate in the services through the provision of
instructional and motivational information
determine existing barriers to participation and provide operational solutions to address these
encourage long term behavioural change with regard to how residents participate in recycling through
the provision of ongoing advice and targeted information
raise awareness of waste reduction and reuse initiatives and activities
encourage the adoption of waste reduction behaviours and participation in reuse activities.

Communications plans will be developed annually. The first plan will be developed by April 2011 to support
the proposed improvements to the waste collection services, along with the waste reduction and reuse
initiatives.

The plans will be delivered through creative and engaging campaigns which will include SMART®® objectives,
monitoring and evaluation activities and budget requirement. Communications plans will also include a plan
for community engagement and events to ensure that residents not only have information about the services
available to them, but can also influence the type of initiatives that the Council will deliver in the future (refer
to chapter 9).

The Council’s approach to the development of communications plans will be to:
review previous communication materials and activities delivered to assess what worked, successes
and lessons learnt
make best use of available good practice on developing communications plans
work closely with waste communication experts to ensure the initiatives promoted are fully maximised
review audience profiles using Brent’s Evidence Base®', MOSAIC® customer segmentation (already
used by the Council for developing previous communication plans) and other available research to
gain a better understanding of residents

60 Specific, measurable, achievable, relevant, time-bound
61 Brent’s Evidence Base was launched in July 2009. It is a collection of key data sets that officers use for strategy and project
development. The Council and its partners use the evidence base to:

*  develop their understanding of the needs and issues affecting Brent residents

¢  shape future service delivery
62 Mosaic Public sector is a customer segmentation model developed by a company called Experian utilised alongside other
data sources to aid the Council’s understanding of the characteristics of the borough. This model segments the population according to
similar socio-demographic characteristics (lifestyle choices, income, education etc) as well as by geography. Based on the model
inferences can be made about the characteristics and needs of households living within a given area. The model segments the
population into 11 Mosaic Groups which are further sub divided into 61 Mosaic Types.
It is a useful tool to be used as a guide to better understand the needs and the characteristics of households within Brent. Over 70% of
households in Brent are classified as one of four mosaic typtif,' C20, Dggz& F36

age



determine barriers to recycling participation and how these can be overcome by ensuring recycling
services are easily accessible. This will be specifically relevant for hard to reach® and hard to engage®
sections of the population which are often associated with low participation areas®

develop consistent, simple and action focused messages to support communication activities

ensure all relevant staff are fully briefed about the planned communication activities and can act as
ambassadors to promote the new services

regularly monitor and evaluate the performance of the services and review communication methods
to establish whether changes are needed to make them more effective.

The Council will:
seek adequate investment in communications®
deliver a programme of communications to ensure residents understand the benefits of the new
waste and recycling collection service and encourage them to take action and participate
deliver a programme of communications on waste reduction and reuse to enable residents to take
part in these activities and initiatives
measure the success of the communication activities and initiatives. This information will be used to
shape future communications and ensure communications are delivered in a cost effective way
ensure all sections of the community have equal access to services (where operationally feasible) and
information about them through equitable communications.

There is a major commitment through the Mayor of London’s draft waste management strategy (2010) to
support communications campaigns and initiatives to promote waste reduction, reuse and recycling.

The London Waste and Recycling Board recently announced the allocation of £5 million of grant funding to
Recycle for London to deliver a comprehensive programme of communications on waste reduction, reuse and
recycling between 2010 and 2013.

The advantages of this centrally managed campaign will be to:
encourage consistency across London boroughs and nationwide communication initiatives
enable the sharing of good practice and lessons learnt.

An important element of the Recycle for London programme is that it will split its funds against the waste
hierarchy (reduction, reuse, recycling) to deliver:
London-wide communications campaigns
borough localisation of London-wide campaigns
provide communications support and funding to local authorities to deliver communications plans
which include targeted activities based on service provision.

63 ‘hard-to-reach’ residents are often referred to as residents which are difficult to reach operationally. This may be due to their
location or housing type e.g. high rise flats. Hard to reach residents are often those unaware of, unable to take advantage of or
reluctant to take advantage of services provided by the Council.
64 ‘hard to engage’ residents are often referred to as those with whom it may be difficult to communicate the reason to
participate in a recycling service and/or the practicalities of using it. Examples of these ‘hard to engage’ groups might include transient
groups such as students or itinerant or seasonal workers. Language and literacy issues may present specific challenges.
65 The term LPA is applied to geographic areas where there is a concentration of households, which, for whatever reason,
participate less in the recycling service provided than households in other areas of the same authority. Low participation can cover a
number of specific issues:
e Low levels of participation in recycling services overall resulting in low tonnages collected
e Low levels of participation in terms of the range of materials collected resulting in low tonnages captured for some materials
® Incorrect participation resulting in the wrong materials being presented and poor quality of recyclate collected which can
lead to rejection of entire loads if contamination levels are high
66 WRAP’s experience of working with a large number of local authorities, suggests that a realistic expectation for effective
communications budgets when the launch of a brand new s&rvice is osed should be of up to £3.00 per household.
Page 88



The Council will work closely with Recycle for London, WRAP and the London Waste and Recycling Board to:
take maximum advantage of external funding opportunities to support the delivery of local
communications campaigns
consider the benefits of ‘piggy backing’ on other regional and national communication activities which
seek to generate media and public interest and use these messages at a local level.

The Council’s communications plan will specifically focus on the proposed waste and recycling collection
service, waste reduction and reuse initiatives and include a mix of communication activities.

Chapters 4 and 5 outline the Council’s proposals for the new waste and recycling collection service in Brent.
The new service aims to:
increase the Council’s recycling performance
deliver an effective and efficient collection service
enhance the environmental performance of the services and help to mitigate the negative effects of
waste management on climate change.

The success of the new waste and recycling collection service in Brent will depend on the delivery of an
effective service, which is supported by a programme of targeted communications to actively encourage
residents to recycle more and participate on a regular basis.

The level of engagement will depend on the budget allocated to communications.

The Council will work to achieve the following:
inform residents about the service changes and how to get the most out of the new waste and
recycling collection service
develop targeted communications using audience profile data to learn about residents’ needs and find
out what stops them recycling with the long term aim of changing behaviour
carry out monitoring throughout campaigns’ periods including evaluation mechanisms for
communications activities.

The waste reduction and reuse plan (see chapter 3) that the Council proposes to develop by April 2011 will
include the details of initiatives, which:
have a demonstrable effect on reducing the amount of waste produced and will therefore be
introduced (or expanded) in Brent
require additional research and evidence before successful implementation is possible (e.g. there is
not enough evidence to demonstrate the reduction in waste that their implementation would bring;
there are not enough resources in Brent to introduce the initiatives).

The Council will work closely with the Recycle for London programme, which has recognised the need to
increase Londoners’ awareness and understanding of waste reduction and reuse, to encourage behavioural
change amongst residents. Where possible the Council will:

support London-wide messages on waste reduction and reuse, particularly where there is a tangible

benefit for Brent residents

maximise funding opportunities to deliver local waste reduction and reuse communications campaigns

Page 87



work closely with WLWA waste minimisation co-ordinator to share experience and benefit from the
effective pooling of resources and expertise within neighbouring authorities®”.

In August 2009, WRAP published the Waste Collection commitment®, a document developed to set out,
through a number of key principles, the standard of service that every household in England should expect
from their waste collection authority and provide councils with advice on how to improve their services.

The Waste Collection Commitment is a voluntary, service-level agreement. By signing up to the Commitment,
a local authority is committing to ensuring that the needs of its residents are central to the design and delivery
of their waste and recycling collection services®.

The Council will ensure that the new, improved waste and recycling services meet the principles of the Waste
Collection Commitment. The Council will work with WRAP to sign up to the voluntary agreement so that the
following benefits can be achieved:

provide better waste and recycling services to residents

improve communications with residents and ensure that residents are clear on the level of service that

they can expect to receive

improve satisfaction and participation in recycling services

reduce the cost of landfill

reduce the carbon footprint of waste management operations.

67 . L . . . . . .
WLWA has recently recruited a new waste minimisation coordinator who will work in partnership with the constituent

authorities to develop and implement waste prevention initiatives. The first WLWA waste minimisation plan was developed in April
2010.

68 The commitment flows from the recommendations made by the Communities and Local Government Select Committee’s
Fifth Report of Session 2006-7. The Committee said that: “There is a strong case for moving towards a basic understood standard, if not
for collection methods or timings or frequency or type, at least for what the householder who pays, at least in part, for refuse
collection through his or her council tax should be able to expect from the local authority.”

In their response to the Select Committee the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs invited WRAP and the Local
Government Association to develop a set of principles for a good collection system. The Commitment has been developed from the
findings of comprehensive market research which was undertaken in the autumn of 2008. The purpose of the market research was to
better understand the aspects of waste collection services that English householders considered most important. The key themes that
emerged from the market research were developed into a number of principles that define a good collection system.

69 The principles are as follows: “We are committed to providing waste and recycling services which are good value for money
and which meet the needs of our residents. This means we will:

Explain clearly what services you can expect to receive

Provide regular collections

Provide a reliable collection service

Consider any special requests that individual households may have

Design our services and carry out collections in a way that doesn’t produce litter

Collect as many materials for recycling as we can and explain to you what happens to them

Explain clearly what our service rules are and the reasons for them

Tell you in good time if we have to make changes to your services, even temporarily

Respond to complaints we receive about our services

Tell all our residents about this commitment to collecting waste”.

Page 88

=

CoONOUAWN

N
e



Brent has one of the most diverse communities in the country with distinctive strengths and needs. Although
this is a great asset to the borough, it also poses challenges. This makes the action of engaging with
communities all the more important.
Community engagement covers many different activities carried out for and with residents and communities
in Brent. Understanding and meeting the needs of Brent’s residents is at the heart of community engagement.
The Council’s commitment is about:
widening and deepening the involvement of Brent’s residents and communities in waste-related
activities and initiatives
making sure residents in Brent have enough information about the activities that the Council delivers
and can access the resources available to them
empowering residents and understanding that communities become stronger only if local people are
effectively engaged.

The Council is confident that the new waste collection strategy will introduce more efficient and effective
services. Conveying the new vision, policies and proposals contained within this waste collection strategy is of
the utmost importance and the Council is committed to do so in a manner which is accessible and inclusive.

The Council already actively engages with Brent’s residents and communities. Engagement activities regularly
carried out include:
delivery of an education programme for primary and secondary schools in Brent (refer to chapter 10)
attendance at events and festivals to provide information and increase awareness on waste reduction,
reuse and recycling. Information stalls and recycling facilities for community events are also provided
attendance at residents’ group meetings, area housing board meetings and residents’ walkabouts
engagement with communities of interest, including Street watchers’, older people and their carers,
disabled people and BME groups
promotion of the Green Zone scheme, an initiative started by Brent residents which has proved
successful in getting residents to understand recycling and environmental issues and has empowered
local communities to make a difference (refer to chapter 3)
engagement with the Brent Multi Faith Forum’* to offer advice on recycling and promote the Council’s
services, including the provision of recycling services to all faith premises.

The Council is committed to understand, work with and meet the needs of all residents so that Brent becomes
an even better place to live, work, study and visit.

Community engagement activities carried out by the Council enable active, effective and inclusive
participation by residents and communities. Brent residents feel that they have a positive influence on waste
management in Brent. Residents develop the knowledge, skills and confidence to work with the Council to
take action to reduce, reuse and recycle. Residents feel comfortable about changing their attitude and pre-
conception to waste, recognise that waste is a valuable resource and manage it in a more sustainable way.

70 The Street Watcher scheme consists of resident who volunteer to work with the council to fight environmental crime in their
local neighbourhoods.
71 Brent Multi Faith Forum aims to develop shared objectives for discussion to establish key issues for Brent Faith Communities

and a plan of action to make strategic interventions. It influences strategic policies by incorporating multi-faith perspectives by securing
representation on Brent Statutory and Voluntary Boards.
Page 89



The Council will:
develop annual community engagement plans to coincide with and as part of the communications
plans (refer to section 8). The first communications plan will be produced by April 2011
ensure that the engagement and event activities are equitable, accessible, promoted clearly and in
good time
strengthen the relationship with local partners and residents to promote waste related information
develop community engagement plans that incorporate a variety of formats (including face to face,
written communication, telephone assistance and online services), so that engaging with Brent Council
on waste issues is as convenient for residents as possible.

The aim of the community engagement plans will be to enable and encourage residents to participate in waste
related activities and initiatives and take maximum advantage of the services available to them.

Residents will be able to access opportunities to participate in waste related activities and feel confident to do
so.

Community engagement plans will be developed in conjunction with communications plans. The plans will:
contain the details of individual activities that the Council proposes to carry out for the year ahead
include the aims and objectives, timetable, budget commitment and expected outcomes for all
engagement activities
give opportunities to residents and communities to influence the types of engagement activities that
will be delivered and contribute to decision making.

Page 90



Schools and young people have a vital role in securing the future of Brent. Almost a quarter of residents are
under 19 years old and 74 per cent of children in Brent schools are from ethnic minorities, where over 130
languages are spoken.

The next generation will be living with the effects of climate change and it is important to influence their
behaviour now. Schools have the opportunity to become role models for their pupils and communities by
putting waste prevention and recycling into practice.

The Council started a programme of waste education across the 64 primary schools and 20 secondary schools
in 2003. A dedicated team of waste education officers delivers engaging activities designed to introduce pupils
to various aspects of waste, from anti-littering education to the global impact of waste on climate change and
the international community. The waste education officers also work with youth groups, scout groups,
libraries and faith groups.

Information stalls and activities for children and young people are regularly offered at Brent’s festivals and
events.

The overall aim of the waste education activities in schools is to change the attitude towards waste in the 5 to
16 year old age group and support schools to reduce waste to landfill.

The hard work has not gone unnoticed. In 2009 one of the waste education officers was a Local Authority
Recycling Advisory Committee (LARAC)’* Recycling Officer of the year finalist as well as a runner up in the Let’s
Recycle” Awards for Excellence.

The Council offers a growing range of waste education activities, such as:
recycling facilities to recycle paper, food waste, garden waste, cardboard, metal tins and cans, plastic
bottles and glass bottles to all education establishments in Brent. Table 13 shows the number of
schools currently covered by the recycling scheme
waste education project — waste education officers provide reduce, reuse and recycling assemblies,
materials workshops (e.g. paper, metals, plastics etc), waste audits, interactive games, story readings
and educational visits to Brent’s Reuse and Recycling Centre. Table 14 shows the number of visits
carried out over the last three years. Appendix F provides an outline of the activities that are currently
offered to Brent schools. Bespoke activities and presentations are also delivered to suit the
requirements of individual schools
composting — all schools in Brent are eligible to receive free compost bins and the Council has so far
distributed compost bins to 47 schools. The Council will be working hard in the coming years to
encourage more of Brent schools to take up this offer.

Primary schools

Number of schools Number of schools provided with dry | Number of schools provided with
recycling facilities™ organics recycling facilities

64 63 44

Secondary schools

Number of schools Number of schools provided with dry | Number of schools provided with
recycling facilities” organics recycling facilities

20 19 7

72 www.larac.org.uk

73 www.letsrecycle.com

74 Note that not all primary schools currently receive a recycling collection for the full range of materials offered. In addition

some schools may receive recycling collections from private contractors.

75 Note that not all secondary schools currently receive a recycling collection for the full range of materials offered. In addition

some schools may receive recycling collections from privatelsjatéaétog.

1




Primary schools

Year Number of schools visits’®
2007/08 75

2008/09 80

2009/10 79

Secondary schools

Year Number of schools visits’’
2007/08 7

2008/09 21

2009/10 26

The Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) would like every school to become a sustainable
school by 2020. A sustainable school is a school which contributes to sustainable development and prepares
young people for a lifetime of sustainable living. To help schools understand what they need to do to achieve
this aim, DCSF has established a National Framework for Sustainable Schools. The Framework focuses on ways
in which sustainable development can be embedded into school practices and provides practical guidance to
help schools operate in a more sustainable way.

The Framework introduces eight ‘doorways’’® (or sustainability themes) through which schools may choose to
initiate or extend their sustainable school activity.

Eco-schools is an international environmental education award programme that guides schools on their
sustainable journey, run by the Foundation for Environmental Education’® (FEE).

Once registered, schools follow a seven-step process which helps them to address a variety of environmental
themes, ranging from litter and waste to healthy living and biodiversity.

Schools work towards gaining three awards — bronze, silver and the prestigious green flag award, which
symbolises excellence in the field of environmental activity and is assessed by Keep Britain Tidy®.

Brent schools are a model of resource efficiency as they embed sustainable development within their everyday
activities and routine. Brent pupils are aware of and engaged in sustainable waste management, at school and
at home. Brent’s waste education officers work closely with teachers and young people to cultivate the
knowledge, values and skills needed to address waste issues in Brent. Many schools in Brent are sustainable
schools and other schools are working towards the green flag award of the Eco-schools programme. Brent
schools are leaders in London as they reduce, reuse and recycle as much as possible.

The Council will continue to build on the success of the existing waste education activities by:
providing free recycling facilities to all schools in Brent, as well as the supporting information on how
to use the services available
providing free compost bins to all schools in Brent as well as the advice and guidance needed from
schools on actions they can take to manage organic waste

76 Note that some primary schools may have received more than one visit during the academic year

77 Note that some secondary schools may have received more than one visit during the academic year

78 The eight doorways are: food and drink, energy and water, travel and traffic, purchasing and waste, buildings and grounds,
inclusion and participation, local well being and global dimension.

79 www.fee-international.org/en

80 http://www.keepbritaintidy.org

Page 92




delivering meaningful activities in schools by developing, delivering, monitoring and reviewing at
regular intervals the waste education project to establish it as a showcase example of good practice in
London.

The above policy will be delivered by achieving the targets set in the following proposal.

The Council is committed to expanding the existing waste education activities and is committed to achieving
the following objectives:
introduce activities which would support schools in their journey to become sustainable schools as
well as provide support as part of the Eco-schools programme. This will be achieved by setting the
following target:
* one to one activities are provided every year to at least 20 schools in Brent in their journey to
become sustainable schools or achieve one of the three awards of the Eco-schools programme
increase the number of schools in Brent regularly requesting assemblies and education activities. This
will be achieved by setting the following targets:
*  40% of primary schools and 50% of secondary schools are visited at least once during the
school year
increase the provision of recycling facilities. This will be achieved by setting the following targets:
* 100% of schools in Brent have dry recycling facilities and 80% of schools have recycling
facilities which collect the full range of materials
* 70% of schools in Brent have organics recycling facilities
*  50% of schools in Brent have compost bins and produce compost for their grounds.

In 2009 the Council initiated a comprehensive review of the waste education activities offered to Brent
schools. The review was supported by extensive good practice research, discussion with other local
authorities in London, as well as organising focus groups with Brent teachers and other colleagues working
with schools. The main output of the review was the redevelopment of the waste education project, which
will promoted to all schools in Brent at the beginning of the new school year.

Page 93



/ Overall Vision for \
waste =3
management o
=]
=
o
>
— =
I
Str:.ateg.y ©
Objectives t
(]
~— 3
=
o
— jc
o
Strategy B
Targets X
\ ~— / -
e N\ ([
r r v Memeane——\ ( r \ \
Waste Recycling — Recycling — Recyclin Bins in Public Communication Community Waste §' g
Prevention Kerbside Flats vl Places Engagement Education ° =
Centre a <
\. J J \. \.
\. J .
4 ) {
4 4 ' ' N\ [ e 4 4 A
Vision for Vision for Vision for flats h Vision for RRC Vision for bins h Vision for Vision for Vision for c
waste kerbside recycling in public Communication community waste -g
prevention schemes places engagement education =3
\. \. \. J \\ J \ J \\ J \ \. J
J/ U
e
- - . N (. N\ (. (. N (o - )
Policy 1 Policy 2 Policy 3 Policy 4 Policy 5 Policy 6 Policy 7 Policy 8 g >
Supporting G e %
icies 1 - [-%
L\ oliciesi s \ ) L J ) L J L \ ) \>
4 ) {
( ( ( > c
Proposals Proposals Proposal Proposal Proposals 13 - Proposals Proposal Proposal 5.8
1-8 9-10 11 12 14 15-18 19 20 o+
\ \. 7 . \ \ 7 a <
. J &

Page 94



12. Consultation Questions

Page 95



Page 96



Directive 2008/98/EC establishes a legal framework for the treatment of waste within the
European Community. It aims to protect the environment and human health through the
prevention of the harmful effects of waste generation and waste management. It requires all
member states to adhere to article 4 which requires that a waste hierarchy shall apply as a
priority order in waste prevention and management legislation and policy. “Waste Hierarchy” is
a simple rule for managing waste which puts the most emphasis on preventing the generation of
waste in the first place, as shown in figure 14. However Article 4 also allows for specific waste
streams to depart from the hierarchy where this is justified by life-cycle thinking on the overall
impacts of the generation and management of such waste.

Most
preferred
option

Least
preferred
option

Directive 2008/98/EC also establishes major principles such as an obligation to handle waste in a
way that does not have a negative impact on the environment or human health, an
encouragement to apply the waste hierarchy and, in accordance with the polluter-pays principle,
a requirement that the costs of disposing of waste must be borne by the holder of waste, by
previous holders or by the producers of the product from which the waste came.

Article 11(2) of the Directive sets targets for Member States to achieve:
By 2020 a minimum of 50 per cent of waste by weight for materials such as paper,

metal, plastic and glass from households and possibly from other origins as long as these
waste streams are similar to waste from households, shall be prepared for reuse or
recycled.

Under the EU Landfill Directive (1999/31/EC) the following wastes are banned from landfill:
liquids
wastes which are explosive, corrosive, oxidising, highly flammable or flammable
hospital and clinical wastes
whole and shredded used tyres.

In addition, the Batteries Directive (2006/66/EC) introduced a ban on disposing of automotive
and industrial batteries to landfill and incineration.

Page 97



Waste Strategy for England 2007 (WS2007) is developed by the Department for Environment,
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra)®’. WS2007 sets the policy context for waste management at
national level. It identifies national objectives and targets with regard to waste which are as
follows:
to ensure that our economic prosperity increases, the amount of waste we produce
decreases and that preventing waste is of the utmost importance
to ensure that as a nation we meet and exceed the targets for diverting biodegradable
municipal waste in 2010, 2013 and 2020
to ensure that as a nation we decrease the amount of non-municipal waste we send to
landfill through finding more sustainable methods of dealing with it
to ensure that investment is made in providing infrastructure needed to divert waste
from landfill and for the management of hazardous waste
to ensure maximum environmental benefit from that investment, through increased
recycling of resources and recovery of energy from residual waste.

Defra’s vision is that Local Authorities will provide convenient recycling services for their
residents along with advice and information on how to reduce waste. Local Authorities will also
work with their communities to plan and invest in new collection and reprocessing facilities.
Space for landfill sites is running out in England and as such sending waste to landfill is becoming
extremely expensive. There is also a need to reduce the UK’s greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions
dramatically. Defra expects that the WS2007 will help us reduce the amount of waste we send
to landfill by 25 million tonnes and its associated GHG emissions by at least 9.3 million tonnes.
This is equivalent to each person in England reducing the amount of overall waste they produce
by 50 per cent.

To reduce the amount of waste we send to landfill, Defra has set national recycling and
composting targets which increase over time. In 2015 we must recycle and compost 45 per cent
of our household waste and by 2020 we will need to recycle and compost 50 per cent of our
household waste.

It is likely that we will always produce some waste. Defra wishes to see the residual waste which
cannot sensibly be reused, recycled or composted put to good use. The principle use of this
residual waste is as a source of energy. The recovery of energy from waste will be a particularly
important contribution to the UK’s energy security. Rises in oil and gas prices and political
instability in a number of supplier countries mean the UK has the opportunity to generate energy
from renewable sources such as wind power, tidal power and waste. Defra has set the following
recovery targets:

67 per cent in 2015

75 per cent by 2020.
In April 2008 the Government introduced a set of 198 National Indicators (Nls) reflecting national
priority outcomes for local authorities. The NlIs replace Best Value Performance Indicators
previously set for local authorities. NI standards have been set for every UK local authority.
There are four Nls directly relating to waste:

NI 191 — Number of kilograms of residual waste (waste not reused, recycled or

composted) collected per household

NI 192 — Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling, composting or

anaerobic Digestion

NI 193 — Percentage of municipal waste sent to landfill

81 www.defra.gov.uk

Page 98



NI 195 - Percentage of land surveyed that is of a poor or unsatisfactory standard of
cleanliness.

The UK Government Sustainable Development Strategy (UKGSDS)(Defra 2005) is the
Government’s strategy to “enable all people throughout the world to satisfy their basic needs
and enjoy a better quality of life without compromising the quality of life of future generations”.
It has a focus on sustainable consumption and production, looking at how goods and services are
produced, understanding the impacts of products and materials across their whole lifecycle and
building on people’s awareness of social and environmental concerns, encouraging waste
reduction, reuse, recycling and composting, to decoupling the economy from environmental
degradation.

UKGSDS has the following guiding principles:

living within environmental limits

ensuring a strong, healthy and just society
achieving a sustainable economy
promoting good governance

using sound science responsibly.

The Waste & Emissions Trading Act (2003) is intended to help the UK meet its European
obligations under the Landfill Directive and provides a framework for the Landfill Allowance
Trading Scheme (LATS) which was set up primarily to divert biodegradable municipal waste
(BMW) from landfill. The targets set by the 1999 Landfill Directive are to reduce the amount of
BMW going to landfill:

by 2010 to 75per cent of that produced in 1995

by 2013 to 50per cent of that produced in 1995
by 2020 to 35per cent of that produced in 1995.

The UK Renewable Energy Strategy (2009) produced by the Department of Energy and Climate
Change (DECC)** requires the UK to generate 15 per cent of its energy from renewable sources
by 2020. It is anticipated that 18 per cent of renewable energy can be generated by recovering
energy from wood and food waste alone if these ‘resources’ were diverted from landfill. The
chart in figure 15 shows the potential carbon savings simply from diverting waste from landfill
and also the potential carbon savings from recovering energy from each type of waste.

82 www.decc.gov.uk

Page 99



11000

1700

1500
i
'é 1300 i CHP
F=
g 1100 H Incineration
E3
£ 900 | H Ancarobic Digestion
§ -
g 700 i Composting
=
§ S00 - H Recycling
o
g 300  Avoid Lanfill
oo
-

Materials Treated

The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan (UKLCTP) is a national strategy also produced by DECC,
which aims to cut GHG emissions from waste by 13 per cent below emission from waste in 2008
by 2020 by setting carbon budgets. A 'carbon budget' is a cap on the total quantity of
greenhouse gas emissions emitted over a specified time. National carbon budgets cover a five-
year period, with three budgets set at a time. The first three carbon budgets will run from 2008-
12, 2013-17 and 2018-22. Fundamentally, carbon budgeting is about assessing, understanding
and reusing carbon footprints.

The key priorities for waste in the UKLCTP are:
to reduce the amount of waste produced especially food waste
banning certain types of waste from landfill because of their related emissions; and
capturing CH, emissions from existing landfills.

Figure 16 indicates the assumed reductions in greenhouse gases from different contributing
sectors. It shows that by 2022 overall emissions will be just below 500 MtCO,e (light blue
section). This reduction is an aggregation of reductions made across each sector (orange, purple,
pink, blue and green).

Page 100



I'he plan will reduce emissions in every sector

650

Greenhouse Gas emissions (M1CO e}

2

2008 2008 2010 2071 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022

[l Powsr and heavy industry Bl Workplaces and jobs
B Transport B8 Farming, land and waste
S Homes and communities

Source: Depatment of Ensrgy and Cimate Change

Communities & Local Government (CLG)** has produced a number of planning policy documents
which Local Authorities must adhere to. Planning Policy Statement 1: Delivering Sustainable
Development (PPS1) and the supplement to PPS1: Planning and Climate Change describe the
Government’s aims for sustainable development. These are:

e social progress which recognises the needs of everyone

o effective protection of the environment

e the prudent use of natural resources

e the maintenance of high and stable levels of economic growth and employment.

PPS1 states that Local Authorities should ensure that development plans contribute to global
sustainability by addressing the causes and potential impacts of climate change.

PPS1 also states that community involvement is an essential element in delivering sustainable
development and creating sustainable and safe communities.

Planning Policy Statement 10: Planning for Sustainable Waste Management (PPS10) sets out
the Government’s vision for waste management.

The core principle is to protect human health and the environment by producing less waste and
using it as a resource. PPS 10 helps deliver the national waste strategy WS2007 by helping waste
planning authorities to discharge their responsibilities in a consistent and lawful manner. All
waste management plans must conform to the national waste strategy and PPS 10.

The Mayor of London® shares responsibility for the strategic planning of London with the 33
London boroughs. The Mayor has a duty to produce the London Plan, which describes the
development of the whole city in terms of planning and development. The planning documents

83 www.communities.gov.uk
84 www.london.gov.uk/who-runs-london/mayor

Page 101



produced by Brent Council must conform to this overarching London Plan. The Mayor of London
published a draft replacement London Plan in 2010. Consultation on this draft took place in
early 2010, with the final plan expected to be published between late 2010 and early 2011.

The London plan also deals with climate change and waste management. It sets out a desire for
London to work towards a state of “waste self-sufficiency”, where London manages, treats and
utilises its waste within its own boundaries. The aim is that “waste self-sufficiency” can be
achieved by:
minimising waste
encouraging the reuse of and reduction in the use of materials
exceeding recycling/composting levels in municipal solid waste (MSW) of 45 per cent by
2015, 50 per cent by 2020 and aspiring to achieve 60 per cent by 2031
exceeding recycling/composting levels in commercial and industrial waste of 70 per cent
by 2020
exceeding recycling and reuse levels in construction, excavation and demolition (CE&D)
waste of 95 per cent by 2020
improving London’s net self-sufficiency through reducing the proportion of waste
exported from the capital over time
working with neighbouring regional and district authorities to co-ordinate strategic waste
management across the greater South East.

London’s waste is said to be managed in a self sufficient manner if:
it is used in London for energy recovery (e.g. through anaerobic digestion,
pyrolysis/gasification or through existing incinerators)
it is composted or recycled, sorted or bulked at one of London’s material recycling facilities
for reprocessing either in London.
it is recovered as a Solid Recoverable Fuel (SRF) produced in London.

The London Plan refers to “waste apportionment”. This is an amount of waste allocated to each
waste planning authority.

Each London borough must identify sufficient land appropriate for the construction of a waste
infrastructure which can handle this waste apportionment. This is in line with PPS10.

In London, household waste makes up 79 per cent (3.14 million tonnes) of municipal waste and
includes household refuse, recycling and bulky waste, street litter and park litter. The remaining
21 per cent (835,000 tonnes) comes mainly from grass cuttings and leaves in parks, council office
waste and (in certain boroughs) some small and medium sized businesses.

49 per cent of London’s municipal waste is sent to landfill, 25 per cent is recycled or composted
and 23 per cent incinerated.
80 per cent of London’s residual waste goes to landfill sites outside London, however these
locations are increasingly reluctant to accept London’s waste and this landfill capacity is due to
expire by 2025. The remainder is sent to London’s two municipal waste landfill sites in Rainham
(Havering) and Beddington Farm (Sutton). However, these sites are expected to close by 2018
and 2021 respectively. With no new landfill capacity planned within London, new targets for the
management of London’s waste have been set:
a London-wide household waste reduction target equating to 10 per cent per household
by 2020 increasing to 20 per cent per household by 2031 below the amount of

Page 102



household waste produced in the financial year 2008/09 — a reduction from 970kg to
790kg per household

to reuse 1 per cent of London’s municipal waste by 2012, increasing to 3 per cent by
2031 — an increase of 40,000 tonnes a year in 2012 and 120,000 tonnes a year in 2031

to recycle or compost at least 45 per cent of municipal waste by 2015, 50 per cent by
2020 with the aspiration of a zero waste London by 2031.

The management of London’s municipal waste can and should deliver the greatest possible GHG
savings through waste reduction and increased levels of reuse, recycling, composting and
efficient energy generation. There is an ambition that through reuse, recycling and efficient
energy generation London will save 2 million tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (MtCO,e)* per
year.

London’s approach to municipal waste management is changing from one which sees waste as ‘a
problem to be disposed of’ to one which views waste as ‘an opportunity to be exploited’. There
are several financial benefits to this new way of thinking:
establishing a market for materials and energy that have come from municipal waste
could save London up to £70 million
preparing London to manage its municipal waste in the most carbon efficient and
economically beneficial way could generate approximately 350 green-collar jobs and
£13m of direct Gross Value Added (GVA)®® each year to 2025
maximising the recovery of London’s municipal waste has the potential to contribute £80
million of savings to London’s £4 billion electricity bill and £24 million off London’s £2.6
billion gas bill.

The Mayor wishes that “recycling or composting in London is a hassle-free part of Londoners’
lives”. The following aspirations have been made:
to recycle or compost 60 per cent of London’s municipal waste by 2031 saving about 1.9
million tonnes of CO,e and £63 million in waste collection and landfill disposal costs
each year
the provision and promotion of accessible, consistent and cost-effective recycling and
composting collection services across London that incentivise Londoners to use them
achieving high recycling rates will ensure London’s waste authorities achieve their
Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme (LATS) allowances, as set by the government.

London’s waste authorities need to reduce the amount of biodegradable municipal waste sent to
landfill from approximately 1.9 million tonnes in 2009 to about 800,000 tonnes by 2020.
London’s waste authorities will need to divert an additional 1.1 million tonnes of BMW from
landfill between 2010 and 2020.

Under the GLA Act 1999 (as amended), the Mayor is required to produce and continually review
a climate change mitigation and energy strategy. The Mayor’s vision is that by 2025 London is
one of the world’s leading low carbon cities, having minimised CO, emissions, with a thriving low

85 CO,e is the universal unit of measurement used to indicate the global warming potential (GWP) of each
greenhouse gas. The global warming impact of all greenhouse gases is measured in terms of equivalency to carbon
dioxide (CO,) for example, one million tonnes of emitted methane (CH,) is measured as 25 MtCO,e because it is 25
times more potent as a greenhouse gas than CO,.

86 GVA measures the contribution to the economy of each individual producer, industry or sector in the United
Kingdom. It measures the difference between the value of goods and services produced and the cost of raw materials
and other inputs which are used in production.

Page 103



carbon economy, the world’s most energy efficient buildings, a secure and efficient energy
supply and low carbon transport. The following CO, emissions reduction targets are to be set
generally for the city:

e 22 per cent of 1990 levels by 2015

e 38 per cent of 1990 levels by 2020
® 60 per cent of 1990 levels by 2025.

One of the main streams of emerging policy surrounding climate change mitigation in London is
the development of low carbon energy, both its generation and distribution. This means that
electricity and heat can be produced locally to be used locally with high levels of efficiency,
unlike centralised energy generation where much of the energy produced is lost in transmission.

The London Waste and Recycling Board was formally constituted in September 2008 with
funding of £84 million from both central Government and the London Development Agency.

The Mission Statement for the London Waste and Recycling Board is set out in the Greater
London Authority Act 1999 (as amended 2007).

The Board may provide financial assistance to any person towards or for the purposes of:

(a) The provision of facilities for or in connection with the collection, treatment or disposal of
waste produced in Greater London;

(b) Conducting research into new technologies or techniques for the collection, treatment or
disposal of waste;

(c) Securing, or assisting in securing, the performance of any function of a London borough
council or the Common Council relating to waste.

The objectives of the Board are to promote and encourage, so far as relating to Greater London:
the reduction of waste

an increase in the proportion of waste that is reused or recycled
the use of methods of collection, treatment and disposal of waste which are more
beneficial to the environment.

LWARB is required to act in accordance with the Mayor of London’s Municipal Waste
Management Strategy and in general conformity with the Spatial Development Strategy for
Greater London (the ‘London Plan’).

The Board issues an annual business plan to identify how LWaRB intends to allocate funds for the
year ahead.

West London Waste Authority Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

The West London Waste Authority (WLWA, or the “Authority”) is the waste disposal authority for
the six London boroughs of Brent, Ealing, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow and Richmond upon
Thames.

As a waste disposal authority, it is responsible for the treatment and disposal of household and
municipal waste arising from each of the borough’s activities. In two tier waste authority areas,
there is a statutory duty on waste collection and disposal authorities to produce a joint municipal
waste management strategy (JMWMS) for their area.

The Authority and its constituent boroughs produced and adopted a JMWMS in 2006 which runs
until 2025.

Page 104



The box summarises the eight policies adopted in the strategy. They represent the framework
for waste management in West London.

Policy 1: Compliance with national legislation
Current and future policy development will have regard to the National and Mayor of London’s Municipal
Waste Management Strategies and other relevant national, regional and local guidance.

Policy 2: Waste reduction and reuse
West London Waste Authority and its constituent Boroughs will prioritise waste reduction and waste
reuse.

Policy 3: Recycling and composting
Jointly, the West London Waste Authority and constituent Boroughs will aim to recycle and compost at
least:

*  28% of municipal waste by 2006/7

*  40% of municipal waste by 2010

*  50% of municipal waste by 2020

Policy 4: Recycling and composting
The collection authorities will serve all households with recycling collections for at least four materials by
2008.

Policy 5: Landfill
West London Waste Authority and its constituent Boroughs will reduce biodegradable municipal waste
landfilled with regard to the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme.

Policy 6: Residual waste management

West London Waste Authority and constituent Boroughs will seek a residual waste management solution
in accordance with the waste hierarchy, that presents value for money and that offers reliability in the
long term.

Policy 7: Other waste management services and streams®’

The West London Waste Authority and constituent Boroughs will seek to provide waste management
services that offer good value, that provide customer satisfaction and that meet and exceed legislative
requirements.

Policy 8: Sharing burdens
The West London Waste Authority and constituent Boroughs will work together to achieve the aims of this
strategy and are committed to share equitably the costs and rewards of achieving its aims.

In 2009 the Authority produced and adopted an addendum to the Strategy as summarised
below.

87 Other waste management services include street cleansing, bulky waste management and trade waste
collections. Other waste management streams include hazardous waste, electronic equipment, abandoned vehicles
and clinical waste.

Page 105




The amount of municipal waste arising in West London decreased from 859,000 tonnes in
2002/3 to 735,000 in 2008/9. This was primarily due to a significant decrease in the arisings of
non-household municipal waste. Arisings of household waste fluctuated over the same period
and in 2008/09 were at a similar level to those in 2003/04 (despite a slight increase in
population). Figure 17 shows the past trend in municipal waste arisings in WLWA.

1,000,000 -
900.000
coon - =
700.000
g 600,000
£ 500000 4
(=]
~ 400,000
300,000
200,000
100,000 +
2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08  2008/09
|- HAanieahald Wincta m Mithar Mimicninal \W asta |
| = Household Waste = Other Municipal Waste|

The addendum also included waste arising predictions in conjunction with household prediction
figures to understand the impact that waste arising may have on future waste management
needs.

Recycling and composting performance increased significantly in West London over recent years,
rising from 10 per cent in 2002/3 to 30.5 per cent in 2008/9. Figure 18 shows the past trend in
recycling and composting performance in WLWA.

1,000,000 -
900,000
sonooo R =
700,000 H
® 600,000 -
£ 500,000 A
2 400000
300,000 +
200,000
2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09
B Waste landfilled (tonnes) @ Waste recycled and composted (tonnes)
m Waste recovered (tonnes)

The amount of residual waste generated in West London reduced steadily over the last few
years, as illustrated in figure 19. The amount of waste landfilled reduced by over 200,000 tonnes
per annum in seven years. This was largely achieved through an increase in recycling and
composting performance as well as the reduction in overall arisings.

Page 106



1,000,000
900,000
800,000 = —-—
700,000 L, e S —
600,000 _ —
500,000 —
400,000
300,000
200,000 - -—
100,000 - "

Tonnes

2002/03 2003/04 2004/05 2005/06 2006/07 2007/08 2008/09

—e—Waste landfilled (tonnes)
—=—Waste recycled and composted (tonnes)
—s—Total Municipal Waste

European and national legislation is driving the diversion of waste from landfill. Waste disposal
authorities, through the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme (LATS), have been given challenging
limits for the amount of biodegradable waste that they are allowed to landfill.

During the development of the addendum to the Strategy, an analysis of the prediction of landfill
diversion required was undertaken. The analysis concluded that if the recycling and composting
targets set for 2010 and 2020 (40% and 50%) are achieved, WLWA will be in LATS surplus until
2011/12 and will be in deficit between 2013-2015 and would need to find additional treatment
for over 50,000 tonnes. Figure 20 shows the LATS performance predicted for WLWA if recycling
and composting targets are met.

600,000

500,000 A

400,000 4

300,000 A
200,000 4

100,000 +

o
@P
Vv
= Permissable BMW landfilled B | ATS permits required to be purchased
N LATS permits available to sell —e— Tonnes of BMW allowed to be landfilled

Waste Strategy for England 2007 (WS2007) was introduced in May 2007. The overall objectives
of the JMWMS are broadly consistent with those of the national strategy. However, WS2007
does include some additional key themes which will need to be considered when a formal review
of the IMWMS is undertaken and new action plans are developed.

WS2007 contains a national target for reducing the amount of residual waste produced per
person to 225kg per year in 2020.

Page 107



The targets in the JMWMS for recycling and composting are broadly in line with WS2007.
However, there is currently no target for 2015 in the IMWMS whereas this is specified as a 45%
target for England as a whole in WS2007.

Similarly, there is no recovery target set in the JIMWMS. However, the recovery targets set in
WS2007 are closely linked to the LATS allowances allocated to WLWA.

WS2007 also indicates that revisions to recycling and composting targets are being considered,
including making the targets more material specific.

In WS2007 there is a considerable focus on climate change and the carbon impacts of waste
management operations. A key outcome of the WS2007 is to seek the reduction of net
greenhouse gas emissions from waste management operations.

The IMWMS does not specifically identify any carbon-related targets and CO, impacts need to be
developed into specific policy objectives.

In 2009 WLWA and its constituent waste collection authorities agreed “in principle” a new vision
for the Authority’s joint waste management strategy.
The new vision is set out as follows:
to establish a better partnership with constituent boroughs
to take a lead role in delivering the boroughs’ climate change and carbon management
agendas on waste management issues
to become a resource management authority rather than a waste disposal authority
to champion waste reduction and minimisation in West London
to reuse, recycle, compost or recover 70 per cent of municipal waste
to send zero waste to landfill
to be London’s exemplar Resource Management Partnership

The vision is expected to strengthen the focus on partnership working and managing waste as a
resource. It is also evident that further work needs to be undertaken to ensure that any new
targets and objectives can be implemented efficiently and effectively.

Therefore new action plans will need to be developed to implement the vision and the objectives
of the Strategy. This does not exclude that the Strategy and its policies will undergo a formal
review.

The West London Waste Plan (WLWP) is a Joint Waste Development Plan Document. It will form
part of each Borough'’s Local Development Framework (LDF).

The WLWP will look at predictions for the amount of waste that will be produced in the area up
to 2025. The most recent information from official sources showed that West London currently
produces just over 2 million tonnes of waste each year. This waste comes from homes,
businesses, building sites, hospitals and other facilities. It is expected that this amount will
increase to 2.8 million tonnes by 2025. At the moment 70 per cent is transferred to sites out of
London.

The WLWP aims to identify and safeguard sufficient sites for waste management facilities in the
area to deal with West London’s own waste. The Plan will give priority to waste reduction,

Page 108



recycling and composting. However, it will still need to plan for the disposal of waste in other
ways. This is likely to include the use of new or emerging technologies such as anaerobic
digestion and energy from waste plants. However there will still be a requirement for land filling
some waste that cannot be treated by other ways.

This plan addresses the land requirements needed for West London to deliver sufficient waste
management facilities to treat the projected amount of waste arising in the sub-region. This is a
requirement of PPS10 and takes into account the apportionment allocated by the Mayor of
London’s London Plan. The draft plan will be out for consultation during the summer of 2010
and is scheduled for adoption in December 2011.

The Local Area Agreement (LAA) is a three-year agreement between Brent Council, its partners
and Government. The agreement identifies targets (against National Indicators or Nls) for the
priorities set out in the Sustainable Community Strategy that most affect the lives of Brent
people; targets which, when achieved, will raise the performance of the Borough significantly.
There is one target within the LAA specific to waste management:

national indicator 192 — percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling and

composting.

This is Brent Council’s overall planning document for the Borough, showing how the physical
aspects of plans for the area will become a reality through planning and development. When
adopted it will set out the key planning policies which allow for the delivery of the Sustainable
Community Strategy. It explains that the Borough is under increasing pressure to manage its
own waste in a more sustainable manner because of the increasing financial burden of sending
waste to landfill. Although Brent has an allowance set by Government for the amount of waste
that can go to landfill under the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme (LATS), this allowance will
decrease each year until 2020.

Brent Council will make sure that the development of waste facilities needed to treat this
amount of waste is compliant with national guidance set out in Planning Policy Statement 10
(PPS10) and the London Plan. Brent Council, working with the other West London Boroughs
must identify specific sites in West London to meet the waste management needs. It is
anticipated that West London will need to identify 37 hectares of land suitable for new waste
management facilities.

There are 3 main aims of this strategy:
to cut emissions produced by the borough

to enable Brent to cope with extreme weather
to adapt to climate change.

The Greater London Authority (GLA) set out proposed measures to achieve the 19.6 MtCO,
(million tonnes of carbon dioxide) savings by 2025 for London. In 2006, the Borough of Brent
accounted for 3per cent of Greater London’s CO, emissions and 0.3per cent of those of the UK.
Nearly half of Brent’s emissions come from the domestic sector.

Page 109



The key conclusion from the Green Alliance® research commissioned by Defra was that landfill
bans can work but only alongside the right set of complementary policy measures. The
supporting measures identified fell into three types:

Economic instruments e.g. landfill or incineration taxes/fees/moratoriums to reinforce

the signal sent by landfill bans

Upstream measures, such as mandatory separation or waste collection; or producer

responsibility

Quality standards for recycled products and market development/support for recycled

materials/products to ease the implementation of bans or restrictions
Eunomia drew up a list of candidate waste types to take forward to the cost benefit analysis
which were broadly in line with Defra’s priority waste types identified in the WS2007.
The candidate waste types were:

Metals

Glass

Food

Wood

Textile

Paper/card

Plastics

Green (garden) waste

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (WEEE).
Two measurable properties were also considered:

Biodegradable waste; and

Non-segregated waste.
Eunomia estimated the CO, savings that could be achieved by introducing landfill bans,
qguantified the net cost or benefit to society, and identified the bans which produced greater
benefits to society than costs.
The net costs or benefits were considered to be the sum of the financial costs (including the
collecting and sorting of waste, regulating the bans and communications about the bans) and
environmental benefits (including the monetised impacts of savings in GHGs and other air
emissions, and other benefits from diverting waste into alternative treatments).
The conclusion was that the types of waste which offered the greatest opportunities to reduce
GHGs and increase resource efficiency whilst delivering net benefits to society were:

paper/card

food, textiles

metals

wood

green waste and

glass.

Eunomia concluded that these benefits are likely to be greater where landfill bans are
accompanied by a requirement to sort wastes, and that ferrous metals, dense plastic, WEEE and
film plastics had a negative net cost to society.

88 Green Alliance is an influential environmental think tank working to ensure UK political leaders deliver
ambitious solutions to global environmental issues www.green-alliance.org.uk/

Page 110



Eunomia found that benefits to society could be achieved through a ban on all biodegradable
wastes (not just the biodegradable waste types examined separately), however at the lower
confidence limit this type of ban could result in costs to society.

For glass, there was found to be little benefit from a landfill ban since glass is already assumed to
be recycled at high levels in the baseline scenario. The requirement to sort was found to
generate little additional tonnage at a significant cost.

For both plastics and WEEE, the research found a net cost to society with or without the addition
of a requirement to sort. For plastics the large GHG saving was outweighed by the assumed costs
of collection and reprocessing, resulting in a net cost.

The net benefit to society from restricting those waste types from landfill is £470 million for a
ban on its own and £2,805 million where a ban is accompanied by a requirement to sort (Net
Present Value (NPV) over the 15 years between 2009-2024), which includes valuation of GHG
benefits. Figures calculated using the central assumption of a landfill gas capture rate of 75per
cent).

Eunomia calculated the GHG savings that could be made by diverting each of the candidate
waste types from landfill for the period 2009-2024, shown in figure 21. These savings were found
to be highest for paper/card, food, non-ferrous metals and green wastes.

80

70

60

50

410

MtCO2e

30

20

10

Material Diverted

Paper and Card: 1780kg CO,e per tonne diverted to recycling and additional 1574kg CO.e
per tonne when recovered as energy.

Page 111



Food: 520kg CO,e per tonne diverted to AD or 462kg per tonne CO,e when

composted.

Textiles: 4870kg CO,e per tonne diverted to recycling.

Metals: 1325kg CO,e per tonne ferrous metals diverted to recycling and 9115kg
CO,e per tonne aluminium diverted.

Wood: 1340kg CO,e per tonne diverted to energy recovery.

Garden: 751kg per tonne diverted to composting.

Glass: 295kg per tonne diverted to recycling.

Dense Plastics: 1385kg per tonne diverted to recycling.

Eunomia suggested that it would be difficult to implement landfill restrictions in less than five
years, particularly in the case of waste types which would rely significantly on treatment
infrastructure (food, wood and garden waste). In the case of a ban on the whole category of
biodegradable wastes Eunomia suggested a lead-in time of 7-10 years would be more
appropriate in England because of the large amount of material covered and pressures on the
planning system. They added that it would be desirable for recycling levels to have already
reached a good level before implementing bans to allow for resource efficiency gains from
recycling, composting or anaerobic digestion to be fully realised.

Page 112



Scenario 1 — Business as usual

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

Kerbside sort 88,000 weekly Paper, glass bottles and jars, metal

44] green box cans, plastic bottles, textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries, used engine
oils

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 60,000 weekly Mixed collection of food waste,
garden waste and cardboard

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

240l wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Residual waste

Scenario 1B — increase communications spend and expand organics scheme

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

Kerbside sort 88,000 weekly Paper, glass bottles and jars, metal

44] green box cans, plastic bottles, textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries, used engine
oils

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 60,000 Weekly Mixed collection of food waste,
garden waste and cardboard

23 kerbside

container 28,000 Weekly Food waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Residual waste

Scenario 2 — twin stream dry collection and expansion of organics scheme

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

Two 44| boxes 88,000 weekly 1 box for paper and cardboard
1 box for glass bottles and jars, metal
cans, plastic bottles, textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries, used engine
oils

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 60,000 Weekly Mixed collection of food waste and

23 kerbside garden waste

container 28,000 Weekly Food waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240l wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Scenario 3 — dry fully co-mingled and separate food and garden waste

Kerbside dry recyclin

g scheme

Page 113




Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

90l polypropylene 88,000 weekly Garden waste

sack

23| kerbside

container Food waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240 | wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Residual waste

Scenario 4 — same as 3 with reduced residual collection frequency

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240l wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

90l polypropylene 88,000 weekly Garden waste

sack

23| kerbside

container Food waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Scenario 5 — same as 4 with reduced dry recycling collection frequency

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

90l polypropylene 88,000 weekly Garden waste

sack

23l kerbside

container Food waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240l wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Scenario 6 — single use bags for residual waste

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container |

No. of hhlds

| Frequency

Materials collected

Page 114




2401 wheeled bin 88,000 Weekly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240 | wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Food and garden waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

Black bags 88,000 weekly Residual waste

Scenario 7 — same as 6 with reduced collection frequency for residual waste

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhids Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Food waste and garden waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

Black bags 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Scenario 8 — weekly fully co-mingled dry and expansion of organics

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

240 | wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and
jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Food and garden waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Scenario 9 — the preferred option

Kerbside dry recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

Single stream 240l 88,000 fortnightly Paper, cardboard, glass bottles and

wheeled bin jars, metal cans, plastic bottles, plastic
containers, and cartons. Textiles and
clothes, shoes, batteries and used
engine oils presented separately

Kerbside organic recycling scheme

Container No. of hhlds Frequency Materials collected

2401 wheeled bin 88,000 weekly Food and garden waste

Residual waste collection scheme

Container No. of hhlds | Frequency | Materials collected

Page 115




2401 wheeled bin 88,000 fortnightly Residual waste

Page 116



Kerbside sort system (advantages and disadvantages)

Advantages

Disadvantages

Easy for householders to use

The scheme is labour intensive, with
concerns

around manual handling and working times

The collection crews are able to reject
contaminants which are found in the
recycling

container (e.g. using contrary cards)

No compaction is undertaken during
collection,

therefore a high number of stillage vehicles
and

collection crews is required

Public  confidence is increased as
householders

can observe the materials being sorted

New materials can only be added to the
scheme
by altering the operations of the service

Materials only need to be bulked up and
delivered

directly to the reprocessor, without the
need for

further sorting, providing they meets the
reprocessor’s specifications

Items like plastic bottles and cardboard pose
capacity issues, as they are bulky items and
no

compaction is used for collection

Income is received from the sale of
recyclate
collected

Kerbside sort schemes usually use boxes,
which
create capacity issues

Generally incurs greater collection costs

Twin stream system (advantages and disadvantages)

Advantages

Disadvantages

The segregation of paper from the other
streams achieves higher revenue due to its
increased quality

Higher processing costs than kerbside sort
due to the need to sort the co-mingled
materials at a MRF

Additional materials can be added in the co-
mingled box without altering operations

There is more likelihood of contamination
than a scheme where full sorting takes place
at the kerbside

Split body vehicles are normally used to
collect paper in one compartment and all
other materials in the other compartment.
Fewer vehicles and collection crews than
kerbside sort systems are usually required,
as materials can be compacted during
collection, hence increasing the collection
productivity

Some materials (e.g. textiles, shoes, motor
oil and batteries) would not be accepted by
the new scheme, as the MRF would not be
able to process them and alternative
arrangements would need to be identified
(e.g. increase the density of bring sites
which accept these materials or ask
residents to present them separately)

Paper can be bulked up and delivered
directly to the reprocessor, without the
need for further sorting, providing it meets

Less convenient for householders to use
than other schemes

Page 117




the reprocessor’s specifications

Single stream co-mingled (advantages and disadvantages)

Advantages

Disadvantages

Compaction vehicles can be used, therefore
the efficiency of the service is enhanced.
Reduction in number of vehicles reduces
carbon footprint of waste management. In
addition there is no need for specialised
collection vehicles as standard RCVs can be
used for the collection

Higher processing costs due to the need to
sort the co-mingled materials at a MREF,
which will incur gate fee

Additional materials can be added to the
recycling service without altering operations

There is more likelihood of contamination
than a scheme where sorting takes place at
the kerbside, therefore additional
investment in communications may be
required

Can achieve higher diversion rates than
other schemes (even allowing for
contamination)

Paper would be fully co-mingled with the
rest of the material streams and this would
incur a loss of quality

Wheeled bins can be used as recycling
containers, therefore this type of scheme
increases significantly the capacity available
for householders to recycle. This scheme
also reduces health and safety concerns
associated with manual handling if wheeled
bins are used as containers

Some materials (e.g. textiles, shoes, motor
oil and batteries) would not be accepted by
the scheme, as the MRF would not be able
to process them and alternative
arrangements for these materials would
need to be identified (e.g. increase the
density of bring sites to accept some of
these materials or ask householders to
separate them from the recycling container)

Easy for householders to use

Page 118




61| obed

Authority Recycling % Composting % NI192 % Kg/hh/yr recycling Residual collection Recycling collection system Organic collection
systems system
Staffordshire Moorland 20.74 40.81 61.58 202.3 Fortnightly Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly mixed
Wheeled bin Wheeled bin — glass, mixed Wheeled bin — food
plastics, cans, aerosols, foil waste, garden waste and
Bag — paper and textiles cardboard
Cotswold 26.30 34.53 60.83 241.7 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — twin stream Weekly separated
Box and bag — paper, card, 10l container — food
glass, cans, aerosols waste
Wheeled bin — garden
waste
East Lindsey 25.87 33.50 59.45 243.2 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly
Wheeled bin — paper, card, Wheeled bin — garden
plastic bottles, cans, mixed waste
plastics, foil, aerosols
South Hams 28.42 29.30 57.90 229.4 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly - twin stream Fortnightly mixed
Sacks — paper, card, plastic Wheeled bin — food
bottles, cans, aerosols, foil waste, garden waste and
cardboard
South Shropshire 23.23 34.21 57.45 199.7 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — kerbside sort Fortnightly mixed
Box — paper, cans, aerosols, Wheeled bin — food
foil, glass waste, garden waste and
cardboard
Teignbridge 21.10 36.27 57.37 184.0 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — twin stream Fortnightly mixed
Boxes — paper, card, plastic Wheeled bin — food
bottles, cans, aerosols, glass, | waste, garden waste and
mobile phones, printer cardboard
cartridges, batteries
Huntingdonshire 26.31 30.87 57.16 265.4 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly mixed
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — food
plastic bottles, card, cartons waste, garden waste
Waveney 26.9 29.0 55.91 248.2 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly mixed

Wheeled bin — paper, cans,
plastic bottles, card, cartons,
glass, other plastics, textiles,

Wheeled bin — food
waste, garden waste




02| obed

foil, aerosols, CD’s/DVD’s,
bikes

Box — paper, card, cans,

9 North Kesteven 27.49 28.19 55.69 290.3 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — garden
plastic bottles, card, cartons, | waste
glass, other plastics, textiles,
foil
10 Uttlesford 33.41 20.32 53.73 301.4 Fortnightly wheeled bin Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly separated
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — food
mixed plastics, card, cartons, | waste
foil Sack — garden waste
11 Harborough 19.79 33.90 53.70 201.4 Fortnightly wheeled bin Weekly — kerbside sort Fortnightly
Box — paper, cans, glass Wheeled bin — garden
waste
12 South Cambridgeshire 18.90 34.77 53.64 184.2 Fortnightly — kerbside sort Fortnightly mixed
Box — paper, glass, cans, Wheeled bin — food
plastic bottles, aerosols waste, garden waste and
cardboard
13 Ryedale 18.47 34.63 53.10 186.3 Fortnightly — twin stream Fortnightly
Box and bag — glass, Wheeled bin — garden
aerosols, cans, paper waste
14 Rushcliffe 26.83 26.08 52.92 259.3 Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — garden
plastic bottles, mixed waste
plastics, card, batteries
15 Warwick 24.67 27.47 52.14 207.4 Fortnightly — kerbside sort Fortnightly mixed
Box — paper, card, glass, Wheeled bin — food and
cans, plastic bottles, garden waste
batteries, textiles, engine oil
16 North Shropshire 15.85 35.86 51.75 162.2 Fortnightly — kerbside sort Fortnightly mixed
Box — paper, glass, cans, foil, Wheeled bin — food,
aerosols garden waste and
cardboard
17 Mole Valley 33.73 17.81 51.62 297.7 Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — garden
plastic bottles, mixed waste
plastics, card, glass
18 Melton 23.54 27.7 51.44 241.6 Weekly kerbside sort Fortnightly

Wheeled bin — garden




12| ebed

glass, plastic bottles, textiles waste
19 St Edmundsbury 23.57 27.75 51.30 236.3 Fortnightly — co-mingled Fortnightly mixed
Wheeled bin — paper, cans, Wheeled bin — food
plastic bottles, mixed garden waste
plastics, card, foil
20 Fenland 21.59 29.45 51.02 206.7 Fortnightly — co-mingled Weekly mixed

Wheeled bin — paper, cans,
aerosols, plastic bottles,
cartons, card, foil

Wheeled bin - food,
garden waste and
cardboard

Source: WYG. Data analysis based on WDF 2008/09 and Defra’s municipal waste statistics 200/09




Brent Council is responsible for the collection of non-recyclable and recyclable waste from all
domestic properties within its boundary.

This document provides guidance to architects and developers to use when planning and
designing a new development, undertaking refurbishment, modernisation or changing the use of
a building so that effective waste and recycling storage and collection is included at the design

stagegg.

This guidance applies to residential properties only and does not include commercial properties.
The notes outlined in this document apply to Brent Council only.

Development proposals must comply with all relevant legislation.

For new developments, the Council advises developers and architects to refer to the Code for
Sustainable Homes™ (the Code).
The Code was introduced in England in April 2007 and is a voluntary environmental assessment
rating method for the sustainable design and construction of new homes.
The Code measures the sustainability of a new home against nine categories of sustainable
design, rating the “whole home” as a complete package.
The design categories are:

Energy and CO, Emissions

Pollution

Water

Heath and Wellbeing

Materials

Management

Surface Water Run-off

Ecology

Waste

Waste is a design category of the Code. The aim is to recognise and reward the provision of
adequate internal and external storage space for non recyclable and recyclable household waste.

StreetCare Service Unit contact details
The developer will liaise with the planning department for details and approval of their planning
application and will inform Brent’s Building Control of completion of the new development.

89 This document should be taken as a guide, as individual developments may have specific
requirements. Particularly for refurbishment, the storage guidance is designed to be flexible to
meet both street design issues, people’s needs as well as delivering sustainable waste
management practices
90http://www.communities.gov.uk/planningandbuilding/buiIdingregulations/legislation/codesustaina
ble/

Page 122



The Council also requires the developer to contact Brent Council’s StreetCare Service Unit to
organise the delivery of the necessary containers.
At least one month’s notice must be provided.

Address:

1st Floor West, Brent House
349-357, High Road

London, HA9 6BZ

Telephone: 020 8937 5050
E-mail: streetcare@brent.gov.uk

Please note that in planning applications where:
commercial waste will also be generated separate storage and collection arrangements
are required and must be considered and outlined at the planning stage
clinical waste is likely to be generated, separate storage and collection arrangements are
required and must be considered and outlined at the planning stage.

Brent’s vision for waste collection is to have a successful, environmentally sound, economically
efficient and user-friendly waste collection service for street level and high rise properties.
The Council aims to:

work with residents so that they understand the full value of waste and ensure that this
value is not left untapped

avoid high landfill costs and ensure that residents are fully aware that as the costs of
waste treatment increase, the savings through greater capture of materials becomes
increasingly significant

provide a waste collection service which is a hassle-free part of Brent’s residents’ lives
and allows the Council to achieve high rates of household waste recycling and
composting

provide a waste collection service which is equitable, well communicated, efficient,
consistent and accessible to all.

The waste collection strategy for Brent identifies the following overarching objectives and
targets:

Strategy objectives
To encourage greater consideration by residents and communities of waste as a

resource through emphasis on reduction, reuse, recycling and composting

To stimulate investment on reduction and reuse initiatives and take maximum advantage
of the economic opportunities that such initiatives could represent for Brent residents
To stimulate investment in recycling and composting collection schemes to deliver better
coordinated services on the ground, improve the environmental performance of waste
management operations and achieve high recycling and composting targets

To target action on materials with greatest scope for improving environmental and
economic outcomes

To achieve efficiency savings and deliver value for money services

Page 123



To increase the engagement with partners, residents and communities by
communicating and supporting the needed behavioural change

To work with the waste and recycling collection contractor to secure markets for the
materials collected for recycling and composting

To work with WLWA to secure investment in the infrastructure needed to divert waste
from landfill.

Strategy targets
Household waste reduction - There will be no overall increase in total household waste
generated in Brent between 2009/10 and 2014/15 despite increases in overall household
numbers
Household waste reuse and recycling target — to reuse, recycle and compost 40 per cent
of household waste by 2011/12, rising to 50 per cent by 2014/15 and aspiring to 60 per
cent by 2019/20
Efficiency savings target — to achieve an efficiency savings target of at least £500,000 in
waste management operations by the first full year of operation of the new waste
collection service
Residents’ satisfaction with residual waste and recycling collection services — retain the
same level of satisfaction achieved in the 2008/09 Brent Place Survey Results and the
2009 Brent Customer Satisfaction Surveys.

Architects and developers must take the vision, objectives and targets into consideration at the
development stage of any new developments or building conversions.

Recycling schemes

Kerbside dry recycling collection scheme

The Council offers a fortnightly kerbside fully co-mingled recycling scheme, where residents are

provided with a 240l wheeled bin to recycle the following materials:
paper, metal tins and cans, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, aluminium foil, mixed
plastic containers, food and beverage cartons and cardboard.
textiles, shoes, household and car batteries and engine oil are also collected and
residents present these materials, next to the recycling bin, contained in clear plastic
bags.

Kerbside organics recycling collection scheme
The Council provides a weekly borough-wide service for all street level properties to collect
organic materials’".

The majority of residents are provided with a 240 | wheeled bin to collect food waste and

garden waste

°! StreetCare Service Unit holds a full list of roads where each of the two options for collecting organics
materials applies. Developers are required to contact StreetCare to obtain this information.

Page 124



Other street level properties receive a weekly collection of food waste using a 23|
kerbside container

All street level properties in Brent are eligible to receive a separate garden waste
collection service. Single use sacks are provided by the Council and are then collected
upon request.

Residual waste collection scheme
240l wheeled bins are provided by the Council to contain residual waste that cannot be recycled.
Residual waste is collected fortnightly.

Dry recycling collection scheme

Communal bins of either 240l or 1,100l are provided by the Council to collect the following
materials weekly: paper, metal tins and cans, glass bottles and jars, plastic bottles, aluminium
foil, mixed plastic containers, food and beverage cartons

Organics recycling collection scheme

The Council recently introduced a food waste collection scheme for residents living in blocks of
flats using 240l communal bins. The Council expects architects and developers to follow this
guidance and make provision for the food waste collection scheme for all new developments or
refurbishments in blocks of flats of 8 units or more.

In addition all residents in Brent are eligible to receive a separate garden waste collection
service. Single use sacks are provided by the Council and are then collected upon request

Residual waste collection scheme
Communal bins are provided to contain this fraction of waste.

The following general principles must be applied to all developments covered by this guidance.
All new residential developments must provide storage space for non-recyclable waste
and recyclable materials both internally and externally
Internal storage space: Refers to indoor space supplied for storing non-recyclable
waste and recyclable materials, prior to the transfer of the materials to an external bin.
Internal recycling bins should be located in a dedicated non obstructive position. This
should be in a cupboard in the kitchen, close to the non-recyclable waste bin, or located
adjacent to the kitchen in a utility room or connected garage. Free-standing recycling
bins placed directly on the floor or in a cupboard do not comply
External storage space: Refers to outdoor space supplied for storing non-recyclable
waste and recyclable materials. All residential developments must provide storage areas
externally to accommodate all receptacles required by Brent Council
The proposed storage for non-recyclable waste and recycling containers, both internally
and externally, must be clearly marked and illustrated in any drawing (or site plan)
submitted to the planning department in the planning application
The calculations made to determine the overall storage allowance should also be
submitted.

The following general principles must be applied to all new houses, house conversions and multi
occupancy accommodations of up to eight households.

Page 125



All residential developments falling within the above category must provide the storage
space for non-recyclable waste and recyclable materials both internally and externally as
indicated in the table in annex 1. In addition, annex 2 outlines the containers’
dimensions and floor space required

Internal storage space: To enable occupants to manage their non-recyclable waste and
recyclable materials, developers should provide the necessary internal storage space for
the separation of non-recyclable waste and recyclable materials into three separate
containers, prior to the transfer of that material to an external bin

External storage space: A paved or hard standing area of adequate size must be
provided within the front boundary of the property for the storage of the necessary
number of containers, ensuring that the lids can be fully opened. The storage area must
be a minimum height of 1810mm for 240 litre capacity bins or 2390mm for 1100 litre
capacity bins

Container areas must be in a position that makes it convenient for the householder to
present all receptacles for collection from the front edge of the property. Bin storage
areas should be located to create minimum nuisance to adjoining properties

For houses with gardens, the Council encourages developers to provide an area for the
placement of a home compost bin®® to compost food and garden waste. Home
composting is one of the easiest, most effective and environmentally friendly ways of
recycling organic waste. Home compost bins should ideally be positioned in a sunny
location and placed directly onto the soil. Such containers should not be sited in close
proximity of windows, doors, or ventilation intakes for habitable areas within the
dwelling or surrounding dwellings. The council subsidises home compost bins and these
are available for residents to buy. Annex 2 shows the home compost bins dimensions
Adequate provision must be made for the disabled and the elderly, ensuring that enough
space is provided to set out all required containers whilst allowing enough room to
manoeuvre a wheelchair to and from the property”. Additional information is available
in the Code of Sustainable Homes.

The following general principles must be applied to all multi occupancy accommodations of
more than eight households using communal storage containers.
All residential developments falling within the above category must provide the storage
space for non-recyclable waste and recyclable materials both internally and externally as
indicated in the table in annex 1. In addition, annex 2 outlines the containers’
dimensions and floor space required
Internal storage - To enable occupants to manage their non-recyclable waste and
recyclable materials, developers should provide the necessary internal storage space for
the separation of non-recyclable waste and recyclable materials into three separate
containers, prior to the transfer of that material to an external bin

%2 Over 30 per cent of household waste can be diverted from landfill by composting. Compost can be used
in the garden as a conditioner and mulch as an alternative to peat based compost extracted from natural
wildlife sites

* For example installing a ramp which leads to a platform for people with disabilities to easily place their
materials into the bins

Page 126



External storage - storage areas for containers for non-recyclable waste and recyclable
materials should be co-located (ideally within the same bin storage area) so that both
recycling and waste disposal are equally convenient to access. For large developments,
several bin storage areas may be appropriate

The position and design of communal bin storage areas should also consider the impact
of noise and smell on the occupants of neighbouring properties, existing and proposed
The Council requires that signs to inform residents where storage areas for non-
recyclable waste and recyclable materials are located be provided, with signs placed in a
suitable prominent position to clearly identify the bin storage area. The branding and
the message placed on signs is available from StreetCare Service Unit

Communal storage areas for residential dwellings should be sited so that residents are
not required to carry non-recyclable waste and recyclable materials more than 30
metres from the front of the property (excluding vertical distances)

Communal storage areas should be sited at ground level within the footprint of the
development. External storage areas should have some form of soft landscaping around
them (e.g. climbers or other vegetation) to screen the area and make it more
aesthetically pleasing

Communal storage areas must provide enough space to accommodate the required
number of bins, allowing access to the bins and ensuring that an individual bin can be
removed from the area without the need to move other containers. Enough head height
must also be designed into the storage area to allow for the lid of a bin to be lifted
comfortably. Annex 4 shows an example of poor and good design

Communal storage areas should also be located so as not to interfere with pedestrian or
vehicle access to buildings

Storage areas must have a suitable impermeable hard standing ground covering.
Internal areas must be well ventilated, well lit and have a cleanable floor. External areas
should also have a cleanable floor. This is important as such design features can help to
prevent odour and vermin problems. To facilitate the cleaning of bins suitable drainage
should be a feature of waste and recycling storage areas, all run off must flow towards a
drainage point. Access to water supply should also be provided

All residential developments falling within this category should allow additional storage
space (preferably lockable) for bulky waste such as, fridges/freezers, washing machines,
mattresses, furniture, IT equipment etc. This should be accommodated in a designated
dry storage room which should not be part of the communal storage area for non-
recyclable waste and recycling materials (however this can be next to or adjoining the
storage area). These items are only collected on request by Brent Council

Where practicable, the Council encourages developers to make arrangements to
facilitate communal/community composting to serve the needs of flats or dwellings
which do not have access to a private garden and cannot be provided with a home
composting bin®*. The main considerations to consider are that bins are in a shady

** communal or community composting is where a group of people share a composting system. The raw
materials are provided by all who take part in the scheme, and the compost is then used in the
community, either by individuals in their own gardens, or for use on larger projects within the local
environment.

Page 127



position and screened, that the area is purpose built and clearly signposted and that
ongoing management and maintenance is provided. The distance between the site
entrance and the communal / community containers must not usually exceed 30m. In all
cases the composting scheme must achieve full compliance with the Animal by-products
Regulations (2005). If applicable, the composting scheme must be registered with the
Environment Agency to either have a waste management licence, an environmental
permit or an exemption from them

Adequate provision must be made for the disabled and the elderly. Additional
information is available in the Code of Sustainable Homes.

Waste and recycling storage areas must be in a position which is easily accessible by
collection vehicles and collection operatives
The site plan must show the proposed access and collection routes for collection vehicles
as well as distances between vehicle collection points and storage areas
Waste collection points should be to the front of the premises where practically possible.
If this is not possible a separate collection point must be made clear on the site plan
submitted. It should also be made clear who will be responsible for transporting waste
and recycling containers to this point on collection days. Details for the collection of
waste and recycling in these circumstances will need to feature in the management plan
of the site
Communal waste and recycling storage areas should be sited at ground level within the
footprint of the development. In developments where the storage area is proposed
underground, it should be clearly marked on the site plan where the collection point will
be on ground level for waste operatives. The Council will only collect the containers if
they can be transported to ground level. The use of a lift is recommended. The lift must
be large enough to comfortably accommodate one waste receptacle of up to 1,100 litre
capacity and a porter. The lift doors and the lobby or corridor area must be sized so that
the receptacles can be easily manoeuvred. A statement detailing how the containers will
be transported to the waste collection point at ground level should also feature in the
development’s management plan
Collection operatives should not be required to:
o move wheeled bins up to 240 litres, more than 20 metres in total. This is the
maximum distance between the point of collection and the collection vehicle
o move a 1,100 litre eurobin or a similar wheeled container more than 10 metres

in total. This is the maximum distance between the point of collection and the

waste collection vehicle
Wheeled containers should not be wheeled over steps or kerbs. A drop kerb as near as
possible to the storage area will be required to allow for the safe movement of such
containers to enable collection operatives to collect non-recyclable waste and recyclable
materials in accordance with the Health and Safety at Work Regulations
The access road on the site should be able to safely accommodate collection vehicles. As
a safety feature it is preferred that collection vehicles should not be required to reverse
to address traffic and public safety issues. If this is not possible the site layout must
allow room for the collection vehicle to manoeuvre. A turning assessment should be

Page 128



made with use of the appropriate software (such as Auto Track) and submitted with the
planning application. Vehicle dimensions are listed in annex 3

In cases where the access road has a restricted head height or if the vehicle has to pass
through any part of a building, there must be a minimum clearance height of 2920 mm
to allow for overhead fixtures and fittings

Access paths should be a minimum width of two metres; have a reasonably smooth
finish and be level. The only exception to this will be if the gradient falls away from the
waste and recycling storage area, in which case the gradient should not exceed 1:14.

If any access points are to be locked, then standard Fire Brigade (FB) locks should be
used. If access gates are to be installed then FB1 or FB2 keys should be used. If padlocks
are to be used then FB11 or FB14 should be used. Any other access arrangements must
be agreed by StreetCare before planning submission.

Some companies now offer a fully automated underground system for the collection, sorting and
transportation of waste. Such systems allow for waste separation at source, for different types
of waste materials and from multiple locations, with enhanced hygienic, occupational health and
safety standards. They can also reduce the use of transport as collection frequencies reduce,
reducing nuisance and CO2 emissions.

The Envac system is in operation in Brent in the Wembley City Development. Several
underground waste systems have been installed, for the separation of non recyclable waste, dry
and organic recyclable materials. The underground pipes are used to transport materials to a
reception centre on the outskirts of the area using a vacuum.

Page 129



Property Receptacle Residual waste Dry recycling Organics
type® position (litres) (litres) (litres)
1*2401 wheeled
1*240l wheeled | 1*240l wheeled | bin or 23|
External . . .
Houses bin bin kerbside
(1 household) container
Internal 60l 60l 51 kitchen caddy
1201 per
House . External” 120l per 120l per gsusehold
convers.lons . household household
and residential 23l per
developments household
of upto 8
households®® Internal 601 per . 601 per . 51 per conversion
conversion conversion
23l per
Residential External® 60l per bedroom | 601 per bedroom | household®
developments
over 8
households Internal 301 per 301 per 5| per household
household household

Wheeled bins for residual waste are supplied at a cost

100

document relating recycling are supplied by the Council.

. Only containers specified in this

Wheeled bins for residual waste can be bought in a variety of sizes; 140l, 240l, 360l, 770l or
1100l. The standard sizes used in Brent are generally 240l or 1100l. For the purpose of dry
recycling only two varieties are available: 240l or 1100l bins. For the purpose of organic waste
recycling only 240l wheeled bins or 23| kerbside containers can be used.

% Special arrangements on the number of bins provided can be made for households with 6+ persons

% For example, a house converted into two flats will need one 2401 wheeled bin for waste, one 240 1
wheeled bin for dry recycling and either one 2401 wheeled bin for organics or two 231 kerbside containers.
A residential development consisting of eight flats will need either four 2401 wheeled bins for waste (or one
1,1001 bin), four 2401 wheeled bins for dry recycling (or one 1,1001 bin) and either four 2401 wheeled bins
for organics or 231 kerbside containers. The 2401 wheeled bin accepts food waste and garden waste, whist
the 231 kerbside container accepts food waste only, therefore the Council will accepts mixed options,
whereby only conversions with access to a private garden receive a wheeled bin.
7 Waste can only be collected using either 2401 or 7701 or 1,1001 bins

% Recycling can only be stored using either 2401 or 1,1001 bins.

?Only 2401 wheeled bins can be used for communal organic waste collections. (1 x 2401 bin per 10
households is acceptable)
% Developers can obtain up to date price lists of containers from Streetcare

Page 130




Please note that the dimensions of bins supplied may vary by up to 100mm. Images are not to
scale.

Wheeled bins
Dimensions (mm)
Capacity (litres) 1401 2401
Width 480 585
Length 550 730
Closed height 1070 1100
Plastic sack 2 3
equivalent
) . /
| —
0 0 f ““Tf

|

Kerbside container

Dimensions (mm)
Capacity (litres) 23l
Width 320
Depth 400
Height 405

. 320 _
T
630
45| [ {
405 |

Image of kerbside container sourced from Straight Plc website,

Page 131



Wheeled bins

Dimensions (mm)

Capacity (litres) 2401 1100
Width 585 1025
Width with lid open 730 1215
Length 1100 1370
Closed height 1460
Plastic sack equivalent 3 15
(e AT F——3% 1k L _ﬁﬁhnmﬂ
1‘ f I
i - =
(T I | I |
| |
|
: [13 C[]

O g

All images used have been sourced from the City of Westminster Waste and Recycling Storage Requirements booklet.

Home Compost bins

Dimensions (mm)

Capacity (litres) 220 330
Height (mm) 900 1000
Diameter (mm) 740 800

Page 132



6x2 rear steer Mercedes Vehicle

Dimensions (mm)

Page 133



&2

rear steer
A Wheelbase (first to second axle)® 3900
A+ 1350mm (outer axle spread) 5750
B Front overhang 1850
C Rear overhang 1200
D Overall length 8300
E Frame height at rear axle 930
F Frame depth 264
G Back of exhaust pipe to end of frame 5900
H Bumper to back of cab 2032
|  Back of cab to centre line of fromt axle 182
I Owverall height (nominal) 2920
K Ground clearance front 210
L Width ower cab 2490
M Ground clearance rear 250
N Frame width (at rear) 760
0 Bogie spread 1350
P First step height from groumd a5
R Cab floor height from ground 86D
5 Centre line of fromt axle to rear of exhaust pipe 400
Turning circle (wall to wall) 16.1m
Minimum cab gap (to rear of exhaust pipe| 50
] — = 3 P

Poor design

Householders cannot access the bins
easily and bins can only be removed
with difficulty

Good design

Householders can access both bins easily
and either bin can be removed from the
storage area without having to move the
other.

Page 134




Primary schools

Curriculum Sustainable
Activity Key Stage Learning Objectives Links Schools
Doorways
What happens to the waste .
we produce Science,
Recycling . ’ Geography, Purchasing and
environmental and . .
Assembly (or L . Citizenship, Waste, Local well
KS1, KS2 economic issues associated .
class based . o PSHE and being, Global
L with landfill site and how . . .
activity) Sustainable Dimension
we can reduce, reuse and
Development
recycle
Learn about environmental . .
and financial consequences Citizenship and Purchasing and
Anti-litter . _ ; PSHE (Maths in &
KS1,KS2 of litter, spitting and fly Waste, Local well
Assembly — i Key Stage 2 .
tipping and the council’s . being
. . . . version)
role in dealing with this
Materials Reinforces the Reduce, Science,
Assemblies Reuse, Recycle message Geography,
(Separate whilst looking at the Citizenship, .
. . . Local well being,
versions for KS 2 environmental benefits of PSHE, . .
. L . Global dimension
paper, metal, recycling a material instead | Sustainable
plastic and of producing it from the Development
glass.) earth’s resources and Maths
Understand the
composting process and . Purchasing and
. . Science, -
Oreanics materials suitable for Geosraph Waste, Buildings
g KS1,KS2 composting at home or at .g Pny, and Grounds,
Assembly . Design and .
school and the importance Technolo Local well being,
of reducing contamination &Y Global dimension
in organic collections
Science, Design
. and Technology,
Learn environmental .
. . Art and Design, .
benefits of recycling paper, Geoeranh Purchasing and
Paper making | KS1,KS2 what types of paper can be . grap .y, Waste, Global
. Citizenship and . .
recycled and how this is dimension
done PSHE,
Sustainable
Development
How plastic is made and .
- . . Purchasing and
Investigating KS 2 recycled and how to Science, Design Waste Global
Plastics Year 4-6 identify the different types | and Technology ’

of plastics

Dimension

Page 13




Primary schools

Curriculum Sustainable
Activity Key Stage Learning Objectives Links Schools
Doorways
e 52 M 0 serce, e | 8
Workshop Year 4-6 i p' ‘p and Technology . '.g
steel and aluminium dimension
How compost is made, .
. . . Purchasing and
Compostina what materials are suitable . .
. Science, Waste, Buildings
Bottle KS 2 and setting up a
. . Geography and grounds,
Workshop composting experiment to . .
. global dimension
monitor
Measure and record the Purchasing and
amount of waste produced | Maths, Science, | Waste, Buildings
Waste Audit KS 2 in the ‘school, which waste G'e'ograpl“uy, and Groundsf
Year4 -6 materials are produced and | Citizenship and Local well being
which areas produce the PSHE and Global
most waste Dimension
Examine results of Waste Purchasmg a!'\d
Audit & identify problem Waste, Buildings
Waste Action | KS 2 Year 4 - yp . Maths, and Grounds,
areas. Draw up plan using , . .
plan 6 . S ) Citizenship Local well being
ideas to minimise waste in
and Global
school . .
Dimension
Science, Purchasing and
Learn how to reduce, reuse -
and recvele and how to Geography, Waste, Buildings
The Waste KS 2 dis oseyof materials in the Citizenship, and Grounds,
Game Year4 -6 P . PSHE and Local well being
most environmentally .
friendlv wav possible Sustainable and Global
ywayp Development Dimension
Visit to the Learn how materials are Sggnce, . Purchasing and
Citizenship,
Reuse and separated at the centre Waste, Local well
. KS 2 . Geography and .
Recycling and what the materials are . being and Global
Sustainable . .
Centre used for Dimension

Development

Page 136




Secondary schools

Activity

Key Stage

Learning objectives

Curriculum links

Sustainable Schools
Doorways

Recycling
presentation

KS 3 and KS 4

The important
message of the
3R's. How pupils
can incorporate the
3R's into everyday
life. What happens
to their recycling
and waste once
this is collected by
Council

Science,
Geography and
PSHE

Purchasing and Waste

Organic
waste
presentation

KS 3 and KS 4

What is organic
waste, why it is
damaging to the
environment if it
ends up in landfill,
how to reduce
organic waste,
shopping habits,
turning organic
waste into compost

Science,
Geography and
Home Economics

Purchasing and Waste,
Food and Drink

Climate
Change
presentation

KS 3 and KS 4

Where CO, comes
from, the impacts
of climate change
and what can be
done about it

Science and
Geography

Purchasing and Waste

Anti-litter
presentation

KS 3 and KS 4

Highlight the
effects of littering
(negative impact
on the
environment,
animals and
humans) and the
advantages of
recycling

Science and
Geography

Purchasing and Waste

Rubbish
Relay

KS 3 and KS 4

Understand the
recycling process,
the benefits of
recycling and which
materials can be
recycled. Develop
good sorting
behaviour to
reduce
contamination
(putting unsuitable
materials in the
recycling bins)

Science,
Geography,
Citizenship and
PE

Purchasing and Waste

Page 137




Understand which
materials can be
recycled. Raise

English, Science,

The awareness of lost Geography
possibilities KS 3 and KS 4 | resources going to . ’ Purchasing and Waste
) Design and
are endless landfill and Technology
highlight the
importance of
"closing the loop"
Learn the recycling
process for paper Science,
Papgr KS3andKS 4 and.the Gquraphy and Purchasing and Waste
making environmental Design and
benefits of Technology
recycling

Page 138




]

Waste and Recyding
EQIA v1.0.doc

Page 139



Glossary of Technical and Unusual Terms

Anaerobic Digestion
Biodegradable Material
Biodegradable Municipal Waste
Bring Banks

Bring Sites
Bulky Waste

Composting

Climate Change

Dry Material
Flats Recycling

Food Waste
Garden Waste

Global Warming
Green Zone

Greenhouse Gas

Household Waste
In-vessel Composting

Kerbside Recycling
Landfill

Materials Recovery Facility

Municipal Waste

a series of processes in which microorganisms break down
biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen energy.

material which can be chemically broken down through exposure to
the natural environment e.g. plant and animal tissues.

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises biodegradable
material.

large bins placed in the public realm for the depositing of recyclable
materials.

locations of bring banks

unwanted household items that are too cumbersome to go in the
wheeled bin e.g. furniture and electrical.

the act of degrading biodegradable materials decomposed largely
through aerobic decomposition.

a change in the statistical distribution of weather over periods of time
that range from decades to millions of years. It can be a change in the
average weather or a change in the distribution of weather events
around an average (for example, greater or fewer extreme weather
events). Climate change may be limited to a specific region, or may
occur across the whole of Earth.

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises recyclable material
other than food and garden waste.

recycling services from premises containing more than eight
properties.

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises edible material.

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises biodegradable
material generated through the cultivation within the garden.

the increase in the average temperature of Earth's near-surface air
and oceans and its projected continuation.

a community project started by a Brent resident aiming to make a
difference to the community and environment through local action.
a gas which absorbs and emits radiation within the thermal infrared
range. This process is the fundamental cause of the greenhouse effect.
The main greenhouse gases in Earth's atmosphere are water vapor,
carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, and ozone.

the fraction of municipal waste generated with households.

is an industrial form of composting biodegradable material within an
enclosed tank or bunkers in which air flow and temperature is
controlled.

recyclable material that is presented on street level for collection by
or on behalf of a local authority.

a site for the disposal of waste materials by burial and is the oldest
form of waste treatment.

a facility at which components of a mixed waste stream, e.g. co-
mingled dry recyclables are extracted by the use of mechanical
separation techniques.

waste from households, as well as other waste, which, because of its
nature or composition, is similar to waste from households (such as
street litter, municipal parks and gardens waste, council office waste
and some commercial and industrial waste) which comes under the

Page 140



One Planet Living

Organic Material

Recovery
Recycling
Residual Waste
Reuse

Reuse and Recycling Centre

Street Watchers

Waste Accounting

Waste Arisings
Waste Collection

Waste Disposal

Waste Literacy

Waste Minimisation

Waste Prevention

control of a local waste authority, whether that waste is in the
possession of that authority or not.

a global initiative based on ten principles of sustainability developed
by BioRegional and WWF. The guiding ten principles are: zero carbon,
zero waste, sustainable transport, local and sustainable materials,
local and sustainable food, sustainable water, natural habits and
wildlife, culture and heritage, equity and fair trade, health and
happiness.

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises material of or
pertaining to an organ or the organs of an animal, plant or fungus.

is the process of creating energy in the form of electricity or heat from
the incineration of a waste.

process by which used materials are remanufactured into new
products

the fraction of municipal waste which comprises materials that have
not been separated out or sent for reprocessing.

any operation by which products or components that are not waste
are used again for the same purpose for which they were conceived.
otherwise known as a civic amenity site (CA site) or household waste
recycling centre (HWRC) is a facility where the public can dispose of
household waste run by a local.

residents who volunteer their time on behalf of Brent Council, they act
as the eyes and ears of the borough and work with us to help improve
their neighbourhoods.

a method and system for allocating cost of treatment, storage, and
disposal of waste material generated.

waste generated in a given area.

collection of waste from households (sometimes from commercial and
industrial premises) by or on behalf of a waste collection authority in a
given area on a regular basis.

waste management operation serving or carrying out the final
treatment for example incineration without energy recovery and
biological, physical, chemical treatment resulting in products or
residues solely for the purpose of disposal)

and

disposal of waste covering the following main operations - deposit
into or onto land (e.g. landfill), including specially engineered landfill,
deep injection, surface impoundment, release into water bodies,
permanent storage.

ability to identify, understand, interpret, create, communicate,
compute and use printed and written materials associated with the
context of waste involving a continuum of waste learning in enabling
individuals to achieve their waste goals, to develop their waste
knowledge and potential.

there is currently no standard UK definition — generally accepted to be
the process and the policy of reducing the amount of waste produced
by a person or a society entering a waste collection stream.

there is currently no standard UK definition — generally accepted to be
the process and the policy of preventing the generation of waste at its
source.

Page 141



Waste Reduction

Windrow Composting

Zero Waste

Zero Waste Places

Glossary of Acronyms

action taken by consumers to avoid waste and by local authorities to
discourage waste generation through controlling how waste services
are accessed.

the production of compost by piling large quantities of biodegradable
material in long rows (windrows).

a simple way of encapsulating the aim to go as far as possible in
reducing the environmental impact of waste. It is a visionary goal
which seeks to prevent waste occurring, conserves resources and
recovers all value from materials.

cities, towns and rural communities) to become exemplars of good
environmental practice on all waste.

AD Anaerobic Digestion

BC Borough Council

BME Black and Minority Ethnic

BMW Biodegradable Municipal Waste

BVPI Best Value Performance Indicator

CAA Comprehensive Area Assessment

CLG Department for Communities and Local Government
DCSF Department for Children Schools and Families

DECC Department of Energy and Climate Change

Defra Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
DMA Direct Marketing Association

DSO Direct Service Organisation

EEA European Environment Agency

FEE Foundation for Environmental Education

GHG Greenhouse Gas

GLA Greater London Authority

GLC Greater London Council

GVA Gross Value Added

GWP Global warming Potential

HMO Housing of Multiple Occupancy

JIMWMS Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy

LAA Local Area Agreement
LARAC Local Authority Recycling Advisory Committee
LATS Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme

Page 142



LB
LCRN
LDA
LDF
LFEPA
LPA
LWaRB
MPA
MPS
MRF
MSW
NHS

NI

PAF
RAS
RNfL
RRS
SKNDC
SRF
TfL
UKGSDS
UKLCTP
VES
WAS
WCA
WDA
WDF
WEEE
WET
WLWA
WRAP
WS2007

WWEF

London Borough

London Community Resource Network
London Development Agency

Local Development Framework

London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority
Low Participation Area

London Waste and Recycling Board
Metropolitan Police Authority

Mailing Preference Service

Materials Recovery Facility

Municipal Solid Waste

National Heath Service

National Indicators

Performance Assessment Framework
Resident Assessment Survey

Real Nappies for London

Reuse and Recycling Centre

South Kilburn New Deals for Community
Solid Recoverable Fuel

Transport for London

United Kingdom Government Sustainable Development Strategy
United Kingdom Low Carbon Transition Plan
Veolia Environmental Services

Waste Aware Shopping

Waste Collection Authority

Waste Disposal Authority

Waste Data Flow

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment
Waste Emissions Trading 2003 Act

West London Disposal Authority

Waste and Resources Action Programme
Waste Strategy for England 2007

World Wildlife Fund

Page 143



Scientific Units

kg kilogram

t tonne

| litter

Mt million tonnes

kg/hh/wk kilograms per household per week
kg/hh/yr kilograms per household per year

Molecular Formulae

COo, carbon dioxide

CO,e carbon dioxide equivalent
CH,4 methane

N,0 nitrous oxide

Page 144



Consultation Project Plan

Waste Collection Strategy 2010-2015

Background and reason for consulting

Brent's waste collection strategy needs to be updated to help reduce the amount of waste sent to landfill,
implement efficiency savings, reduce waste arisings and meet current and future national indicators for
recycling. The waste collection strategy aims to promote waste reduction, reuse and recycling, maintain
high levels of residents’ satisfaction, reduce the cost of waste collection and disposal and reduce the
carbon footprint associated with the waste collection service.

The strategy only covers household waste.

The waste collection strategy is developed as part of the One Council Waste and Street Cleansing Review
(Gold project).

The primary objective of the Gold review is to realise cost efficiency savings of at least £500,000 in waste
collection and disposal.

The activities carried out as part of the gold review include:
e Where are we today? — Oct — Nov 2009 — literature research and evidence base gathering
e  Where do we want to get to? — December 2009 - May 2010
o December 2009 - away day to select a shortlist of options for waste collection schemes
o January —March 2010 — consultants appointed to carry out analysis of six options and
assesses them on environmental performance, diversion rate and efficiency savings
o March —May 2010 — Brent officers and Veolia finalise costs of implementing preferred
option in Brent
e What do we need to do to get there? - February 2010 — March 2011
o February — May 2010 — waste collection strategy production
May 2010 — draft strategy submitted to CMT
July 2010 — draft strategy submitted to PCG
July 2010 — draft strategy submitted to the Executive to seek approval to consult with Brent
residents
Summer/Autumn 2010 — consultation
November 2010 — waste collection strategy submitted to the Executive for adoption
December 2010 — July 2011 — implementation of new collection service
July 2011 — new waste collection service starts.

o O O

O O O O

The aim of the public consultation on the draft waste collection strategy is to provide residents and
stakeholders with the opportunity to influence the decision making associated with waste management in
Brent over the next five years.

Timeframe

Public consultation on the draft waste collection strategy will take place for a total of 7 weeks.
® Planned start date: 30 August 2010
® Planned end date: 19 October 2010

Page 145



Who will we be consulting?
Key stakeholders to be engaged in the consultation period are as follows:

Residents

Residents associations

The Citizens Panel — Area Consultative Forums
Brent Sustainability Forum

BRAIN and Brava

Neighbourhood Working Groups

Consultation area (geographical)
The consultation will be borough-wide and all residents are invited to participate.

Contact Details

David Pietropaoli Waste Policy Manager / Brent Council / Environment & Culture / StreetCare
1st Floor, Brent House, 349-357, High Road, London, HA9 6BZ
T 020 8937 5082 / F 020 8937 5090 / E david.pietropaoli@brent.gov.uk

Tim McMahon Waste Policy Officer / Brent Council / Environment & Culture / StreetCare
1st Floor, Brent House, 349-357, High Road, London, HA9 6BZ
T 0208937 5082 / F 020 8937 5090 / E timothy.mcmahon@brent.gov.uk

Partner(s)
This consultation will not be carried out in partnership.

Consultation method(s)
The following activities have been identified as key consultative methods:

StreetCare issues the Green Pages quarterly as a four side centre spread in the Brent Magazine. It
is anticipated that the edition of the Green Pages during the consultation period will be centred on
the consultation. This in effect means that all households in the borough will receive information
about the consultation in hard copy format. There will be an opportunity to insert the
guestionnaire with the Green Pages

The consultation questionnaire will appear on the Brent web-site and links from other sites (e.g.
BRAIN, WLWA ) will signpost this on-line version

An electronic version of the questionnaire will also be issued to the Brent Citizens’ Panel, Brent
Housing Partnership, community networks and Brent Sustainability Forum members

The consultation message will also be spread across Brent Council through Insight Magazine, Take 5
and the Brent Brief and Brent Staff Panel. The six Brent Staff Fora will also be approached
Presentations will be made during the second cycle of the Area Consultative Forums

Information stalls at Brent summer festivals.

Page 146



Application of findings

The findings of the consultation will inform the final version of the waste collection strategy. We estimate
that the revised waste collection strategy will be adopted at the Executive meeting in November 2010.

An implementation phase will then follow to introduce the new waste collection services.

In addition the new waste collection strategy will be delivered through annual waste reduction and reuse,
communications and community engagement plans. The Council will develop a programme of public
involvement so that the annual plans benefit from the input of Brent residents who will assist shaping
priorities and sharing the ownership of the borough’s commitment to manage waste in more sustainable
ways.

Cost of consultation

The majority of the cost related to this consultation will be related to officer time.

Veolia Environmental Management (the waste services contractor) funds the Green Pages.

There will be costs associated with the design of the questionnaire and the presentation of the strategy
document. These costs are not known at this stage.

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 148



Agenda ltem 5¢

Executive
11 August 2010

o S Report from the Director of
v N © Environment and Culture

Wards affected:
ALL

The introduction of a vehicle emission-based charging
regime for residents parking permits.

1.0 Summary

1.1 This report sets outs details of a proposal to generally increase charges for
residents permits for parking on the highway (within Controlled Parking Zones
(CPZs)) at the same time as introducing a full vehicle emission based charging
regime.

1.2  The report explains that the proposal will encourage residents to consider the
contribution their vehicle makes to CO, emissions and climate change whilst
revising the charge for an “average” vehicle so that it is more closely aligned to
permit charges in other London boroughs with similar parking conditions and
practices.

1.3  The report recommends that the Director of Environment & Culture is instructed
to undertake the advertising of the necessary Traffic Orders to introduce the
new charges and regime, and to the undertaking of appropriate consultation
into the proposals.

1.4 The report recommends that the Executive delegate authority to the Director of
Environment & Culture to consider all representations made during the
consultation and subsequently, having given consideration to those
representations and if appropriate, introduce the amended regime and charges
from 1! April 2011 or as soon as practicable after that date.

1.5 The report also recommends the introduction of a “permit surrender prize”
scheme for existing resident permit holders and the introduction of a permit
which allows users of car club cars to park free of charge within any CPZ in
Brent as incentives for residents to reduce non-essential car use and contribute
to combating climate change.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 149



1.6

2.0

2.1

2.2

2,3

2.4

3.0
3.1

3.11

3.1.2

3.1.3

Finally, the report recommends that the Executive agrees that opportunities to
introduce a vehicle emission based regime for business and other parking
permits should be explored.

Recommendations

That the Executive agrees to the introduction of a vehicle emission based
regime and new charges for residents parking permits and accordingly instructs
the Director of Environment & Culture to undertake appropriate consultation
and the advertising of Traffic Orders in association with the Council’s intention
to introduce the new charges and charging regime for residents parking permits
as set out in this report,

That the Executive delegates authority to the Director of Environment & Culture
to subsequently consider all representations received in relation to the
proposals and, having considered those representations and if appropriate, and
making any modifications, makes the proposed Traffic Orders to introduce the
proposed regime and charges.

That the Executive instructs the Director of Environment & Culture to introduce
a “permit surrender price” scheme and a scheme to allow users of car club cars
to park free of charge within parking bays in any CPZ within Brent and to
amend, following consultation, the relevant Traffic Orders.

That the Executive requires the Director of Environment & Culture to explore
opportunities to introduce a vehicle emission based regime for business and
other parking permits and bring suitable proposals to the Executive at an
appropriate time.

Detail

Global and national context

Carbon Dioxide (CO;) is one of the principle greenhouse gases that are
contributing to predicted climate change. The transport sector is currently
estimated to contribute in excess of 20% of all UK greenhouse emissions —
roughly equivalent to 100 million tonnes of CO, per annum. One estimate is
that personal travel produces in excess of 10% of UK total greenhouse
emissions.

The Climate Change Act 2008 makes it the duty of the Secretary of State to
ensure that the net UK carbon account for all six Kyoto greenhouse gases for
the year 2050 is at least 80% lower than the 1990 baseline.

A key element of Government strategy relates to vehicle emissions. The
“Powering Future Vehicles Strategy” (2002) outlined the aspiration that the UK
should lead the global shift to a low carbon transport economy.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 150



3.2

3.2.1

3.2.2

One target within this strategy is that, by 2012, 10% of all new car sales should
be low carbon (with CO, emissions of 100g/km or less). This is consistent with
an earlier agreement between the European Commission and the European
Automotive Manufacturers Association to reduce CO, emissions from new cars
by 25% to an average of 140g/km by 2008.

In fact the average level of CO2 emissions for new cars has fallen by 13.1%
since1997 to 164.9g/km and total CO, emissions from all cars in use has fallen
by 4.8% over the same period (DEFRA 2008).

There are numerous strands to the Government's strategy to reduce
greenhouse gas emissions and hence combat climate change. In the context of
this report the two relevant strands are (i) policies around road traffic reduction
and (ii) the taxation (Vehicle Excise Duty) regime, first introduced in 2001 and
subsequently strengthened, which essentially (financially) incentivises buyers
of cars to move to lower emitting vehicles.

Appendix “F” sets out the emission based regime for VED introduced in 2001
and the current scale of charges.

Regional and local context and comparators.

The Mayor for London is responsible for the transport strategy for London.
Successive Mayor’s Transport Strategies have set out policies and proposals
that would contribute to reducing transport emissions as a contribution to
improving the environment and combating climate change.

The Mayors Transport Strategy (May 2010) sets out an approach to reducing
CO, emissions from ground based transport around 3 core themes. Two of
those themes are “Supporting & enabling the development and use of low
carbon vehicles” and “Carbon efficient mode choice — improving the
attractiveness of low carbon modes of transport”.

Linked to these core themes are proposals which include:

Proposal 98 — “The Mayor through TfL, and working with the London Boroughs,
car club operators, and other stakeholders, will support the expansion of car
clubs and encourage their use of ultra low carbon vehicles and

Proposal 124 — “The Mayor, through TfL, and working with the London
Boroughs,....will encourage implementation of pricing differentials based on
vehicle emissions, including banded resident parking permits and other on and
off-street parking charges...”

In 2007, the London Borough of Richmond upon Thames introduced the first
emission based charging structure for resident and other parking permits in
London. It included a differential charging structure for second and subsequent
permits.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 151



3.3

3.3.1

The Richmond regime applied differential charges for residents’ permits
utilizing the Vehicle Excise Duty (VED) “road tax” emission related bands for
vehicles registered on or after 1% March 2001 and engine size (cylinder
capacity) for vehicles registered before that date.

The regime introduced in Richmond also varied the charges across the
Borough according to the nature and operating times of the various CPZs.

In introducing their regime Richmond set a precedent for the process of
introducing such regimes and a model arrangement for application, with local
variations, elsewhere in London.

Subsequent to Richmond introducing their regime, similar regimes have been
introduced in 7 other London boroughs. These are listed, together with their
annual charges, at Appendix “A”.

Appendix “B” summarises current annual charges for residents permits in all
London Boroughs at the current time. It illustrates that there is a wide range of
charges and a variety of charging regimes. All Council’s review their parking
charges periodically, sometimes annually, and it is likely that many will amend
their charges and arrangements in the next few months.

Appendix “C” sets out the charges for Boroughs that are adjacent to Brent.

On 12" July 2010, Richmond Council resolved to abandon their emission
based charging regime. Their Cabinet agreed to “simplify CPZ permit charges
in line with a detailed manifesto pledge made by the new Administration...to
move away from the complex and confusing emission based taxation structure”
in line with a commitment to “reduce levels of taxation”. The relevant report
says there is no clear evidence of the regime changing behaviours and that
there is “some evidence of movement away from upper (emission) bands to
lower bands....but the percentage was small and more likely to be influenced
by other factors...such as VED”. The report contains no supporting
data/evidence.

The stance taken by Richmond is contrary to the view presented by the Mayor
for London in the Mayors Transport Strategy which states “parking controls
have been identified as one of the key measures that can be implemented at a
local level to encourage the purchase and use of road vehicles with low CO2
and air pollutant emissions.”

The Brent Context

The Council is committed to making a positive contribution to combating
climate change. It is a signatory to the Nottingham declaration on climate
change. The Brent Climate Change Strategy, launched in December 2009 has
three principal aims, one of which is to “cut emissions produced by the Borough
....In every sphere....the way we move around.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 152



3.3.2

3.3.3

3.3.4.

3.34

3.3.5.

The Council’s Transport Strategy is set out in the Local Implementation Plan
(LIP) adopted in 2005/6 and currently being revised in response to the Mayors
Transport Strategy. The LIP states that the Council’s strategy for improving the
environment, promoting economic growth and addressing social issues is
through a transport policy and associated programmes that support the use of
sustainable transport modes and discourage non essential car use.

Parking policy and practice is an important element of transport policy and the
Council’s approach is summarised within the Parking Enforcement Plan (PEP)
which forms part of the LIP. The PEP states that when “reviewing parking
permit charges the Council will take into consideration the need to encourage a
shift to vehicles that have the lowest negative externalities and set permit
prices based on DVLA (VED) charging models”.

Currently, approximately 25% by area of Brent is covered by CPZs and these
are located in the south-east and south areas of the Borough — generally closer
to inner London. At any one time there are approximately 17,000 residents
permits in use — although this figure includes permits of 1,3 or 6 months
duration as well as annual permits.

Historically, the Council has adopted a system of permit charges that applies
Borough-wide. That is, the same permit charge is made (for the same type of
car) regardless of the location of the CPZ or it's hours of operation.

Brent currently has a “loose” emission based regime for resident permit
charges as shown in Table 1 below:

Vehicle Charge

Cars registered before March 2001 with engine size below
1200cc or registered after March 2001 in DVLA emission | Nil
band A,B or C.

All other vehicles £50
2" permit £75
3" permit £100
Visitor permits £100

Table 1: Current Brent resident permit charges.

In 2007/08 the “nil” charge for smaller vehicles was introduced. Prior to that
change the charge of £50 for a first permit had remained unchanged for more
than 10 years.

There have been significant improvements in the arrangements and infra-
structure associated with transport modes (walking, cycling and public
transport) that are recognised as being more sustainable than car use since the
original charging regime was introduced. Facilities, infrastructure, training and
information for cycling have improved. Similarly the quality of, accessibility to
and information on, public transport (particularly in relation to buses) has
improved. Furthermore, recent years have seen the introduction and expansion

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 153



of city car clubs which provide an opportunity for residents to have access to a
car for essential car use whilst avoiding ownership.

3.3.6. An analysis of Appendices “A” and “B” and associated information illustrates

4.1

4.2

that comparison between Brent charges and those of other Boroughs is difficult
and subjective because charges reflect the parking pressures within those
Boroughs (which can vary significantly within Boroughs and from Borough to
Borough), the political and transport policies and the economic well-being of the
Boroughs.

The analysis demonstrates that:

(i) Brent is the only Borough that makes no charge for all cars with an
emission rating of less than 110gCO./km or with an engine size of
1200cc

(i) That the average charge made by Boroughs with emission based
regimes for vehicles in the 151-175gCO,/km category is £82,

(i)  That charges in Boroughs that can be considered broadly “similar” to
those parts of Brent where CPZs exist in terms of location, parking
stress and economic well being are broadly around £80-£100 per
annum,

(iv)  That charges in neighbouring Boroughs range from £25-45 (Ealing) to
£84-£162 (Camden)

Proposals
The current charging regime and charges for resident parking permits in Brent:

e contribute little to persuading residents to contribute to road traffic
reduction within the Borough in the context of the many improvements
that have been made (by the council and its’ transport partners) in
sustainable transport facilities, infrastructure and services,

e fail to provide encouragement for residents to own vehicles that cause
less environmental damage through CO, exhaust emissions or to
discourage those residents who own less environmentally friendly
vehicles,

e are inconsistent with the charges made by boroughs with broadly similar
parking conditions and practices,

e have not been adjusted so as to be aligned with the value of parking
space in London, the general cost of motoring and transport or of
operating the service.

It is proposed to introduce a differentiated emissions based charging regime for
residents’ permits that will address the issues set out in 4.1 above. The regime
would introduce a wider range of charges (than the current 2) according to the
emission rating of the vehicle taken from the DVLA banding.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 154



4.3

4.4

There will be 7 differently priced bands. The cost of a permit will increase with
the emission value (gCOy/km) of the vehicle.

Vehicles registered prior to March 2001 (for which there is no nationally
recognised emission rating) will be charged according to engine size — using 7
bands.

Currently, the cost of a 2" and 3" permit is charged at 50% and 100% greater
respectively than the charge for the 1t permit. It is proposed that this
arrangement should continue — subject to minimum charges of £75 and £100
(the current charges) and a maximum charge of £300.

The proposed charging regime for 12 month residents permits is shown at
Appendix “D”.

It is proposed to set the charge for a visitor permit at the equivalent of the
highest resident permit charge being paid at that address at the time of
purchase plus a premium of £10 — subject to a minimum charge of £110 and a
maximum charge of £300.

At present, residents are able to purchase permits for 1,3 or 6 months at a cost
equal to the pro-rata charge for a 12 month permit plus an administration
charge of £6. It is proposed that arrangement continues.

As an incentive to encourage residents to consider their travel choices it is also
proposed to introduce a “permit surrender prize” scheme.

Under this scheme any resident that chooses to return an existing resident
permit and agrees not to purchase another for a period of 2 years will be
granted a voucher to the value of £200 towards the cost of being a member of
a city car club or the purchase of a bicycle or “oyster” travel.

The scheme would need to have conditions to preclude fraud.

As an additional incentive to those residents who may be encouraged to join
city car clubs by the proposed emission based regime of charges, or those that
are current members, it is proposed to introduce a car club all zone permit.

At present car club cars have permits which permit them to park in car club
bays and in other bays only within the CPZ in which that car is based.

The introduction of a permit which allows users of car club cars to park in any
resident parking bay in the Borough free of charge during CPZ operational
hours would reduce the administrative burden on car club operators and
provide a small financial incentive to car club members — with little risk of
encouraging non-essential journeys, significantly increasing parking stress in
residents bays or reducing income from pay and display arrangements.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 155



4.5

4.6

5.0

5.1

5.2

At this time it is not proposed to introduce an emission based regime for
permits other than residents’ permits. Nevertheless it is recognised that all
permit holders will contribute to CO, emissions in the Borough and hence
climate change. Accordingly it is proposed to develop an appropriate regime for
other permit holders and present it to the Executive for consideration at the
earliest opportunity

The proposed regime and charging structure set out in this report is considered
to be one that will be broadly understood and relatively simple to administer
and adjust as required in the future. It is consistent with the principles for the
review and setting of parking charges as set out in the LIP and Parking
Enforcement Plan.

Financial Implications

The council currently has no comprehensive and accurate information relating
to the type of vehicle (by CO, emission type) owned by its’ resident permit
holders held in a way that can be readily analysed. Historically there has never
been a need to capture that information in a systematic way.

Similarly it is not possible to predict with certainty the proportion of residents
with permits that will change their vehicle type or cease to apply for a parking
permit as a result of the introduction of the regime and charges proposed.

As a consequence it is not possible to predict with certainty the financial
implications of the introduction of the proposed regime. Nevertheless, using the
results of a sample survey of recent permit applications an approximation of the
Brent (resident permit) car population by emission band and engine size (prior
to March 2001) has been used to model the additional income that may be
generated by the proposal.

The car population approximation used in the model is shown at Appendix “E” .

During 2009/10 income derived from the sales of residents permits was
£0.894m

Using the car population approximation model it is estimated that the additional
(first year) full year income associated with the introduction of the proposal
would be £1.1m.

This estimate includes an assumption that a proportion of residents would
renew their permits early to avoid increased charges in the first year and an
assumption that a proportion of residents may choose not to renew their
permits (as a result of being able to find alternative off street parking
provision/arrangements or by ceasing to own a vehicle) or may choose to move
to a lower emission rated vehicle.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 156



5.3

5.4

6.0

6.1

The estimated cost of introducing the scheme proposed (publicity, Traffic
Orders, IT system changes, staff training etc) is estimated to be in the order of
£75,000 and would be incurred in the 2010/11 financial year.

There would be no significant additional and on-going revenue costs
associated with administrating the scheme once introduced.

Hence, if the regime and charges set out in this report are introduced from 1
April 2011 an estimated additional income of £1.1m would be generated in the
2011/12 financial year.

Whilst it is reasonable for a Council to take due regard of estimated costs and
income arising from the management of parking, is not lawful for a Council to
use the Road Traffic Regulation Act 1984 to impose charges to raise revenue.

The proposals outlined in this report are consistent with the policy objectives
outlined within the report.

The additional income estimated from the proposals may vary according to (i)
the accuracy of the model used and (ii) whether or not the regime, together with
other associated initiatives, contributes to the policy objectives behind the
proposal.

In essence, the long-term effect on income levels cannot be measured as it is
hoped that the effect of the new Charging Mechanism would be to reduce the
use of High Emission vehicles”.

Local authorities are required to keep a separate account of their income and
expenditure in respect of parking. Furthermore, Local Authorities are prohibited
from spending any surpluses in the PPRA on anything other than the
management of parking or other transport related expenditure.

The costs and income associated with the proposal will be incorporated within
the Parking Places Revenue Account (PPRA) for 2010/11 and beyond.

Legal Implications

The Council is empowered by the Road Traffic Regulation Act (RTRA) 1984 (as
amended) and the Road Traffic Act 1991 to provide parking places on and off
the highway and to charge for their use.

Section 45(1) of the RTRA 1984 provides the power to designate by order, on-
street parking places. Section 45(2) (b) extend the means to charge for such
parking places.

The proposals would be introduced by making a Traffic Regulation Order under
the RTRA. The procedure for doing this is set out in Regulations and requires:

Consultation with organisations representing persons who use any
road to which the Order relates, or are likely to be otherwise affected,

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 157



7.0

7.1

Publication of proposals and providing documents for inspection,
Inviting written objections to proposals following publication,
Consideration of objections made.

Section 122(1) of the RTRA specifies that an Authority has a duty “....to
exercise the functions conferred on them by this Act as (so far as practicable
having regard to the matters specified in sub-section (2) below to secure the
expeditious convenient and safe movement of vehicular and other traffic
(including pedestrians) and the provision of suitable and adequate parking
facilities on and off the highway”

The matters at Section 122 (2) include (i)The effect on amenities of any locality
(i) The strategy prepared under Section 80 of the Environment Act 1995 (Air
Quality Strategy) and (iii) Any other matters appearing to the local authority to
be relevant.

The Authority is therefore permitted to consider Air Quality and Environmental
matters when determining the parameters of a new parking scheme.

Section 45 of the RTRA permits differential parking based on vehicle emissions
and that regard may be had to environmental considerations in creating a
parking regime under the RTRA.

Furthermore, local authorities have wide ranging powers under the Local
Government Act 2000. These are wide ranging powers that allow authorities to
do anything which they consider is likely to achieve objectives listed and
include the promotion or improvement of the environmental well-being of their
area.

Consultation

As described above, the legislation prescribes the form of statutory consultation
for the making of the Traffic Order associated with the proposals described.
This requires the advertising of proposed Orders in the local press and by way
of street notices.

However it is also essential that the proposals are put in the public domain and
reasonable engagement methods are utilized, in addition to the statutory
process, to afford those affected by the proposals opportunity to assess the
impact of the proposals and make representations and objections prior to the
proposals being implemented.

Accordingly the Director of Environment & Culture will embark on a
communications strategy (comprising, but not limited to, information in Brent
Magazine, press releases, website information, and leaflets in the parking
shops and Council offices) so as to alert the wider community to the proposals
prior to the advertising of the Traffic Orders.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 158



6.2

All representations received in advance of and subsequent to the advertising of
Traffic Orders will need to be properly considered prior to the decision on
whether or not to introduce the proposals.

This report recommends that authority is delegated to the Director of
Environment & Culture to consider those representations.

Background Papers

Brent Local Implementation Plan (2006-11)
Brent Climate Change Strategy (Dec 2009)
(London) Mayors Transport Strategy (May 2010)
Contact Officers

Tim Jackson — Head of Transportation, Directorate of Environment & Culture,
Brent House, Wembley. (tim.jackson@brent.gov.uk, tel 020 8937 5151)

Richard Saunders
Director of Environment and Culture.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 159



Appendix A

Details of annual resident permit charges in those Boroughs with

emission based permit regimes.

Camden

Band

1

2

3

Vehicle Emissions (gCO./km)
Range — for vehicles registered
post March 2001.

Less than 150.

151-185

186-224

224+

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for
vehicles registered pre March
2001

0-1299

1300-1849

1850-2449

2450+

First permit annual cost.

£84

£99.80

£121

£162

Haringey

Band

1

2

3

Vehicle Emissions (gCO./km)
Range - for vehicles registered
post March 2001.

Less than 100

101-150

151-185

186+

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for
vehicles registered pre March
2001

Less than 1549

1550-3000

3000+

First permit annual cost.

£15

£30

£60

£90

Islington

Band

A B

C

D

E

F

Vehicle Emissions (gCO./km)
Range — for vehicles registered
post March 2001.

Less 101-120

than 100

121-150

151-165

166-185

186-225

225+

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for
vehicles registered pre March
2001

Less
than
1100

1101-
1399

1400-
1500

1501-
1850

1851-
2500

2500+

First permit annual cost.

£0 £35

£55

£70

£85

£160

£200

Lambeth

Band

1 2

3

4

5

Vehicle Emissions (gCO./km)
Range — for vehicles registered
post March 2001.

Less than
100

101-120

121-165

166-185

186-225

225+

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for
vehicles registered pre March
2001

1550

Less than

1550-3000

3000+

First permit annual cost.

£0

£90

£115

£135

£180

£200

Executive Committee
11" August 2010.

Page 160

Version No. 1.3
27th July 2010.




Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea

Band 1 2 3 4 5 6 7
Vehicle Emissions (gCO/km) Less 101-120 | 121-150 | 151-165 | 166-185 186-225 225+
Range — for vehicles registered than 100

post March 2001.

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for Less Greater

vehicles registered pre March than than 1549

2001 1549

First permit annual cost. £66 £88 £99 £110 £121 £132 £154
Tower Hamlets

Band A B Cc D E F G H
Vehicle Emissions Less 101- 121-150 | 151-165 166- 186- 225-325 325+
(gCO2/km) than 100 120 185 225

Range - for vehicles

registered post March 2001.

Vehicle engine size (cc) — Less 1101- 1300- 1601- 1801- 2001- 3000+
for vehicles registered pre than 1300 1600 1800 2000 3000

March 2001 1100

First permit annual cost. £0 £40 £50 £70 £90 £110 £125 £150

Richmond upon Thames

Complex regime where costs vary according to zone, 13 emission bands and 6 engine size bands — Price for first

permit varies between £0 and £300 pa.

Waltham Forest

Band 1 2 3
Vehicle Emissions (gCO./km) Less than 120 121-225 225+
Range — for vehicles registered

post March 2001.

Vehicle engine size (cc) — for Less than 900cc 900-3000 3000+
vehicles registered pre March

2001

First permit annual cost. £22.50 £30 £100

Executive Committee
11" August 2010.

Page 161

Version No. 1.3
27th July 2010.




Appendix B

Details of annual resident parking permit charges in all London

boroughs*

Borough Annual charge (£)
Camden 84.00
City of London No regime
Hackney 115.00
Hammersmith & Fulham 99.00
Greenwich 15.00-50.00
Islington 55.00
Kensington & Chelsea 99.00
Lambeth 115.00
Lewisham 60.00
Newham 0
Southwark 75.00
Tower Hamlets 50.00
Wandsworth 95.00
Westminster 85.00-120.00
Barnet 40.00
Barking & Dagenham 22.50
Bexley 35.00-70.00
Brent 50.00
Bromley 35.00-75.00
Croydon 48.00
Ealing 25.00 or 45.00
Enfield 30.00 or 70.00
Harrow 46.00
Haringey No regime
Hounslow 40.00-60.00
Havering 13.20
Kingston 60.00
Merton 65.00
Richmond 22.50-300.00
Redbridge 55.75
Sutton 35.00 or 40.00
*Notes

For those boroughs with a vehicle emission based residents permit regime the cost shown
is for an “average” vehicle (130gCO,/km).

Where a range or values are shown this is where the cost varies according to the CPZ.

Charges relate to first permits.

Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 162



Appendix C

Details of annual resident parking permit charges in neighbouring

boroughs to Brent*

Borough Annual charge (£)

Barnet 40.00

Camden Emission based regime — range
84.00 to 162.00

Ealing 25.00 or 45.00 (depending on zone)

Harrow 46.00

Hammersmith & Fulham

99.00

Kensington & Chelsea

Emission based regime — range
66.00 to 154.00

Westminster

“Loose” emission based regime —
85.00 or 120.00

Note : Charges relate to first permits.

Executive Committee
11" August 2010.

Page 163

Version No. 1.3
27th July 2010.




Appendix D.

Proposed charges — annual residents parking permit in Brent.

For vehicles registered on or after 15 March 2001:

“Brent
band”

1

2

3

4

Vehicle
Emissions
(gCO2/km)

Less
than 110

110-130

131-150

151-175

176-200

201-255

255+

First permit
annual cost

(£)

50

75

100

125

150

200

Second
permit
annual cost

(£)

75

75

113

150

188

225

300

Third
permit
annual cost

(£)

100

100

150

200

250

300

300

For vehicles registered before 1t March 2001:

“Brent
band”

1

2

3

4

Vehicle
engine size
(co)

Less
than
1100

1001-
1200

1201-
1550

1551-
1800

1801-
2400

2401-
3000

Over
3000

First permit
annual cost

(£)

50

75

100

125

150

200

Second
permit
annual cost

(£)

75

75

113

150

188

225

300

Third
permit
annual cost

(£)

100

100

150

200

250

300

300

Visitor permits (annual)
To be charged at a cost equivalent to the maximum permit being charged at that household

plus £10 — subject to a minimum charge of £110 and a maximum charge of £300.

Executive Committee
11" August 2010.

Page 164

Version No. 1.3
27th July 2010.




Appendix E

Estimate of vehicles (owned by Brent resident permit holders) within

proposed charging bands.

“Brent 1 2 3 4 5 6 7

band”

Emission Less 110-130 | 131-150 | 151-175 | 176-200 | 201-255 Over

value or than 110 | gCOy/km | gCO./km | gCO,/km | gCO,/km | gCOy/km 255

engine gCOy/km | or 1001- | or 1201- | or 1551- | or 1801- | or 2401- | gCO,/km

size or 1200cc 1550cc | 1800cc 2400cc 3000cc or
1000cc 3001cc

Estimated 6 6 21 31 22 11 3

% of

permits

within

band

Note: Estimate based on a sample analysis of permit applications received (new and

renewals in July 2010).

Executive Committee
11" August 2010.

Page 165

Version No. 1.3
27th July 2010.




Appendix F

Current DVLA annual vehicle licence banding structure and charges
(cars registered after March 2001.)

DVLA Band | Emissions rating (gCO,/km) Annual charge (petrol or diesel
vehicles) £
A Up to 100 Nil
B 101-110 20
C 111-120 30
D 121-130 90
E 131-140 110
F 141-150 125
G 151-165 155
H 166-175 180
I 176-185 200
J 186-200 235
K 201-225 245
L 226-255 425
M Over 225 435

Current DVLA annual vehicle licence banding structure and charges
(cars registered before March 2001.)

Engine size (cc) Annual charge £

Not over 1549cc 125

Over 1549 205
Executive Committee Version No. 1.3
11" August 2010. 27th July 2010.

Page 166



/9| obed

London Borough of Brent
Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive
on Wednesday, 11 August 2010

PRESENT: Councillor John (Chair), Councillor Butt (Vice-Chair) and Councillors Arnold,

Beswick, Crane, Jones, J Moher, R Moher, Powney and Thomas

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors S Choudhary, Gladbaum, Hashmi, Lorber, McLennan,
Naheerathan and BM Patel

Agenda Item Ward(s) Decision
Item No
5. Primary places - allocation of the All Wards; (i) that approval be given to the allocation of Basic Need Safety Valve
balance of Basic Need Safety Valve funds across the schemes set out in the table in paragraph 3.3.8.3 of the
funding and Council's Main Capital report from the Director of Children and Families for the primary expansion
Programme allocations to primary schemes presented;
schools for expansion (i) that approval be given to the allocation of funds under the council’s
main capital programme across the schemes set out in the table in
paragraph 3.3.8.8 of the Director’s report for the primary expansion
schemes presented,;
(iii) that it be noted that the council would commence initial
procurement activity for consultants to advise on these projects in
accordance with the council’s procurement procedures;
(iv) that it be noted that a further report will be presented at the
Executive’s September meeting with further costing and recommending
which projects should be taken forward.
6. Educational use of Coniston Gardens | Fryent; (i that the decision made by the January 2010 Executive meeting to

dispose of the site to a Housing Association be revoked and instead to
retain the site within the council’s portfolio for educational and community
use;

(ii) that officers re-engage with Oliver Goldsmith Primary School and

9 wajl| epusby



89| obed

London Borough of Brent — Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive on Wednesday, 11 August 2010 (continued)

Agenda
Item No

Item

Ward(s)

Decision

various council service areas to establish the potential service options and
appropriate funding streams available to support the development and
sustainable use of the site for the local community and/or educational
purposes.

Authority to extend the existing
contract for the delivery of Play
Services in Brent

All Wards;

0] that the current position with regard to the tender process for the
delivery of play services in Brent and officers intention to report to the
Executive on options for the future delivery of play services by December
2010 be noted;

(i) that a further extension of the existing contract for play services
with Brent Play Association (BPA) be authorised for a period of 7 months
from 1 September 2010 to 3 March 2011.

Waste Strategy Review

All Wards;

(i) that the detailed outcomes from the Waste Strategy Review as
described in this report be noted;

(i) that approval be given to the consultation on the preferred scenario
for waste collection as set out in Sections 4.0 — 5.3 of the report from the
Director of Environment and Culture;

(iii) that approval be given to the consultation on the revised Waste
Strategy for Brent as set out in Appendices A and B of the Director’s
report;

(iv) that the financial implications of repealing the £25 charge for bulky
household waste collections, as set out in paragraph 6.14 of the Director’s
report be noted;

(v) that approval be given to the introduction of a free bulky waste
collection service and that this should be introduced from 1 October 2010;
(vi) that the Director of Environment and Culture be authorised to
develop proposals for the street cleansing service in discussion with the
Council’s service provider — Veolia ES (UK) Limited, and that these
proposals be reported back to the Executive.




69| obed

London Borough of Brent — Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive on Wednesday, 11 August 2010 (continued)

Agenda
Item No

Item

Ward(s)

Decision

Introduction of a vehicle emission-
based charging regime for residents'
parking permits

All Wards;

(i that approval be given to the introduction of a vehicle emission
based regime and new charges for residents parking permits and
accordingly instructs the Director of Environment and Culture to undertake
appropriate consultation and the advertising of Traffic Orders in
association with the Council’s intention to introduce the new charges and
charging regime for residents parking permits as set out in this report,

(i) that the Director of Environment and Culture be authorized to
subsequently consider all representations received in relation to the
proposals and, having considered those representations and if
appropriate, and making any modifications, make the proposed Traffic
Orders to introduce the proposed regime and charges;

(iii) that the Director of Environment and Culture introduce a “permit
surrender price” scheme and a scheme to allow users of car club cars to
park free of charge within parking bays in any CPZ within Brent and to
amend, following consultation, the relevant Traffic Orders;

(iv) that the Director of Environment and Culture explore opportunities
to introduce a vehicle emission based regime for business and other
parking permits and bring suitable proposals to the Executive at an
appropriate time.

10.

Authority to renew advice service
grants to Brent Citizens Advice
Bureau and Brent Community Law
Centre Limited

All Wards;

(i) that the grant for the Brent Citizen’s Advice Bureau be renewed for
a further 1 year from 1 October 2010, to conclude 30 September 2011
pending the outcome of a strategic review;

(i) that the grant for the Brent Community Law Centre be renewed for
a further 1 year from 1 October 2010, to conclude 30 September 2011
pending the outcome of a strategic review;

(iii) that the savings as set out in option 1 of the report from the
Director of Housing and Community Care be noted.

11.

Authority to call off from a West

All Wards;

(i) that the result of the tender run by the West London Alliance Joint




0/1 obed

London Borough of Brent — Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive on Wednesday, 11 August 2010 (continued)

Agenda
Item No

Item

Ward(s)

Decision

London collaborative procurement
framework agreement for the
provision of home care for adults

Procurement Unit, leading to the establishment of series of framework
agreements by the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham for the
supply of home care across older people, mental health, learning
disabilities and physical disabilities sectors be noted;

(i) that approval be given to the awards of call-off contracts using the
WLA framework for Personal Home Care to London Care plc, Enara
Community Care, Supporta Care Ltd, Jays Homecare and Taylor Gordon
and Co Ltd trading as Plan Personnel from 1 October 2010 for 4 years;
(iii) that authority be delegated to the Director of Housing and
Community Care authority to award further contracts in excess of
£500,000 from the WLA frameworks as required throughout the life of the
framework agreements, in consultation with the Director of Finance and
Corporate Resources and the Borough Solicitor.

12.

The transfer of resources from NHS
Brent to Brent Council for people with
learning disabilities

All Wards;

(i) that approval be given to the financial agreement for the
commissioning of services for individuals with learning disabilities between
the Council and NHS Brent and approve the PCT transferring the following
funds to the Council:

£7.511m for 2009-10 (£7.261million plus inflation of £250,000)
£7.611m for 2010-11, (£7.261million plus inflation of £350,000)

(i) that approval be given to the revision of the joint commissioning of
services by staff responsible for the learning disabilities function, such that
the Council becomes the lead commissioner, with accountability for the
function being held by the Joint Executive Team, between NHS Brent and
the Council;

(iii) that the Director for Housing and Community Care submit a report
seeking approval on the remaining transfers of responsibilities and
resources for individuals with learning disabilities from NHS Brent to the




1/ | ebed

London Borough of Brent — Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive on Wednesday, 11 August 2010 (continued)

Agenda
Item No

Item

Ward(s)

Decision

Council by 31 March 2011. This is to include the NHS Campus closure
programme and the future arrangements for the Community Team for
People with a Learning Disability.

13.

Award of contract for procurement
and management of temporary
accommodation

All Wards;

(i) that approval be given to the award of both the Procurement and
Management of Temporary Accommodation contracts to Brent Housing
Partnership Ltd from 1 September 2010 for 2 years with provision to
extend for a further 12 months;

(i) that approval be given to an extension to the current contract for
Procurement and Management of Temporary Accommodation to cover the
period from 16 August 2010 to 31 August 2010 until the projected start
date of the new contracts;

(iii) that authority be delegated to the Director of Housing and
Community Care to further extend the current contract for Procurement
and Management of Temporary Accommodation beyond 31 August 2010 if
required, to allow for a later start date than 1 September 2010 for the new
contracts, whether due to delay in obtaining the required Secretary of
State consent to the outsourced service or otherwise.

14.

Rising to the challenges: re-shaping
Brent Council to deliver the new
Administration's priorities

All Wards;

(i) that the major changes and challenges currently facing local
government be noted,;

(i) that the broad vision for the future shape and structure of the
Council set out in the body of the report from the Chief Executive and in
Appendices 1 and 2 of the report be agreed;

(iii) that the measures already taken to modernise the Council’s
structure, staffing and spans of management control as set out in section 4
of the Chief Executive’s report be noted;

(iv) that agreement be given, agree subject to the outcome of
consultation with staff, to the deletion of the Business Transformation
department and the reconfiguration of its functions as set out in section 5




2/ | obed

London Borough of Brent — Summary of Decisions taken by the Executive on Wednesday, 11 August 2010 (continued)

Agenda
Item No

Item

Ward(s)

Decision

of the report;

(v) that the other proposed departmental structures as set out in
section 5 of the report be endorsed;

(vi) that the Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the
Council, be authorised to make such other consequential changes as may
be needed to give effect to the proposals in this report.

15.

Treasury Management Annual Report
2009/10

All Wards;

that Full Council be recommend to:

(i) adopt the 2009 Treasury Management Code of Practice (paras 3.3
-3.5)

(i) approve the Treasury Management Annual Report (section 3); and
Annual Investment Strategy Report (section 4)

(iii) note the outturn for prudential indicators (section 5)

(iv) note the updated position in 2010/11 (para.3.25).




Public Document Pack Agenda ltem 8

09¢l /€68 0C0  -xed )

6S€El /€68 020 TR oLoc >_=—.- :9)eq uonedlqnd
}N°AoB-juaiq@plal-auue :jlewsa

play auuy ;18210 10Bju0D

(selliwe pue uaip|iyd) plouly 1| (2180 [e100S pUE Y)esH ‘s)NpY) JoUo o 1D

(84nyno pue Buluueld ‘uswuodiaug) Asumod 1D (uoneuodsues | pue sAemybiH) J8YoN I 411D

(uoneynsuo) pue Aoesoowa( |B207 ‘AlISIBAIQ pUB $821N0SaY uewnpH) Buo 4D (seo1n19g Jawoysn) pue BuisnoH) sewoy] Jj|D
(A12)BS 21|1gNd pUB UOIJUBABI BWIID) YoImsag J||1D (s@o4nosay) nng 410

(Juswdojaaag o1woOU09] pue uonelssuabay) suel)d J1D (uoneuipio-09 Aoijod pue Absjesis ajesodion) uyor 41D

:SMOJ|0} SE SI 8AlINd8XT 8y} Jo diysiaquiawl Jua.lind ay |

"J1921O peaT 8y} 0} SuoljeluasaIdal pJemio) [|IM OUM SOIAISS D11eIo0ws( JOBJUOD ‘paljiluspl 8q 0} }oA sey ajep uolsioap oioads
e aJay)\ ‘(7 uwnjod 8as) uaye)} aq 0} SI UOISIDap 8y} 8}ep a8y} 840j8q 3aam auo 0} dn Jaquinu sauoyda|sl/ssalppe aAoge ay} Buisn saoiAIag dljesoowa
0} UoISSIWQgNS usjium e Buipiemio) AQ 0S Op UBD Ue|d pJemio ayj ul pajsl| siajew ay) jo Aue Buipiebal suoljejuasaldal ayew 0} SaysIM oym auoAuy

‘'spodad pue sjuswnoop 88s 0} 2llgnd 8y} JO JUBWSJIIIUS Y} 1IN0 18S S8|NY UOIIBWIOU| 0] SS8I2Y S,|IoUN0d
3] '9A0(E PajIe}ap Se SaJIAISS 211eIoowWa(] BIA d|ge|ieAe apew o] ||IM saldoo Jaded “uaye) 8q 0} anp SsI UOISIOap ay) ajep ay)} alojeq sAep mc_v:ozmo
Jea|d dAl) 8}ISgOM S,[10UN0D By} Uo paysiignd ag ||IM pue € UWn|od Ul pasl| 8Je 8say | ‘pPapuswe Se Z/6L 10V JUSWUISA0L) |BO0T 8y} Japun uoiewlojur~
1dwaxa 1o |eljuapuod uiejuod Aay} Ssajun ua e} Si UOISIDap 8y} UBYM UO paljal aq ||Im Jey) suodal ay) 88s 0} pajjius ale odlgnd ay) Jo whonEo_\,_M
(@))
IN°A0B"1UBIGE)SIILILIOD 1€ [IBW-S BIA 10 99€| /€68 020 Suoydald) ‘AHE BYH XOS9IPPIN ‘Asjquwian ‘aue Auod ‘lleH umo ‘90 |°
W00y ‘Sa2IAI8S dljeJoowa( WoJ) pauleyqo aq osje ued salido) “Ajyjuow pajepdn si ue|d 8y "S82IAISS D11BI00WS(] WOoJ) PauUIe}qo 8q UBD 8AIjNdaX] ay)
AQ paJapIsuod aq 0} ale Jajew B U0 98)ILULIOD J09]|9S 8y} JO SUOIEPUSWIWOIaI B} UBYM d)ep Joexa ay| "} S88s )l Se uoIsioap s) abueyd 1o Jusws|dwi
uay) Aew aAIINd9X3 8y "uoIsIoap |eulblio ay) JO s)eam g- uiyum aoeld aye) Ajlensn |[Im SIY | "99)ILILIOD }09|8S 8y} JO SUOIIBPUSWIWOIa) Y} Junodoe
OJUl 9} pUB }98W |IM dAIINDSXT 8y} ‘SIY} BuiMo||04 W)l 8y} JBPISUOD 0} 188W ||IM (8A1INDSXT 8y} UO JOU SIO|[IDUN0D JO dn apew ‘@apiwwo) Auinios
aUy} JO 93)IWW09-gNS B) 99)IlW0Y) 108]8S Ue|d pJemio ay) ‘ul pajjed si wayl Aue }| ‘uoisinoid ul-||ed e 0} 10algns aJe aAindoax3 ay) Aq apew suoisioaq

QUCHIVITET
Aioinjers ay) 0] Buipiodoe uoISIoap A8y B Se passe|o 8g PINOM UOISIOap Y] 10U 10 Jaylaym aAINdaxX ay) Jo Bunsesw e je uaye) suolsioap ||e uoisioap

£a e se 1eal) ||IM [1I0UNOD By} Jusig U] "SpJem alow Jo om) Buisudwoo eale ue ul Buiiom Jo BulAll SeliuNWIWOD Uo J08)e Juedliubis e aAey Jo ‘sbBuines

Jo ainypuadxa jueolyiubis ul Jnsal 0] Ajo1| SI YoIym UOISIOap 8A)INoexT ue se suoljeinbay Aq pauljep si uoisioaq Aay e ‘Aljellg "s1eoio Aq suoisiosp Aoy
yum Jayebo) ‘syjuow inoj BUIMo||0} 8y} JOAO 8) e} 0} SPUdjUl dAIJNDAXT dY} Jey} SUOISIOBP JBYJ0 pue suoisioap Aay 8y 1o s1es ue|d piemio ayl

0102 43qwiaAoN o€ 03 010¢ }snbny | polad yjuow unoj ayj 1oy
SNOISIOFA A3M 40 NV1d QAdVMHO4 FHL

1IN3¥8 40 HONOYWO4d NOANO




"L1/010Z 4o} podai Auinsea.y

Jeak piw ay) anoidde pue siojeolpul
[enuapnid ay} uinyno ajou ‘Abajens
JUSWISOAU| [enuuy pue Loday

$92IN0say wswabeue Ainseal] sy} aroidde
}N-Aobuaiq@sbbiids uiew 0L02 ajelodion [IDUNOYD [|N4 1By} PUBWIWOOAI O |
¢lvl L€68 020 ‘I3l Bny L€ pue 0102 pue adueul4 01/600Z Hoday
Juswsanu| pue Janbayox3 Aluo [eussyu| bny ¢z usamieg 0 J0joalIq BAIINO8X] lenuuy juswabeuepy Ainseaa]
}n'Aob-ualq®@BunoA-sewel $921N0SaYy "UOIJBID0SSY
86¢€1 0L02 ajelodion BuisnoH 0} puej Jo asodsip 0]
/€68 020 ‘191 Juswabeue| das 0¢ pue 010z pue adueul4 6L O
j1ossy pue Auadold [eulau| INf | usamiag J0 J0joalIq aAnoax3 | 0} juaselpe pue| ‘aueT |IIH :m_o_o:%
s
"1970100 8| Aepuoly uo |euoneladom
aWo9aq p|noys sjuswabueldH
M3U 8y} Jey} papuajul s )l ‘9AINdax]
ay} Aq juswaaibe 0} 108lgns jey) ayou
0] ‘sjesodoud |eul} Jo 1os e anoidde
pue Jejs YlIm Uolje}nsuod juadal
JO awo9}no ay} ajou 0] ‘Abajens
9)1e40dJ0)) S,UolBASIUILIPY MBU BY}
Juawaldwi 0} pasu ay) pue sainssaid
[eIOUBUL 84NN} pUE JUBLIND JO JYbi| 8y}
3n-rnob-usiq@eiuep-yyeieb ul sjuswiedap [1IDUNOY JO aINJoNLs
/001 /€68 ay) 0} sabueyd ueolyubis JapIsuod 0]
020 |91 @AN2ax3 JaIyd [eulau| 0L0z bny L1 9AIN29X3 JaIyD 9AIN09X] Bulinjoniysal [1Iouno)
pajejs ajep ayj Aq
1991340 Buimoljoy ay} 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 10}0al1q Wwouy Aq uaye)}

9q Aew suonejuasaiday

pa}Nsuo9 aq 0} asoy |

Jo ajeq pajoadx3y

Jodal Jueas|ay

a( 0} uoisI2aQg

uaye)} aq 0} uoisida( ayj} Jo sjiejaqg




‘'ssao0ud

Japua) e BuImo||0} suollepUSWIWODa.
,SJ901J0 W0l s82IAIBS JuswAed

g pue Buuinboy pien ‘bunjueg

10} 10BJJUOD 8Y) pJeME 0] BAIINOSXT]

3n°A0B-juaIq@uOoSqop ualey $92JN0SaY By} S)}98S 9oueUIH JO J0}oalIq 8yl
8291 ajelodio) S92IAIBS
/€68 020 191 Juswabeuey pue adsueul juswAed |j1q pue Bulinboe paes
3SIY pue Juswainodold [eusau| 010z des | Jo JojyoauQg 9AIND9X] ‘Bunjueq 10} }9LIJUOD JO plemy
"JoyJew uado ay)
ul pjos aq 0} Jo sasodind |euonelado
JBY)0 Jo} pauiejal aq 0} aJe saluadoud
ay) Jaylaym sjeaosdde Buiuueda
pue uoissiwwo) Ajueyn o“m_ao‘_aaﬁ
8y} 0} 109[qns aulwualep (1) pueg
1ounod ayy Aq 3sna Ut pay st yoIumg
yed weyleg jo abpa ay} uo pajeoqn |
sosnoy siadaay yied Jawlo) snidins
OM} 8y} Jo} suondo ay} JopIsuod
(1) 0} pue 8AlNOSXT BU} Jey) pue 6002
}N°A0B-uaIq@uapa sino| $982JN0SaY Jaquiada( 1 UO uoIsIDap Sslequiaw
GZel 0L02 ajelodion Buimojjo} uonisod jualind 8y} 8)ou 0]
/€68 020 191 uswabeuepy das 0¢ pue 0102 pue asueul4 yied wey.teg ay} uo sajuadoad
19ssy pue Auadold [eulaju| bny z usamieg 10 Joyoalqg aAINoaXx] | Jadaay yied Jawio} om) Jo jesodsiq
"a4)uao Aep
)}n°Aob-juaiq@ialieq pieyou S92JN0SaY Ay} JO UOIIONJIISUOD By} JO} JOJOBIUOD
veel ajelodio) ay) Jo Juswiuiodde ayy aalbe o]
/€68 020 191 Juswabeuey pue adsueul Z Med -
Jossy pue Auadoid [eusau| 010z des | J0 Jojoalg 9AIIND9XT | UuOlILI0|dY dIuUd) Aeq peoy Haq|y
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimoj|o} ayj 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 1030311 wouy Kq uaye)

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pa}nsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 03 uoisioaq ay} Jo sjieyaqg




yN-Anobuaiq@Aoueo Aew
L0l LE€68 020 IPL

“JeaA |eioueuly sy} Buunp papiwgns
sjule|dwod JO MalAal B JBPISU0D O

J

wesa] siejdwo) ajelodio) [eusalu| 0L0Z INf 92 Agman |iyd 9AIINOSX] 01/60 Moday sjurejdwo) jenuuy
'ss9204d Juswainooid ay) Jo BWo}NO0
ue Se papuBWWO093] J81apud)
3y} 0} [19UN0d 8y} Joj Buluuess pue
Buifdoo ‘Bunuud |e 1o} aiemyjos pue
uoljewojsues | alempiey Jo uoisinoid 8y} J0} JoBIjJuUOD
NN"ACBUBIqM)SI||8°AUO) Q0¥ L ssauisng 9|buis e jJo pieme ay} anosdde o |
,€68 020 191 ‘1] 0 pesH Aluo [eussyu 0L0C 0 8L jo Jojoalig SAIINOSX] S}INS3Y J9pud | MIIAY m:_.._:_i.n
‘Buipiinagy
Bunsixe ay} dojaaspal Jo cw_psh_om
0} Japuay J9yew uado Buipuiq uoy |
e Buimoj|o} Jeppiq patiayald ayy yum
paalbe sw.e) ay) uo swool Buibueyo
suods pue aJ4juad Ajunwwod
)N Aobualq®@BunoA-sawel $921N0SaYy ‘Alesinu e se asn Joy pue|/buip|ing
86¢1 ajelodio) ay) jJo Buises| ay) anosdde o |
/€68 020 121 Juswabeuep pue asueul anuan Aunwwon
Jossy pue Auadoid ] 01L0Z 190 81 Jo JojyoauQg B9AINd9X] 9A0l19) uol3 ay} jo Buisea| ayl
N Aobualq®@BunoA-sawel ssad20.d S90JN0SaYy
86¢<1 Buiuue|d ayy ybnouay) 0102 ajelodio) "uoIeIN0SSY
/€68 020 191 Juswabeuey sjuapisel [e20| 8y} | dag Qg pue 0102 pue adsueul BuisnoH o} pue| Jo asodsip o]
19ssy pue Auadold |  pue sJ0j|Iounod plepp deg | usamieg JO Joyoalg 9AIINO8X] suspJes wjg je pueT
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimoj|o} ayj 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 1030311 wouy Kq uaye)

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




"L10C YSJBN LE O} SYjUOW UdASS

3N AoBuaiq@ansuyouyol saljlwe |euonippe ue Aq 10eJju09 821AI8S Aeld
0€L€ L€68 020 131 saljiwe pue uaJipjiyo Juaug Bunsixe ayy pusixa 0} sa.by
pue uaip|iy) 4o Jo}oalqg [eusayu| 0L0z bny L1 Jo Jojyoaug BAIND9X] 9o1M3g Aeld
‘asn AjJjunwwod pue |euoljeonpas 1o}
yN°AoBualq@ensuyo-uyol sal|lwe a)Is 8y} Jo uonualal ay} anoidde o |
0€L€ L€68 020 131 saljiwe pue uaJipjiyo susp.ed
pue uaip|iy) 40 10308l [eusaju| oLoz bny L1 10 Joyoaug B9AIINOBX] uojSIuUOY JO 3sn |euoljesnpy
‘uoissiwliad
Buiuueld jo elb o0} j10algns)
a1lua) s,ualp|iy) |euonelsusbisiul
AingsbBury Jo pjing mau ay) 10}
10BJJUOD 3]} JO pleme ay} anosdde o N
looydss ybiH |
}n°AoB-ualq@ansiuyo-uyol sol|iwe AinqgsbBury je anuan m.:m.__o__:onn_.
0€L€ L€68 020 131 saljiwe pue uaJipjiyo Jeuonjesaualbiajul pjing mau e 1o
pue uaip|iy) 4o Jo3oalqg [eusaju| 0L0Z dos 1 JO Joyoalg BAIINOSXT | JOBJJUOD SHIOM pIEeME O} btoﬁ:%
‘'slaqwinu idnd
Buisll 81epoWIWIOIOE 0] Alessadau
sI yoiym uoisinoad Atewrd Buipuedxe
}n°AoB-uaiq@ansiuyo-uyol soljlwe Jo} ABajesys ayy anoudde o |
0€1€ /€68 020 ‘191 sdljiwed pue uaipiyo uoisiroad Arewnd
pue uaip|iy) 40 Jo3oalqg [eusaju| oLoz bny L1 JO Joyoalg BAIINO8X] Jo uoisuedxs ay} 1oy ABajesyg
"sSuollepuUBWWOo23.
YN°A0B-juaiq@sainep malpue s.dnoub yse) ay) asiopud 0|
6G€L LE68 020 uopessuabey pue sanljiqesiq Buluiea ypum ajdoad
‘]o1 uonelsuabay pue Adljod 0L0z des ¢1 | Ad10d jo J0308a1Qg 9AIINO8X] 10} S92IAIS Y}|edH O} SS929y
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimo|joy ay} 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 10})2211Q Wouy Kq uaye}

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




‘Juodal ayy ul paquosap

se awibal pue sabieyd sy} 8onposjul
0] Jou Jo Jayiaym Buiprosp o} Joud
paAledal suoneuasaldal Bullapisuod
10} wisiueyoaw ay) aaibe o] ‘uodal
3y} ulyum no 18s se sywuad Buyied
sjuapisal 1o} swibal Buibieyo paseq
uoISSIWd Mau e pue sabieyd mau

JO UOIONPOJIUI BY} Y)IM UOIBID0SSE
ul s1epiQ dujel] o Buisiuaape

9y} 0} pue uoneynsuod ajelidoidde
Jo Bupyeuspun ay) anocidde o]

J

)}n-Aob-juaiq@uosyoel wiy alnjn) sywiad Bupjied syuapisal
LGLS /€68 pue JuUsWUoIIAUT 10} awibali Buibieyos paseq,
020 ‘|21 yun uoneuodsuel | ajep 0} |euJaju| 0L0zZ bny L1 Jo JojyoauQg BAIIND9XT | -UOISSIWA J|IIY3A B JO UoI}oNpPOoLJuN
q
‘sjesodoud co_“oo__oom
9)SeMm U0 uoneynsuod aroldde |
suolesiuebio 0] ‘sbuines Aouaioiye Buisues|o
)n°A0B-ua1q®@aiAym siyo Ajunwwoo ainyn) 198418 Jo uonejuejdwi ay) anoudde o]
ZYES /€68 020 1oL ‘sjuspisal ‘swnio4 pue JUsWuoIIAUTg MIIADY
Juswabeuey\ JuswuolIAUg 9AI}B)INSU0) ealy oLoz bny L1 JO Joyoalg 9AIINOBX] Buisuea|) }9a4)S pue d)Sep\
‘0102 Jaqwsldag 0} seoe|d awi)
[In} sieak Ajes Jo uoneso|e ay} Jo}
Ao1j0d mau ayy Jo ajep uolnejuswa|dwl
ay} Jo JuswaAow ay) ealbe o]
}n°AoB-ualq@ansiyo-uyol sol|iwe sooe|d aw} ||}
0€L€ LE68 020 131 saljiwe pue uaip|iyo .slea) Aje3 jo uonesojje uoy Aorjod
pue ualp|iy) jo Joyauqg [eusau| 010z des | Jo JojyoauQg B9AIN09X] mau 3y} Bunpuawajdwi uo ayepdn
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimoj|o} ayj 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 1030311 wouy Kq uaye)

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




}n-rob-usiq®as|eb yoab

‘lenoidde jeuly Jo4
[IoUNOY |IN4 0} LGNS pue JusWa)els

8GEG alnyno pasiAal S,|Iounod 8y} anosdde o]
/€68 020 :191 Buisusor pue jJuswuoJIAuUg sa|diould pue Aoijod
9 A18jeS y)eaH ‘Ioyoalqg [eusayu| 0L0Z 190 81 Jo JojyoauQg 9AIN09X] Buisuasi Buljques) jo Juswalels
‘awayos buibieyo suonenbay
}n°Aob-uaiq®@Apley Apue alnyno Buipjing mau e aaoidde o |
9.vS L€68 pue juswuoJinug uone|sibaj
020 :19L |04u0) Buip|ing |eulaju| 010z des | JO Jo)o8IIg BAIINO9X] Buibieys mau jo uorejuawajduwy
"9)I] 8y} pue ases)
dujs ‘Buiouep-de| Buyeinbaua 1088
ojul awo9 |Im Aayy Aep e Buikjioads
10V 8y} JO € 9|Npayos JO SUOISINOIa)
Mmau ay) 1dope 0} aA|0Sal O .W
2861 (suoisinoidg;
}n-AobBusiq@ypemoy uele alnynd *9SIIAl) JUBWIUIBAO0D) _wuo._m
69€S /€68 020 1L pue JusaWuoJIAUT JO suoisinoad ,anuap Juswuiedju |
Buisuaol pue Ajojes ‘yyesH [eusaju| 0L0Z dos 1 JO Joyoalg B9AIINO8X] Jenxasg, mau jo uondopy
euale olignd ay} ul
apinb ay) Buiyoune| Jo} syuswabuelie
Buneytew pue uoneolgnd
‘uolje}Nsuo9 ay} Joj [eaosdde
aAIb 0] "S8J)U82 UMO) pue S}oal)s
JuswINoop Jelp ay} S}l Ul 88S 0} 9)I] pPINOM gg aJnjuiny
uo (jJuswuoJdiaug Jing 198.4}S pue s|eusjew Jo sadA} ay) uo
3y} pue ainosuyodIy aouepinb sapinold pue Japn|o Joal)s
)N Aob-uaiq@uosyoel wiy JOJ UOISSIWWOY)) ainyn) ul uononpal e sabeinooua yoiym
LG1G /€68 39V 0 82IApe pue JuswuoJIAuUTg apin Bupewaoe|d ay) anoidde o]
020 181 un uoneuodsues] | a8y} Buyess Apuaiiny 0L0Z dos 1 JO Joyoalg 9AIINO8X] aping Bupjewase|d jJuaig ayl
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimo|joy ay} 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 10})2211Q Wouy Kq uaye}

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




}N°AoBrusiq@uiew epul|

190% /€68
020 181 Buluoissiwwo)

alen Ajlunwwon

E=YIIE=Ye)
MeT Allunwwo) 1uaig pue neaing
82IAPY SuaziiD ayj Joy Buipuny
Juelb Jo |lemaual 8y} asloyIne o

pue juswdojena pue BuisnoH sjue.b
90IAISG JO pesH sJapinoid oLoz bny L1 10 Joyoaug B9AIINO8X] 92IAJI9S 92IAPE Maual 0} Ajuoyiny
N AoBjusiq@uiliew epul) ‘sBuines anaiyoe
190Y €68 01 010Z 1890100 | WO} ylomawel}
020 :191 Buluoissiwwo) a1e) Ayunwwo) SIY} WwoJj Jo ||ed 0} 8aibe o]
pue juswdojanrag pue BuisnoH yJomawe.ly
90IAIBS JO pesaH [eusayu| 0L0zZ bny L1 Jo JojyoauQg 9AIN09X] 9.e9 dWOH dduel||yy Uopuo- IS
"Jualg SHN wouy Ayjigesip buluies) 1oy
¥N-A0B-uBIq®@)ol||9 uosiie pleog 0L0Z | aJen Aunwwon spunj Jo Jajsued) salbe pue jdedcoe 0l
0€Zy ££68 | diysieuped Ayjigesiq | dag 0g pue 0102 pue BuisnoH Ayqesipo
020 :[2L 8Je) [e0os ynpy | Buiuies ‘usig SHN bny z usamieg J0 J0jo8lIq B9AIN09X] Bujuiea] 1o} spuny Jo Jdjsuel ._.M
&
jusm ]
J0OJ S}iun a|qepJoye mau aAly dojensp
IN'A 0} JBPJO Ul UOIIBIaPISUOD |eloueul)
o6 uaig®@zomolesel-aibbew U} dHg 0} salis abeles) aso|D
990¥ 0L0Z | ®8Jen Aunwwon peaw.Jaddon pue 1NoH pes|y ‘9so|D
/£68 020 |21 uoneisuaboy 190 LE pUe 0102 pue BuisnoH Japuy 8y Jo |esodsip ay) anoidde o]
pue Abajens BuisnoH [eusayu| deg | usamjag 10 J0jo8lIq 9AIN09X] awuweibouid pjing maN OV
‘lenocidde jeuly ayy
‘soAljejuasaldal [1OUNOD |IN4 O} HWQNS pUB JusWa)e}S
3N AobBjusiq@ypuemoy uele Aunwwod ainyn) pasiAal S |Iounod ay} anosdde o]
69€S £€68 020 131 pue apeJ; ‘siequiaw pue juswuoJinuzg €002 1oV Buisuaoi
Buisuaol pue Ajojes ‘yyesH ‘sanjuoyine Aioyniels 0L0OZ AON G JO Joyoalg 9AIINO8X] - Lo110d Buisuaoi| jo Juawajels
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimo|joy ay} 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 10})2211Q Wouy Kq uaye}

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




}n°Aobrualqoybuis-Aiiad

010¢

ale) Alunwwo)

"spjoyasnoy
ssojowoy Aiojniels asnoy 0} pasn
UOI}lEPOWWO9. pPases| J0joss ajeAld
o juswabeuew pue juswaindoid

10} 10BJJUOD BY) pJeme O]
uoljepowiwiodde

Z25€2 /€68 020 ;|21 Joyes dasg og pue 0102 pue BuisnoH Aiesodwa) jo Juswabeuew pue
aleAlld/spasN bBuisnoH [eusau| bny | usamieg Jo JojyoauQg 9AIIND9XT | jJudwains0.d 10} JORIIUOD JO pieMy
S9I10UBIDIYS pUB SBWOIINO
panoldwi yum ‘esinieg uaswdinbg
Ajunwwon pajelbaiu| 8y uo uaig

SHN 3y} U}iM 10BJJUOD PBUIQUIOG

pue 126pnq paJeys e 1o} EoEoo_mﬁ

8y} Jo uoisus)xa ue salibe o]

Koijod EwEEw>omm

yn°AoB-juaiq@nol|jeuosije 0L0Z | ®JeD Ajunwwod 3y} yym aui| ul sanijiqesip Bujuieapn
0€Z¥ /€68 dasg 0¢ pue 010z pue BuisnoH 10} uonouny Bujuoissiwwoo
020 :]21 8ied |e10s }INnpy [eulau| deg | usamjag Jo Jojoaug 9AIN09X] peaj 9y} 10} Juswaaibe G,S mau y
"wu9) Jabuoj
pue wnipaw ‘Yoys ay} JoA0 saljlioud
uonelsuabal pue Buisnoy s, |lounod
ay} JoAlap 03 JapUo ul sjesodoud
pue sjuswsalinbai Juswysaaul oy0ads
IN'A 3y} 1N0 SJ8S YoIym ue|d Juswisanu|
ob-uaiq®@zoimoleje.l-aibbew [e007 s, Aousby salunwwon
9901 0L0Z | ®8Jen Ajunwwo) pue sawoH a8y} anoidde o]
J$68 020 |21 uonessuabay 190 0€ PUB 0102 pue BuisnoH ue|d jJuawjsanul
pue Abajens BuisnoH |[eusayu| dag | usamiag JO J0}081IQg 9AIINDaX] Aouaby saniunwwon pue SOWOH

paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimoj|o} ayj 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 1030311 wouy Kq uaye)

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




}N°AoB-ualq®@yosaiy-Auoy

ale) Alunwwo)

‘sjuswdojonap
Bunsixe pue mau Joy sueld sbuiy
a|qeuleisns uo Aoljod e ajelo0diod
yoIym sjuswoalbe uoljeuiwou apivg
ybnoloq pasiAal JO uoioNpojUl oc%u
anoudde 0} pue siauled uoneinossy |
Buisnoy s) yum sey |1ounoo
ay) syuswsabuelie suoieuIWOU
JO MaIAal1 8y} Jo ajepdn a8y} 8jou O |

aq Aew suonejuasaiday

pajInsuod aq 0} asoy |

Jo 9jeq pajoadx3y

Jodal juens|ay

9€€¢ L€68 020 0l0¢ pue BuisnoH sue|d sbBuipa| ajqeurejsns
‘|91 @ouewlopuad pue Aoljod [euisiu] | deg | alojoq 1ON J0 J0joalIq 9AIN09X] pue sjuawaaibe uoljeuiwoN
‘'sbuibuojaq s18y} Jo
abeloys ay} 0} uoneal ul spjoyasnoy
ssajowoy buibieyo jo Aoijod Buiysixa
}n-Aobruaiqoybuis-Aiiad 0L0Z | ®8Jen Ajunwwo) ay] 0] sjuswpuswe 0} salibe o]
¢€€C L€68 020 131 10303 0 Lg pue 0L0¢ pue BuisnoH spjoyasnoy ssajawoy
alenlld/spasN bBuisnoH [eusaju| Bny z usamiag JO Joyoalg 9AIINO8X] 10} Aoijod Buibieys ainpuing
paje)s ajep ay} Aq
1991340 Buimo|joy ay} 0} apew moy pue uoisioaq 10})2211Q Wouy Kq uaye}

aq 0} uoisideq

uaye} aq 0} uoisidoag ayj Jo sjieladg




	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting held on 11 August 2010
	5a Educational Use of Coniston Gardens
	5b Waste Strategy Review
	e&c_waste_strategy_AppA_v2
	e&c_waste_strategy_appB_v 5 1 final

	5c Introduction of a Vehicle Emission-Based Charging Regime for Residents' Parking Permits
	6 The Executive List of Decisions for the Meeting that took place on Wednesday, 11 August 2010
	8 The Forward Plan - Issue 4

